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"Forward Looking" Statements
As used in this Form 10-Q, "Emergent Capital," "Company, "we," "us," "its," or "our" refer to Emergent Capital, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiary
companies, unless the context suggests otherwise.
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements that are subject to risks and uncertainties. All statements other than statements of
historical fact included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements give our current expectations and
projections relating to our financial condition, results of operations, plans, objectives, future performance and business. You can identify forward-looking
statements by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. These statements may include words such as "anticipate," "estimate," "expect,"
"project," "plan," "intend," "believe," "may," "will," "should," "can have," "likely and other words and terms of similar meaning in connection with any discussion of
the timing or nature of future cash flows, operating or financial performance or other events. These forward-looking statements are not historical facts, and are
based on current expectations, estimates and projections about our industry and Company, management’s beliefs and certain assumptions made by
management, many of which, by their nature, are inherently uncertain and beyond our control. Accordingly, readers are cautioned that any such forward-looking
statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict. Although we
believe that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable as of the date made, results may prove to be materially different.
Unless otherwise required by law, we disclaim any obligation to update our view of any such risks or uncertainties or to announce publicly the result of any
revisions to the forward-looking statements made in this report.
Factors that could cause our actual results and our financial condition to differ materially from those indicated in our forward-looking statements include, but
are not limited to, the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

our ability to continue as a going concern and avoid a bankruptcy or other reorganization proceeding;
our ability to maintain our rights in the policies that serve as the primary assets of the Company and are the collateral under various debt instruments to
which we are a party;
our ability to obtain future financings on favorable terms, or at all;
our ability to manage the process of exploring strategic alternatives;
our ability to complete any strategic alternatives that our special committee may recommend;
our ability to receive distributions from policy proceeds from life insurance policies pledged as collateral under our revolving credit facility;
our ability to meet our debt service obligations;
delays in the receipt of death benefits from our portfolio of life insurance policies;
costs related to obtaining death benefits from our portfolio of life insurance policies;
our ability to continue to comply with the covenants and other obligations, including the conditions precedent for additional fundings under our revolving
credit facility;
increases in premiums on, or the cost of insurance of, life insurance policies that we own;
changes to actuarial life expectancy tables;
changes in general economic conditions, including inflation, changes in interest or tax rates;
our results of operations;
our ability to continue to make premium payments on the life insurance policies that we own;
adverse developments, including financial ones, associated with other litigation and judicial actions;
inaccurate estimates regarding the likelihood and magnitude of death benefits related to life insurance policies that we own;
lack of mortalities of insureds of the life insurance policies that we own;
increases to the discount rates used to value the life insurance policies that we own;
changes in mortality rates and inaccurate assumptions about life expectancies;
changes in life expectancy calculation methodologies by third party medical underwriters;
the effect on our financial condition as a result of any lapse of life insurance policies;
our ability to sell the life insurance policies we own at favorable prices, if at all;
adverse developments in capital markets;
deterioration of the market for life insurance policies and life settlements;
increased carrier challenges to the validity of our life insurance policies;
adverse court decisions regarding insurable interest and the obligation of a life insurance carrier to pay death benefits or return premiums upon a
successful rescission or contest;
challenges to the ownership of the policies in our portfolio;
changes in laws and regulations;
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

deterioration in the credit worthiness of the life insurance companies that issue the policies included in our portfolio;
regulation of life settlement transactions as securities;
liabilities associated with our legacy structured settlement business;
our failure to maintain the security of personally identifiable information pertaining to insureds and counterparties;
disruption of our information technology systems;
our ability to avoid defaulting under the various credit documents to which we are a party;
our ability to maintain a listing or quotation on a national securities exchange or automated quotation system;
cyber security risks and the threat of data breaches;
loss of the services of any of our executive officers; and
the effects of United States involvement in hostilities with other countries and large-scale acts of terrorism, or the threat of hostilities or terrorist acts.

All forward-looking statements are expressly qualified in their entirety by the above cautionary statements. See "Risk Factors" included in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016. You should evaluate all forward-looking statements made in this Form 10-Q in the context of these
risks and uncertainties. The Company cautions you that the important factors referenced above may not contain all of the factors that are important to you.
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Item 1

Financial Statements
Emergent Capital, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
June 30,
2017

December 31,
2016*

(Unaudited)
(In thousands except share data)

ASSETS
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents (VIE Note 4)

$

Certificates of deposit
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Deposits - other
Life settlements, at estimated fair value
Life settlements, at estimated fair value (VIE Note 4)
Receivable for maturity of life settlements (VIE Note 4)
Fixed assets, net
Investment in affiliates
Total assets

623
22,042

$

2,246
9,072

1,006
4,525

6,025
1,112

1,377
736
525,546

1,347
680
497,720

21,911
185

5,000
232

2,384

2,384

$

580,335

$

525,818

$

6,214

$

2,590

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (VIE Note 4)
Other liabilities
Interest payable - Promissory Notes

718
227
11

593
359
—

1,892
2,382

—
2,272

Convertible Notes, net of discount and deferred debt costs (Note 11)
Interest payable - Senior Secured Notes (Note 12)
Senior Secured Notes, net of discount and deferred debt costs (Note 12)

66,061
200
29,482

60,535
213
29,297

White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, at estimated fair value (VIE Note 4)
Total liabilities

304,874

257,085

412,061

352,944

290

290

Promissory Notes (Note 13)
Interest payable - Convertible Notes (Note 11)

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 16)
Stockholders’ Equity
Common stock (par value $0.01 per share, 80,000,000 authorized at June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016;
29,021,844 issued and 28,413,844 outstanding as of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016
Preferred stock (par value $0.01 per share, 40,000,000 authorized; 0 issued and outstanding as of June 30,
2017 and December 31, 2016)
Treasury Stock, net of cost (608,000 shares as of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016)
Additional paid-in-capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity

—
(2,534)

307,860
(137,342)

307,647
(132,529)

168,274

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
*

—
(2,534)

$

Derived from audited consolidated financial statements.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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580,335

172,874
$

525,818

Emergent Capital, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)
For the Three Months Ended
June 30,
2017

For the Six Months Ended
June 30,

2016

2017

2016

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Income
Change in fair value of life settlements (Notes 8 & 14)
Other income
Total income

$

3,382
79

$

(15,813)
27

$

28,922
129

$

(7,425)
93

3,461

(15,786)

29,051

(7,332)

Interest expense
Change in fair value of Revolving Credit Facilities (Notes 9, 10 & 14)
Personnel costs

8,163
(1,785)
1,049

7,385
(19,667)
2,274

15,698
10,046
2,133

13,435
(15,570)
3,830

Legal fees
Professional fees

657
1,204

1,710
1,568

1,652
2,807

3,528
3,211

198
449

194
525

390
913

438
1,017
9,889

Expenses

Insurance
Other selling, general and administrative expenses
Total expenses

9,935

(6,011)

33,639

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes

(6,474)

(9,775)

(4,588)

(Benefit) provision for income taxes
Net income (loss) from continuing operations

—
$

(6,474)

—
$

(9,775)

(17,221)

—
$

(4,588)

—
$

(17,221)

Discontinued Operations:
Income (loss) from discontinued operations before income taxes
(Benefit) provision for income taxes
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations

(35)
—

(127)
—

(35)

Net income (loss)

(225)
—

(127)

(194)
—

(225)

(194)

$

(6,509)

$

(9,902)

$

(4,813)

$

(17,415)

Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

$
$

(0.23)
—

$
$

(0.36)
—

$
$

(0.16)
(0.01)

$
$

(0.63)
(0.01)

Net income (loss)

$

(0.23)

$

(0.36)

$

(0.17)

$

(0.64)

Basic and diluted income (loss) per share:

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic and Diluted

28,169,414

27,491,768

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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28,159,080

27,486,508

Emergent Capital, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (UNAUDITED)
For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2017
Common Stock
Shares

Treasury Stock

Amount

Shares

Amount

Additional
Paid-in Capital

Accumulated Deficit

Total

(in thousands, except share data)

Balance, January 1, 2017
Net loss
Stock-based compensation
ATM stock issuance costs
Balance, June 30, 2017

29,021,844
—

$

—
—
29,021,844

290
—

(608,000)
—
—
—

—
$

290

$

(608,000)

(2,534)
—

$

307,647
—

—
—
$

(2,534)

264
(51)
$

307,860

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$

(132,529)
(4,813)

$

—
—
$

(137,342)

172,874
(4,813)
264
(51)

$

168,274

Emergent Capital, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)
For the Six Months Ended
June 30,
2017

2016
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income (loss)

$

(4,813)

$

(17,415)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization

52

52

2,048

1,758

Amortization of discount and deferred costs for 15.0% Senior Secured Notes

184

176

Stock-based compensation expense

264

128

Finance cost and fees withheld by borrower

441

420

Amortization of discount and deferred costs for Convertible Notes

Interest Paid in Kind on Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes

—

3,477

Change in fair value of life settlements

(28,922)

7,425

Change in fair value of Revolving Credit Facilities

10,046

(15,570)

Interest income

(12)

(23)

Change in assets and liabilities:
Deposits - other

(30)

(210)

Prepaid expenses and other assets

(3,473)

(461)

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

3,749

186

Other liabilities

(115)

Interest payable - Convertible Notes

111

Interest payable - 15.0% Senior Secured Notes

(13)

Interest payable - 15.0% Promissory Note

65
—
200

11

Net cash used in operating activities

—

(16,995)

(23,269)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of fixed assets, net of disposals
Certificate of deposit
Purchase of life settlements

—

(7)

5,025

(5,000)

—

Premiums paid on life settlements

(1,390)

(42,033)

Proceeds from maturity of life settlements
Net cash used in investing activities

(34,336)

26,173

20,980

(10,835)

(19,753)

42,959

25,238

Cash flows from financing activities
Borrowings from White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility
Repayment of borrowings under White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility

(5,656)

(7,952)

Borrowings under Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility

—

8,533

Repayment of borrowings under Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility

—

(8,014)

Proceeds from 15.0% Senior Secured Notes

—

Payment under finance lease obligations

30,000

(18)

Borrowings under 15.0% Promissory Note

(17)

1,892

15.0% Senior Secured Notes deferred cost

—

—

Net cash provided by financing activities

(1,051)

39,177

46,737

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

11,347

3,715

Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of the period

11,318

20,341

Cash and cash equivalents, at end of the period

$

22,665

$

24,056

Cash paid for interest during the period

$

9,813

$

11,294

Interest Paid in Kind on Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes

$

3,477

$

—

$

441

$

420

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:

Supplemental disclosures of non-cash financing activities:
Interest payment and fees withheld from borrowings by lender

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Emergent Capital, Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
June 30, 2017
(1) Description of Business
Founded in December 2006 as a Florida limited liability company, Imperial Holdings, LLC, converted into Imperial Holdings, Inc. on February 3, 2011, in
connection with its initial public offering. Effective September 1, 2015, the Company changed its name to Emergent Capital, Inc. (with its subsidiary companies,
the "Company" or "Emergent Capital").
Incorporated in Florida, Emergent Capital, through its subsidiary companies, owns a portfolio of 614 life insurance policies, also referred to as life
settlements, with a fair value of $526.3 million and an aggregate death benefit of approximately $2.9 billion at June 30, 2017. The Company primarily earns
income on these policies from changes in their fair value and through death benefits. 612 of these policies, with an aggregate death benefit of approximately
$2.9 billion and a fair value of approximately $525.5 million at June 30, 2017 are pledged under a $370.0 million, revolving credit agreement (the "White Eagle
Revolving Credit Facility") entered into by the Company’s indirect subsidiary, White Eagle Asset Portfolio, LP ("White Eagle"). At June 30, 2017, two policies
owned by the Company, with an aggregate death benefit of approximately $12.0 million and a fair value of $736,000 were not pledged as collateral under the
White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility.
(2) Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, all of its wholly-owned subsidiary companies and its special
purpose entities, with the exception of Imperial Settlements Financing 2010, LLC ("ISF 2010"), an unconsolidated special purpose entity which is accounted for
using the cost method of accounting. The special purpose entity has been created to fulfill specific objectives. All significant intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation, including income from services performed by subsidiary companies in connection with the Revolving Credit
Facilities, as detailed herein. Notwithstanding consolidation, as referenced above, White Eagle is the owner of 612 policies, with an aggregate death benefit of
approximately $2.9 billion and an estimated fair value of approximately $525.5 million at June 30, 2017.
The unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with the rules and regulations of the SEC for Form 10-Q and therefore
do not include certain information, accounting policies, and footnote disclosures information or footnotes necessary for a complete presentation of financial
position, results of operations and cash flows in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. However, all adjustments (consisting of normal
recurring accruals), which, in the opinion of management, are necessary for a fair presentation of the financial statements, have been included. Operating results
for the three months ended June 30, 2017 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for future periods or for the year ended
December 31, 2017. These interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included in
Emergent Capital's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016.
Going Concern and Management's Plan
The Company has incurred substantial losses and reported negative cash flows from operating activities of $17.0 million for the six month period ended
June 30, 2017 and $45.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. As of June 30, 2017, we had approximately $22.7 million of cash and cash equivalents
and certificates of deposit of $1.0 million; of this amount, approximately $623,000 is available to pay premiums on the two unencumbered policies and other
overhead expenses, with approximately $22.0 million being restricted by the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility.
The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on its ability to meet its liquidity needs through a combination of the receipt of death
benefits from life insurance policy maturities, borrowings under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, strategic capital market raises, policy sales (subject to
certain asset sale restrictions) and cash on hand. During the six months ended June 30, 2017, the Company entered into certain agreements for the purpose of
recapitalizing the Company, and subsequent to the quarter end, on July 28, 2017 and August 11, 2017, the Company consummated a series of recapitalization
transactions, as described below. In considering the cash received from the recapitalization and management's projections for receipts of death benefits from
policy maturities, we estimate that our liquidity and capital resources are sufficient for our current and projected financial needs in excess of twelve months.
Additionally, if we do not receive the projected death benefits as forecasted, the Company projects that it will have available sufficient cash to continue its
operations for at least the next twelve months from the date of filing this Form 10-Q.
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On March 15, 2017 and May 12, 2017, the Company entered into a series of separate Master Transaction Agreements (together, the "Master Transaction
Agreements") by and between the Company, PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited liability company ("PJC"), and each Consenting Convertible Note Holder
that is a party to one or more Master Transaction Agreements ("Consenting Holders") regarding a series of integrated transactions with the intent to effect a
recapitalization of the Company (the "Transaction"), which included an Amendment to the Company’s Articles of Incorporation (the "Articles Amendment") to
increase the number of authorized shares of the Company's common stock, $0.01 par value (the "Common Stock"), a Common Stock Purchase Agreement, a
Convertible Note Exchange Offer, a New Convertible Note Indenture providing for the issuance of New Convertible Notes, a Senior Note Exchange Offer, a New
Senior Note Indenture providing for the issuance of New Senior Notes, a Senior Note Purchase Agreement, Warrants and certain other agreements and
documents to be delivered in connection with the Transaction (each as defined in the Master Transaction Agreements, and together with the Master Transaction
Agreements, the "Transaction Documents"). The Master Transaction Agreements and the transactions contemplated under the Master Transaction Agreements
were unanimously approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on March 13, 2017.
On April 7, 2017, the Company entered into a series of amendments to the Master Transaction Agreements (the "MTA Amendments"), which amended each
Master Transaction Agreement made as of March 15, 2017, as amended to date and from time to time, by and between the Company, PJC and the Consenting
Convertible Note Holders party to each Agreement. The modifications as a result of the MTA Amendments are specified below.
On June 19, 2017, the Company entered into a series of amendments to the Master Transaction Agreements, as amended (the "Additional MTA
Amendments"), which amended each Master Transaction Agreement made as of March 15, 2017 and May 12, 2017. The purpose of the Additional MTA
Amendments was to modify the definition of "Investor" and amend the form of warrant attached as Exhibit E to the Master Transaction Agreements (the
"Warrant") to, among other things, contemplate vesting of the Warrant to holders on a pro rata basis. The Additional MTA Amendments also extended the period
by which Consenting Convertible Note Holders must tender into the Convertible Note Exchange Offer.
Under the Master Transaction Agreements, PJC and other parties agreed to certain undertakings, including: (i) PJC or its designees (the "Investors")
purchasing up to 100% of the Company’s Senior Secured Notes from the Consenting Senior Note Holders (as defined herein) pursuant to a Senior Note
Purchase Agreement, (ii) PJC or the Investors purchasing $15.0 million in shares of Common Stock, pursuant to a Common Stock Purchase Agreement, and (iii)
issuance to PJC or the Investors of warrants to purchase up to 42,500,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.20 per share for an aggregate
purchase price of up to $8.5 million. Upon the closing of the proposed transactions, the Company’s Board of Directors will include four members representing
PJC or the Investors and one member representing the Consenting Convertible Note Holders.
On or about April 7, 2017, the Company entered into an Exchange Participation Agreement (the "Participation Agreement") with holders (the "Consenting
Senior Note Holders") representing 100% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Company's 15.0% Senior Secured Notes due 2018 (the " 15.0%
Senior Secured Notes").
On April 18, 2017, the Company launched an exchange offer to the existing holders of its outstanding 8.50% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes due 2019
(the "Convertible Notes") for 5% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes due 2023 (the "New Convertible Notes").
On May 15, 2017, the Company entered into a $1.5 million Promissory Note with PJC (the "Bridge Note"), to provide financing to fund the Company's
continued operations with a maturity date of July 3, 2017. The Bridge Note was amended on June 28, 2017 (the "Amended and Restated Bridge Note"), to (i)
increase the principal amount under the Bridge Note to $3.3 million and (ii) extend the maturity date from July 3, 2017 to the earlier of (a) July 28, 2017 or (b)
the date on which the Master Transaction Agreements are consummated. Approximately $1.9 million was drawn on the Amended and Restated Bridge Note
during the three months and six months ended June 30, 2017. All outstanding principal and interest amounts due under the Amended and Restated Bridge Note
were repaid on July 28, 2017 in connection with the consummation of the recapitalization transactions, as described below.
As of June 30, 2017, the Company has incurred approximately $3.3 million in costs related to the recapitalization transactions. These costs have been
deferred and included in prepaid and other assets on the consolidated balance sheet.
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Subsequent Events
Master Transaction Agreements
On July 28, 2017, the Company consummated a series of integrated transactions to effect a recapitalization of the Company (the "Transaction Closing")
pursuant to the Master Transaction Agreements.
Common Stock Purchase Agreement
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company entered into a Common Stock Purchase Agreement (the "Stock Purchase Agreement") by and
among the Company, PJC, certain investors jointly designated by PJC and Triax Capital Advisors LLC, a New York limited liability company ("Triax"), to be party
to the Stock Purchase Agreement (collectively, the "Common Stock Investors"), and certain Convertible Note Holders that were a party to the Stock Purchase
Agreement (collectively, the "Convertible Note Holder Purchasers," and together with PJC and the Common Stock Investors, the "Purchasers"). Pursuant to the
Stock Purchase Agreement, the Company issued and sold to the Purchasers 115,000,000 shares (the "Stock Purchase Agreement Shares") of the Company’s
common stock, $0.01 par value (the "Common Stock"), at a price of $0.20 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $23.0 million, of which PJC and the
Common Stock Investors purchased 75,000,000 Stock Purchase Agreement Shares for an aggregate purchase price of $15.0 million and the Convertible Note
Holder Purchasers, pursuant to the previously announced rights offering which expired on July 26, 2017, purchased 40,000,000 Stock Purchase Agreement
Shares for an aggregate purchase price of $8.0 million, of which PJC purchased 19,320,038 shares in connection with the exercise of rights assigned to it by
certain Convertible Note Holder Purchasers. The Stock Purchase Agreement contained customary representations, warranties, and covenants.
Common Stock Purchase Warrants
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company issued Common Stock Purchase Warrants (the "Warrants") to certain investors jointly designated
by PJC and Triax (collectively, the "Warrant Investors") to purchase up to an aggregate of 42,500,000 shares of the Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.20
per share (the "Warrant Shares").
The Warrants shall vest and become exercisable as follows: (i) with respect to 17,500,000 Warrant Shares, immediately upon the issuance of the Warrants,
and (ii) with respect to the remaining 25,000,000 Warrant Shares, at later times tied to the conversion of Convertible Notes (as defined below) and New
Convertible Notes (as defined below) outstanding upon the Transaction Closing into shares of Common Stock or, if earlier, upon the date that all Convertible
Notes or New Convertible Notes are no longer outstanding. The Warrants have an eight year term. The number of Warrant Shares is subject to anti-dilution
adjustment provisions.
Convertible Note Exchange Offer
On July 26, 2017, the Company’s offer to exchange its outstanding $74.2 million aggregate principal amount of 8.50% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes
due 2019 (the "Convertible Notes") for its 5% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes due 2023 (the "New Convertible Notes") expired (the "Convertible Note
Exchange Offer"). At least 98% of the holders of the Convertible Notes tendered in the Convertible Note Exchange Offer.
Second Supplemental Indenture for Convertible Notes
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company entered into a supplemental indenture (the "Supplemental Indenture") to that certain Indenture
dated February 21, 2014 between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as indenture trustee (as amended and supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time, the " Convertible Notes Indenture") governing the Convertible Notes. The purpose of the Supplemental Indenture was to eliminate
substantially all of the restrictive covenants, eliminate certain events of default, eliminate the covenant restricting mergers and consolidations and modify certain
provisions relating to defeasance contained in the Convertible Notes Indenture and the Convertible Notes (collectively, the "Proposed Amendments") promptly
after the receipt of the requisite consents for the Proposed Amendments.
New Convertible Note Indenture and New Convertible Notes
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company caused to be issued the New Convertible Notes in an aggregate amount of approximately $75.8
million pursuant to an Indenture (the "New Convertible Note Indenture") between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as indenture trustee. The
terms of the New Convertible Notes are governed by the New Convertible Note Indenture, which provides, among other things, that the New Convertible Notes
are unsecured,
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senior obligations of the Company and will mature on February 15, 2023. The New Convertible Notes bear interest at a rate of 5% per annum from the issue
date, payable semi-annually on August 15 and February 15 of each year, beginning on August 15, 2017.
Senior Secured Note Purchase Agreement
In connection with the Transaction Closing, PJC, certain investors jointly designated by PJC and Triax (the "Note Purchase Investors") and holders (the
"Senior Secured Note Holders") representing 100% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Company’s 15.0% Senior Secured Notes entered into a
Note Purchase Agreement (the "Note Purchase Agreement"). Pursuant to the Note Purchase Agreement, the Note Purchase Investors purchased 100% of the
15.0% Senior Secured Notes held by each Senior Secured Note Holder for an aggregate purchase price equal to the face amount of such purchased 15.0%
Senior Secured Notes. The Note Purchase Agreement contained customary representations, warranties, and covenants.
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company paid each Senior Secured Note Holder 5% of the face amount of the 15.0% Senior Secured
Notes held by such Senior Secured Note Holder as of immediately prior to the Transaction Closing, plus all accrued but unpaid interest of such 15.0% Senior
Secured Notes through the date of the Transaction Closing, pursuant to that certain Exchange Participation Agreement dated April 7, 2017 among the Company
and Senior Secured Note Holders representing 100% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes.
New Senior Secured Note Indenture and New Senior Secured Notes
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as indenture trustee (the "Senior Secured Note
Trustee") entered into an Amended and Restated Senior Secured Note Indenture (the "New Senior Secured Indenture") to amend and restate the Indenture
dated as of March 11, 2016 (as amended and supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the "Senior Secured Indenture") between the Company and
the Senior Secured Note Trustee following the Company’s receipt of requisite consents of the holders of the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes. Pursuant to the
terms of the New Senior Secured Indenture, the Company caused the cancellation of all outstanding 15.0% Senior Secured Notes and the issuance of 8.5%
Senior Secured Notes due 2021 (the "New Senior Secured Notes") in an aggregate amount of $30.0 million. The New Senior Secured Indenture provides,
among other things, that the New Senior Secured Notes will be secured senior obligations of the Company and will mature on July 15, 2021. The New Senior
Secured Notes will bear interest at a rate of 8.5% per annum, payable quarterly on March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning
on September 15, 2017.
Special Dividend Note
In connection with the Transaction Closing, Lamington Road Designated Activity Company, an Irish section 110 company and an indirect subsidiary of the
Company ("Lamington"), issued a promissory note to Markley Asset Portfolio, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and an indirect subsidiary of the
Company ("Markley"), in a principal amount of $57.0 million. The amount represents distributions of earnings from Lamington's share of profits of White Eagle to
satisfy the Profit Participation Note issued by Markley to Lamington (the "Special Dividend Note"). Management is currently evaluating the extent to which U.S.
cash taxes will result from the transaction. The Special Dividend Note matures on July 28, 2027. Advances under the Special Dividend Note bear interest at an
annual rate of 5.0%. The transaction will be eliminated in consolidation.
Securities Purchase Agreement
On August 11, 2017, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the "Securities Purchase Agreement") by and between the Company
and Brennan Opportunities Fund I LP ("Brennan"). Pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, Brennan purchased from the Company (i) 12,500,000
shares (the "Brennan Shares") of Common Stock at a price of $0.40 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $5.0 million and (ii) $5.0 million principal
amount of the Company’s New Senior Secured Notes (the "Brennan Notes," and together with the Brennan Shares, the "Brennan Securities"). The Securities
Purchase Agreement contained customary representations, warranties, and covenants.
The sale of the Brennan Securities was consummated on August 11, 2017, as to 8,750,000 shares of Common Stock and $3.5 million principal amount of
New Senior Secured Notes, and on August 14, 2017, as to 3,750,000 shares of Common Stock and $1.5 million principal amount of New Senior Secured Notes.
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See Note 19 "Subsequent Events," of the accompanying financial statements for additional information.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis and do not include any adjustments that might result from
uncertainty about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Discontinued Operations
On October 25, 2013, the Company sold substantially all of the assets comprising its structured settlement business for $12.0 million. As a result, the
Company has discontinued segment reporting and classified its operating results of the structured settlement business, net of income taxes, as discontinued
operations. The accompanying consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, and the related consolidated
statements of operations for the three months and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements
reflect the classification of its structured settlement business operating results, net of tax, as discontinued operations. See Note 7, "Discontinued Operations," for
further information. Unless otherwise noted, the following notes refer to the Company’s continuing operations.
Derivative Instrument
In February 2014, the Company issued and sold $70.7 million in aggregate principal amount of 8.50% senior unsecured convertible notes due 2019 (the
"Convertible Notes"). Prior to shareholder approval on June 5, 2014 to issue shares of common stock upon conversion of the Convertible Notes in excess of New
York Stock Exchange limits for share issuances without shareholder approval, the Convertible Notes contained an embedded derivative feature. In accordance
with Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 815, Derivatives and Hedging, derivative instruments are recognized as either assets or liabilities on the
Company’s balance sheet and are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognized in earnings. Embedded derivatives that are not clearly and closely
related to the host contract, such as the Convertible Notes, are bifurcated and recognized at fair value with changes in fair value recognized as either a gain or
loss in earnings if they can be reliably measured. The Company determined the fair value of its embedded derivative based upon available market data and
unobservable inputs using a Black Scholes pricing model. In accordance with ASC 815, upon receipt of shareholder approval on June 5, 2014, the Company
reclassified the embedded derivative to equity along with unamortized transaction costs proportionate to the allocation of the initial debt discount and the
principal amount of the Convertible Notes. The Convertible Notes are recorded at accreted value and will continue to be accreted up to the par value of the
Convertible Notes at maturity. See Note 11, "8.50% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes."
Foreign Currency
The Company owns certain foreign subsidiary companies formed under the laws of Ireland, Bahamas and Bermuda. These foreign subsidiary companies
utilize the U.S. dollar as their functional currency. The foreign subsidiary companies' financial statements are denominated in U.S. dollars and therefore, there are
no translation gains and losses resulting from translating the financial statements at exchange rates other than the functional currency. Any gains and losses
resulting from foreign currency transactions (transactions denominated in a currency other than the subsidiary companies' functional currency) are included in
income. These gains and losses are immaterial to the Company’s financial statements.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP"),
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates and such differences could be material.
Significant estimates made by management include income taxes, the valuation of life settlements, the valuation of the debt owing under the Revolving Credit
Facilities, the valuation of equity awards and the valuation of the conversion derivative liability formerly embedded within the Convertible Notes.
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(3) Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2014-09, "Revenue from Contracts
with Customers," which converges the FASB and the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") standard on revenue recognition. Areas of revenue
recognition that will be affected include, but are not limited to, transfer of control, variable consideration, allocation of transfer pricing, licenses, time value of
money, contract costs and disclosures. In April 2015, the FASB voted to defer the effective date of the new revenue recognition standard by one year. As a
result, the provisions of this ASU are effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017. Following the deferral, in March 2016 the
FASB issued ASU No. 2016-08, "Principal versus Agent Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net)" which aims to clarify the implementation
guidance on principal versus agent considerations. The amendments in this Update do not change the core principle of the guidance in No. 2014-09. The
effective date and transition requirements of ASU No. 2016-08 are the same as the effective date and transitions requirements of Update 2014-09. The Company
does not expect that this guidance will have a material impact on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15, "Disclosures of Uncertainties About an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern." The standard
provides guidance around management’s responsibility to evaluate whether there is substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to provide related footnote disclosures. The standard is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15,
2016. The Company adopted this guidance during the six months ended June 30, 2017 . Management has performed a going concern analysis of the Company's
liquidity needs and the appropriate disclosures have been incorporated in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for the six months ended June
30, 2017.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-06, "Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Contingent Put and Call Options in Debt Instruments." Topic
815 requires that embedded derivatives be separated from the host contract and accounted for separately as derivatives if certain criteria are met. One of those
criteria is that the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivatives are not clearly and closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of
the host contract (the "clearly and closely related" criterion). The guidance in this ASU intends to resolve the diversity in practice resulting from the application of
the existing four-step decision sequence defined in ASC 815-15-25-42 to call (put) options that can accelerate the repayment of principal on a debt instrument if
they meet the clearly and closely related criterion by clarifying that an entity is required to perform only the four-step decision sequence. The entity does not have
to separately assess whether the event that triggers its ability to exercise the contingent option is itself indexed only to interest rates or credit risk. This ASU is
effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2018. Early adoption is permitted including
adoption in an interim period, as long as any adjustment is reflected as of the beginning of the fiscal year that includes the interim period. We are currently
evaluating the impact that the adoption of ASU 2016-06 will have on our consolidated financial statements or related disclosures.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09, "Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting" as
part of its Simplification Initiative. The guidance simplifies several aspects of the accounting for share-based payment transactions including the income tax
consequences, classification of awards as either equity or liabilities, and classification on the statement of cash flows. For public business entities, these
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those annual periods. Early adoption is permitted
including adoption in an interim period, as long as any adjustment is reflected as of the beginning of the fiscal year that includes the interim period. The
Company adopted this guidance during the quarter ended March 31, 2017. The adoption of this ASU did not impact the consolidated financial statements or
related disclosures.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, "Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments."
This ASU provides specific guidance on eight cash flow classification issues that are either unclear or not included in current GAAP. These cash flow
classification issues include debt prepayment or debt extinguishment costs, settlement of zero-coupon debt instruments, contingent consideration payments
made after a business combination, proceeds from the settlement of insurance claims, proceeds from the settlement of corporate-owned life insurance policies,
distributions received from equity method investees, beneficial interests in securitization transactions, and separately identifiable cash flows and application of
the predominance principle. The amendments in this update are effective for public business entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and
interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in an interim period. If an entity early adopts the amendments in an
interim period, any adjustments should be reflected as of the beginning of the fiscal year that includes that interim period. An entity that elects early adoption
must adopt all of the amendments in the same period. We are currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of ASU 2016-15 will have on our consolidated
financial statements.
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(4) Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities
The Company evaluates its interests in variable interest entities ("VIEs") on an ongoing basis and consolidates those VIEs in which it has a controlling
financial interest and is thus deemed to be the primary beneficiary. A controlling financial interest has both of the following characteristics: (i) the power to direct
the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact its economic performance; and (ii) the obligation to absorb losses of the VIE that could potentially be
significant to it or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could be potentially significant to the VIE.
The following table presents the consolidated assets and consolidated liabilities of VIEs for which the Company has concluded that it is the primary
beneficiary and which are consolidated in the Company’s financial statements as of June 30, 2017, as well as non-consolidated VIEs for which the Company has
determined it is not the primary beneficiary (in thousands):
Primary Beneficiary

Not Primary
Beneficiary

Consolidated VIEs

Non-consolidated VIEs

Assets

June 30, 2017

$

569,499

December 31, 2016

511,792

Liabilities

$

305,592
257,678

Maximum
Exposure
To Loss

Total
Assets

$

2,384

$

2,384

2,384

$

2,384

As of June 30, 2017, 612 life insurance policies owned by White Eagle with an aggregate death benefit of approximately $2.9 billion and an estimated fair
value of approximately $525.5 million were pledged as collateral under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility. In accordance with ASC 810, Consolidation,
the Company consolidated White Eagle in its financial statements for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, and the year ended December 31, 2016.
(5) Earnings Per Share
As of June 30, 2017 and 2016, there were 29,021,844 and 28,393,535 shares of common stock issued, respectively, and 28,413,844 and 27,785,535
shares of common stock outstanding, respectively. Outstanding shares as of June 30, 2017 and 2016 have been adjusted to reflect 608,000 treasury shares.
Basic net income per share is computed by dividing the net earnings attributable to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the period.
Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income attributable to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding, increased to include the number of additional common shares that would have been outstanding if the dilutive potential common shares had been
issued. Conversion or exercise of the potential common shares is not reflected in diluted earnings per share unless the effect is dilutive. The dilutive effect, if
any, of outstanding common share equivalents is reflected in diluted earnings per share by application of the treasury stock method, as applicable.
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The following table reconciles actual basic and diluted earnings per share for the three months and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 (in
thousands except share and per share data).
For the Three Months Ended
June 30,
2017(1)

For the Six Months Ended June 30,

2016(2)

2017(1)

2016(2)

Income (loss) per share:
Numerator:
Net income (loss) from continuing operations
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations

$

(6,474)
(35)

$

(9,775)
(127)

$

(4,588)
(225)

$

(17,221)
(194)

Net income (loss)

$

(6,509)

$

(9,902)

$

(4,813)

$

(17,415)

Basic and diluted income (loss) from continuing operations
Basic and diluted income (loss) from discontinued operations

$

(0.23)
—

$

(0.36)
—

$

(0.16)
(0.01)

$

(0.63)
(0.01)

Basic and diluted income (loss) per share available to common shareholders

$

(0.23)

$

(0.36)

$

(0.17)

$

(0.64)

Basic and diluted income (loss) per common share:

Denominator:
Basic and Diluted

28,169,414

27,491,768

28,159,080

27,486,508

(1) The computation of diluted EPS does not include 200,000 shares of restricted stock, 605,227 options, 6,240,521 warrants, and up to 11,266,011 shares of
underlying common stock issuable upon conversion of the Convertible Notes, as the effect of their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.
(2) The computation of diluted EPS did not include 265,212 shares of restricted stock, 763,594 options, 6,240,521 warrants, and up to 10,738,165 shares of
underlying common stock issuable upon conversion of the Convertible Notes, as the effect of their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.
(6) Stock-based Compensation
On June 27, 2017, the shareholders of the Company voted to amend, and the Company amended, the Amended and Restated 2010 Omnibus Incentive
Plan (as amended, the "Omnibus Plan"). Awards under the Omnibus Plan may consist of incentive awards, stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance
shares, performance units, and shares of common stock, restricted stock, restricted stock units or other stock-based awards as determined by the compensation
committee of the Company's board of directors. The Omnibus Plan provides for an aggregate of 12,600,000 shares of common stock to be reserved for issuance
under the Omnibus Plan, subject to adjustment as provided in the Omnibus Plan.
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Options
As of December 31, 2016, all options to purchase shares of common stock issued by the Company were fully vested. There was no stock-based
compensation expense relating to stock options it granted under the Omnibus Plan during the three months and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016,
respectively.
As of June 30, 2017, options to purchase 605,227 shares of common stock were outstanding under the Omnibus Plan at a weighted average exercise price
of $8.66 per share. The following table presents the activity of the Company’s outstanding stock options of common stock for the six months ended June 30,
2017:

Common Stock Options

Options outstanding, January 1, 2017
Options granted

Weighted
Average Exercise Price
per Share

Number of
Shares

763,594
—

Options exercised

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

$

8.52
—

2.47
—

—

—

Options forfeited
Options expired

(158,367)
—

—
$

8.00
—

—
—

Options outstanding, June 30, 2017

605,227

$

8.66

1.89

Exercisable at June 30, 2017

605,227

$

8.66

1.89

—

—

Unvested at June 30, 2017

—

$

—

$

—

$

—

As of June 30, 2017, all outstanding stock options had an exercise price above the fair market value of the common stock on that date. There are no
remaining unamortized amounts to be recognized on these options.
Restricted Stock
The Company incurred additional stock-based compensation expense of approximately $125,000 and $68,000 relating to restricted stock granted to its
board of directors and certain employees during the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and approximately $264,000 and $128,000
during the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Under the Omnibus Plan, 41,259 shares of restricted stock granted to the Company’s directors during 2015 vested during the year ended December 31,
2016. The fair value of the restricted stock was valued at approximately $255,000 based on the closing price of the Company’s shares on the day prior to the
grant date. The Company incurred stock-based compensation expense of approximately $0 and $43,000 related to these 41,259 shares of restricted stock
during the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and $0 and $103,000 during the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company granted 65,212 shares of restricted stock to its directors under the Omnibus Plan, which are
subject to a one year vesting period that commenced on the date of grant. The fair value of the unvested restricted stock was valued at approximately $255,000
based on the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date prior to the grant date. The Company incurred stock-based compensation expense of
approximately $47,000 and $19,000 related to these 65,212 shares of restricted stock during the three months and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016,
respectively and $106,000 and $19,000 during the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company granted 200,000 shares of restricted stock units to certain employees under the Omnibus Plan,
which are subject to a two year vesting period that commenced on the date of grant. The fair value of the unvested restricted stock was valued at approximately
$674,000 based on the closing price of the Company’s shares on the day prior to the grant date. The Company incurred stock-based compensation expense of
approximately $79,000 and $6,000, related to these 200,000 shares of restricted stock during the three months and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016,
respectively and $158,000 and $6,000 during the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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The following table presents the activity of the Company’s unvested shares of restricted stock for the six months ended June 30, 2017 :
Number of
Shares

Common Unvested Shares

Outstanding January 1, 2017
Granted

265,212
—

Vested

(65,212)

Forfeited
Outstanding June 30, 2017

200,000

—

The aggregate intrinsic value of the awards of 200,000 shares is $60,000 and the remaining weighted average life of these awards is one year as of
June 30, 2017.
Performance Shares
During 2014, the Company awarded 323,500 target performance shares for restricted common stock to its directors and certain employees, of which
150,000 shares were subject to shareholder approval of the Omnibus Plan, which was obtained at the Company’s 2015 annual meeting on May 28, 2015. The
issuance of the performance shares was contingent on the Company’s financial performance, as well as the performance of the Company’s common stock
through June 30, 2016, with the actual shares to be issued ranging between 0 – 150% of the target performance shares. Given that the Company's financial
performance goal was not achieved the remaining performance shares have been forfeited during the year ended December 31, 2016. At June 30, 2016, the
Company determined that it was not probable that the performance conditions would be achieved and no related expense was recognized for the three months
and six months ended June 30, 2016.
Warrants
On February 11, 2011, three shareholders received warrants that may be exercised for up to a total of 4,240,521 shares of the Company’s common stock
at a weighted average exercise price of $14.51 per share. The warrants will expire seven years after the date of issuance and are exercisable as they are fully
vested. At June 30, 2017, all 4,240,521 warrants remained outstanding.
In connection with a settlement of class action litigation arising in connection with the investigation by the U.S. Attorney's Office for District of New
Hampshire ("USAO") into the Company's now legacy premium finance business (the "USAO Investigation"), the Company issued warrants to purchase
2,000,000 shares of the Company’s stock into an escrow account in April of 2014. The estimated fair value as of the measurement date of such warrants was
$5.4 million, which is included in stockholders’ equity. The warrants were distributed in October 2014 and have a five-year term from the date they were
distributed to the class participants with an exercise price of $10.75. The Company is obligated to file a registration statement to register the shares underlying
the warrants with the SEC if shares of the Company’s common stock have an average daily trading closing price of at least $8.50 per share for a 45 day period.
The warrants will be exercisable upon effectiveness of the registration statement.
(7) Discontinued Operations
On October 25, 2013, the Company sold substantially all of the operating assets comprising its structured settlement business to Majestic Opco LLC
pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement. No structured settlement receivables were sold and no on-balance sheet liabilities were transferred in connection
with the sale. On August 18, 2015, the Company sold its remaining structured settlement receivables asset for $920,000 to the buyer of its operating assets.
As a result of the sale of its structured settlements business, the Company reclassified its structured settlement business operating results as discontinued
operations in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations for all periods presented.
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Operating results related to the Company’s discontinued structured settlement business are as follows:
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2017

Total income

$

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2016

30

2017

$

3

Total expenses

65

130

Income (loss) before income taxes

(35)

(127)

Income tax benefit

—

Net income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes

$

(35)

—
$

2016

$

33

6

258

200

(225)

(194)

$

(127)

$

—

$

—

(225)

$

(194)

(8) Life Settlements (Life Insurance Policies)
The Company accounts for policies it acquires using the fair value method in accordance with ASC 325-30-50 Investments-Other-Investment in Insurance
Contracts. Under the fair value method, the Company recognizes the initial investment at the purchase price. For policies that were relinquished in satisfaction
of premium finance loans at maturity, the initial investment is the loan carrying value. For policies purchased in the secondary or tertiary markets, the initial
investment is the amount of cash outlay at the time of purchase. At each reporting period, the Company re-measures the investment at fair value in its entirety
and recognizes changes in the Statements of Operations in the periods in which the changes occur.
As of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the Company owned 614 and 621 policies, respectively, with an aggregate estimated fair value of life
settlements of $526.3 million and $498.4 million, respectively.
The weighted average life expectancy calculated based on death benefit of insureds in the policies owned by the Company at June 30, 2017 was 8.7
years. The following table describes the Company’s life settlements as of June 30, 2017 (dollars in thousands):
Number of
Life Settlement
Contracts

Remaining Life Expectancy (In Years)*

Estimated Fair
Value

Face
Value

0-1

4

1-2
2-3

16
18

40,216
33,859

57,093
65,124

3-4

$

16,471

$

19,945

34

57,812

146,711

4-5
Thereafter

44
498

54,809
323,115

177,795
2,437,232

Total

614

$

526,282

$

2,903,900

*Based on remaining life expectancy at June 30, 2017, as derived from reports of third party life expectancy providers, and does not indicate the timing of
expected death benefits. See "Life Settlements" in Note 14, "Fair Value Measurements" of the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
The weighted average life expectancy calculated based on death benefit of insureds in the policies owned by the Company at December 31, 2016 was 9.0
years. The following table describes the Company’s life settlements as of December 31, 2016 (dollars in thousands):
Number of
Life Settlement
Contracts

Remaining Life Expectancy (In Years)*

Estimated Fair
Value

Face
Value

0-1

4

1-2

14

35,019

52,093

2-3
3-4

14
31

31,300
44,096

57,274
114,449

4-5
Thereafter
Total

16,280

$

19,497

40

57,792

172,157

518

313,913

2,531,041

621
19

$

$

498,400

$

2,946,511

*Based on remaining life expectancy at December 31, 2016, as derived from reports of third party life expectancy providers, and does not indicate the timing of
expected death benefits. See "Life Settlements" in Note 14, "Fair Value Measurements" of the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
Estimated premiums to be paid for each of the five succeeding fiscal years and thereafter to keep the life insurance policies in force as of
are as follows (in thousands):
Remainder of 2017

$

June 30, 2017,

42,298

2018

86,546

2019
2020

93,774
97,355

2021

97,578

Thereafter

875,726
$

1,293,277

The amount of $1.29 billion noted above represents the estimated total future premium payments required to keep the life insurance policies in force during
the life expectancies of all the underlying insured lives and does not give effect to projected receipt of death benefits. The estimated total future premium
payments could increase or decrease significantly to the extent that insurance carriers increase the cost of insurance on their issued policies or that actual
mortalities of insureds differs from the estimated life expectancies.
(9) White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility
Effective April 29, 2013, White Eagle entered into a 15-year revolving credit agreement with LNV Corporation, as initial lender, Imperial Finance & Trading,
LLC, as servicer and portfolio manager and CLMG Corp., as administrative agent. Proceeds from the initial advance under the facility were used, in part, to retire
a bridge facility and to fund a payment to the lender protection insurance provider to release subrogation rights in certain of the policies pledged as collateral for
the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility. On May 16, 2014, White Eagle Asset Portfolio, LLC converted from a Delaware limited liability company to White Eagle
Asset Portfolio, LP, a Delaware limited partnership (the "Conversion") and all of its ownership interests were transferred to an indirect, wholly-owned Irish
subsidiary of the Company. In connection with the Conversion, the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility was amended and restated among White Eagle, as
borrower, Imperial Finance and Trading, LLC, as the initial servicer, the initial portfolio manager and guarantor, Lamington Road Bermuda Ltd., as portfolio
manager, LNV Corporation, as initial lender, the other financial institutions party thereto as lenders, and CLMG Corp., as administrative agent for the lenders.
The White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility was amended on November 9, 2015. As amended, the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility may provide earlier
participation in the portfolio cash flows if certain loan to value ("LTV") ratios are achieved. Additionally, the maximum facility limit was reduced from $300.0
million to $250.0 million, and the interest rate under the facility was increased by 50 basis points.
On December 29, 2016, White Eagle entered into a Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement ("White Eagle
Second Amendment") and on January 31, 2017, as required by the terms of the White Eagle Amendment, White Eagle executed the Second Amended and
Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated January 31, 2017, which consolidated into a single document the amendments evidenced by the White Eagle
Second Amendment and all previous amendments.
As amended, the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility adjusted the LTV ratios which directed cash flow participation and became subjected to achieving
certain financial metrics, as more fully described below under "Amortization & Distributions." Pursuant to the White Eagle Second Amendment, 190 life
settlement policies purchased from wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company were pledged as additional collateral under the facility for an additional policy
advance of approximately $71.1 million. The maximum facility limit was increased to $370.0 million and the term of the facility was extended to December 31,
2031. Additional loan terms and amendment changes are more fully described in the sections that follow.
General & Security. The White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility provides for an asset-based revolving credit facility backed by White Eagle’s portfolio of life
insurance policies with an aggregate lender commitment of up to $370.0 million, subject to borrowing base availability. 612 life insurance policies with an
aggregate death benefit of approximately $2.9 billion and an estimated fair value of approximately $525.5 million are pledged as collateral under the White Eagle
Revolving Credit
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Facility at June 30, 2017. In addition, the equity interests in White Eagle have been pledged under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility.
Borrowing Base. Borrowing availability under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility is subject to a borrowing base, which at any time is equal to the
lesser of (A) the sum of all of the following amounts that have been funded or are to be funded through the next distribution date (i) the initial advance and all
additional advances to acquire additional pledged policies that are not for ongoing maintenance advances, plus (ii) 100% of the sum of the ongoing maintenance
costs, plus (iii) 100% of accrued and unpaid interest on borrowings (excluding the rate floor portion described below), plus (iv) 100% of any other fees and
expenses funded and to be funded as approved by the required lenders, less (v) any required payments of principal and interest previously distributed and to be
distributed through the next distribution date; (B) 75% of the valuation of the policies pledged as collateral as determined by the lenders; (C) 50% of the
aggregate face amount of the policies pledged as collateral (excluding certain specified life insurance policies); and (D) the then applicable facility limit. At
June 30, 2017, $70.9 million was undrawn and $5.0 million was available to borrow under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility. The amount available to
borrow is calculated based on and limited to the premium payments and expenses if any, that are due as of the calculation date. In essence, what is available, is
what is required to pay expenses and keep the policies in force as of the calculation date.
Amortization & Distributions. Proceeds from the maturity of the policies pledged as collateral under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility are distributed
pursuant to a waterfall. After distributions for premium payments, fees to service providers and payments of interest, a percentage of the collections from policy
proceeds are to be paid to the Company, which will vary depending on the then LTV ratio as illustrated below where the valuation is determined by the lenders:
LTV

Premiums, Interest &
Other Fees

Distribution to White Eagle
- 55%
Lender Participation - 45%

Principal

N/A

100%

—%

—%

>65%

N/A

100%

—%

—%
—%

50-65%

N/A

70%

16.5%

13.5%

35-50%

N/A

55%

24.8%

20.3%

0-35%

N/A

45%

30.3%

24.8%

Provided that (i) if (a) the Company failed to maintain a cash interest coverage ratio of at least 2.0:1 at any time during the immediately preceding calendar
quarter or (b) the Company fails to take steps to improve its solvency in a manner acceptable to the required lenders (as determined in their sole and absolute
discretion), then the cash flow sweep percentage to the lenders shall equal one-hundred percent (100%) and (ii) if such distribution date occurs on or after
December 29, 2025, then the cash flow sweep percentage shall equal one-hundred percent (100%). As of June 30, 2017, the cash interest coverage ratio was
2.17:1 and the loan to value ratio was 59%, as calculated using the lenders' valuation. It should be noted that although the Company met the required threshold
at quarter end, the threshold was not met for all days during the quarter. As a result, the Company will not participate in the waterfall distribution scheduled
during July 2017.
The cash interest coverage ratio is the ratio of (i) consolidated cash and cash equivalents maintained by the Company to (ii) the aggregate interest
amounts that will be due and payable in cash on (x) the $30.0 million Senior Secured Notes due September 14, 2018 (and any notes issued by the Company or
any of its Affiliates in connection with refinancing, replacing, substituting or any similar action with respect to any such notes) and the $74.2 million Convertible
Notes due February 15, 2019 (and any notes issued by the Company or any of its Affiliates in connection with refinancing, replacing, substituting or any similar
action with respect to any such notes) and (y) any additional indebtedness issued by the Company after December 29, 2016, in each case, during the twelve
month period following such date of determination. See Note 11, "8.50% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes", Note 12, " 15.0% Senior Secured Notes", and
Note 13, "15.0% Promissory Note" to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
With respect to approximately 25% of the face amount of policies pledged as collateral under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, White Eagle has
agreed that if policy proceeds that are otherwise due are not paid by an insurance carrier, the foregoing distributions will be altered such that the lenders will
receive any "catch-up" payments with respect to amounts that they would have received in the waterfall prior to distributions being made to White Eagle. During
the continuance of events of default or unmatured events of default, the amounts from collections of policy proceeds that might otherwise be paid to White Eagle
will instead be held in a designated account controlled by the lenders and may be applied to fund operating and third party expenses, interest and principal,
"catch-up" payments or percentage payments that would go to the lenders as described above.
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Assuming no event of default, funds on account from policy proceeds shall be distributed in specified stages of priority. For the three months and six
months ended June 30, 2017, approximately $10.0 million and $12.5 million, respectively, of proceeds received from the maturity of policies pledged under the
White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, were distributed through the waterfall in the following stages of priority (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
June 30, 2017
Clause
First:

Six Months Ended
June 30, 2017

Amount
$

Use of Proceeds

85

144

Second:

—

—

White Eagle - Ongoing Maintenance Cost Reimbursable

Third:

—

—

Administrative Agent - Protective Advances

Fourth:

13

23

Administrative Agent - Administrative Agent Fee and Legal Expense Reimbursement

Fifth:

4,282

6,694

Administrative Agent - Accrued and Unpaid Interest

Sixth:

5,656

5,656

Administrative Agent - Required Amortization

Seventh:

—

—

Administrative Agent - Amortization Shortfall

Eighth:

—

—

Administrative Agent - Participation Interest

Ninth:

—

—

Reserved - $0

Tenth:

—

—

Administrative Agent Aggregate Unpaid Participation Interest

Eleventh:

—

—

Administrative Agent - Remaining Available Amount After Clause First to Tenth

Twelfth:

—

—

Wilmington Trust - Custodian and Securities Intermediary - Unpaid Fees

Thirteenth:

—

—

Borrower - Any Remaining Available Amount After Clause First to Twelfth

Total Distributions $

10,036

$

Custodian and Securities Intermediary

12,517

Approximately $2.5 million of the amount distributed during the six months ended June 30, 2017 was from maturity proceeds collected during the year
ended December 31, 2016.
The below is a reconciliation of proceeds collected by the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility and distributed through the waterfall as shown above (in
thousands):
Face value collected in 2016 and distributed during the six months ended June 30, 2017
Face value collected in prior quarter and distributed in current quarter

2,480
10,000

$

Face value collected in current quarter

16,180

Other collections*

106

Total waterfall collection

$

28,766

Less: Total waterfall distribution during the six months ended June 30, 2017

(12,517)
$

Total to be distributed subsequent to the quarter ended June 30, 2017

16,249

*Includes refund of premiums and interest earned on maturity proceeds
Use of Proceeds. Generally, ongoing advances may be made for paying premiums on the life insurance policies pledged as collateral and to pay the fees
of service providers. Effective with the White Eagle Amendment on November 9, 2015, ongoing advances may no longer be used to pay interest, which will now
be paid by White Eagle if there is not otherwise sufficient amounts available from policy proceeds to be distributed to pay interest expense pursuant to the
waterfall described above in "Amortization and Distributions." Subsequent advances and the use of proceeds from those advances are at the discretion of the
lenders. During the three months and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, advances for premium payments and fees to service providers amounted to
(in thousands):
Three Months Ended
2017
Amount drawn for premium payments

$

Amount drawn in fees to service providers

21,490

$

626
$

Total amount drawn
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Six Months Ended

2016

22,116

2017

12,573

$

420
$

12,993

42,249

2016
$

24,754

$

25,587

1,150
$

43,399

833

Interest. Borrowings under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility bear interest at a rate equal to LIBOR or, if LIBOR is unavailable, the base rate, in
each case plus an applicable margin of 4.50%, which was increased from 4.00% pursuant to the November 9, 2015 amendment, and subject to a rate floor
component equal to the greater of LIBOR (or the applicable rate) and 1.5%. The base rate under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility equals the sum of
(i) the weighted average of the interest rates on overnight federal funds transactions or, if unavailable, the average of three federal funds quotations received by
the Agent plus 0.75% and (ii) 0.5%. Based on the loan agreement, the LIBOR portion of the interest rate will re-adjust annually, once the floor has exceeded
1.5%. The applicable rate will be dependent on the rate at the last business day of the preceding calendar year. On December 30, 2016, the LIBOR floor
increased from 1.5% to 1.69%. The effective rate at June 30, 2017 and 2016 was 6.19% and 6.00%, respectively.
Interest paid during the period is recorded in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Accrued interest is reflected as a component of the
estimated fair value of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility debt. Effective with the White Eagle Amendment on November 9, 2015, interest for the
applicable margin of 4.50% is no longer withheld from borrowings by the lender. Total interest expense on the facility during the three months and six months
ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 paid through the waterfall distribution from maturity proceeds or paid directly by White Eagle was as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2017
Interest paid through waterfall

$

2016
4,282

Interest paid by White Eagle
Total interest expense

$

—
$

Six Months Ended
June 30,

4,282

2017
2,794

$

—
$

2,794

2016
6,694

$

5,216

$

5,216

782
$

7,476

—

Maturity. Effective with the White Eagle Second Amendment, the term of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility expires December 31, 2031, which is
also the scheduled commitment termination date (though the lenders’ commitments to fund borrowings may terminate earlier in an event of default). The lenders’
interests in and rights to a portion of the proceeds of the policies does not terminate with the repayment of the principal borrowed and interest accrued thereon,
the termination of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility or expiration of the lenders’ commitments.
Covenants/Events of Defaults. The White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility contains covenants and events of default that are customary for asset-based credit
agreements of this type, but also include cross defaults under the servicing, account control, contribution and pledge agreements entered into in connection with
the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility (including in relation to breaches by third parties thereunder), certain changes in law, changes in control of or
insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company and relevant subsidiary companies and performance of certain obligations by certain relevant subsidiary companies,
White Eagle and third parties. Effective with the White Eagle Second Amendment, and as described above in "Amortization and Distributions", the White Eagle
Revolving Credit Facility contains a financial covenant requiring White Eagle to maintain a cash interest coverage ratio of at least 1.75:1 commencing after June
30, 2019. Failure to maintain this ratio for 60 consecutive days after June 30, 2019 constitutes an event of default. There is no interest coverage ratio requirement
that would result in an event of default prior to this date; however, any failure to maintain a cash interest coverage ratio of at least 2.0:1 on any day during the
quarter does impact the cash flow sweep percentage for proceeds distributed through the waterfall. As of June 30, 2017, the cash interest coverage ratio was
2.17:1. The White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility also contains certain tests relating to asset maintenance, performance and valuation, the satisfaction of which
will be determined by the lenders with a high degree of discretion.
Remedies. The White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility and ancillary transaction documents afford the lenders a high degree of discretion in their selection
and implementation of remedies, including strict foreclosure, in relation to any event of default, including a high degree of discretion in determining whether to
foreclose upon and liquidate all or any pledged policies, the interests in White Eagle, and the manner of any such liquidation. White Eagle has limited ability to
cure events of default through the sale of policies or the procurement of replacement financing.
The Company elected to account for the debt under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility in accordance with ASC 820, which includes the 45% interest
in policy proceeds to the lender, using the fair value method. The fair value of the debt is the amount the Company would have to pay to transfer the debt to a
market participant in an orderly transaction. The Company calculated the fair value of the debt using a discounted cash flow model taking into account the
stated interest rate of the credit facility and probabilistic cash flows from the pledged policies. Considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to
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develop the estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the Company’s estimates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that the Company, or holders of the
instruments, could realize in a current market exchange. The most significant assumptions are the estimates of life expectancy of the insured and the discount
rate. The use of different assumptions and/or estimation methodologies could have a material effect on the estimated fair values.
At June 30, 2017, the fair value of the outstanding debt was $304.9 million and the borrowing base was approximately $304.2 million, which includes
$299.1 million of outstanding principal. Approximately $5.0 million was available to borrow under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility.
There are no scheduled repayments of principal prior to maturity although payments are due upon the next distribution date following the receipt of death
benefits and distributed pursuant to the waterfall as described above. At June 30, 2017, approximately $16.2 million included in restricted cash was on account
with White Eagle awaiting distribution through the waterfall.
(10) Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility
Effective July 16, 2015, Red Falcon Trust ("Red Falcon"), a Delaware statutory trust formed by Blue Heron Designated Activity Company ("Blue Heron"), a
wholly-owned Irish subsidiary of the Company, entered into a revolving loan and security agreement (together with its ancillary documents, the "Red Falcon
Revolving Credit Facility," and together with the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, the "Revolving Credit Facilities") with LNV Corporation, as initial lender,
the other lenders party thereto from time to time, Imperial Finance & Trading, LLC, as guarantor, Blue Heron as portfolio administrator and CLMG Corp., as
administrative agent. On July 15, 2016, the Company amended its Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility (the "Red Falcon Amendment"). Pursuant to the
amendment, six additional policies and additional portions of 20 policies that were previously pledged in part as collateral under the initial credit agreement were
pledged for an additional policy advance. Amounts advanced to Red Falcon following effectiveness of the amendment to the credit agreement were
approximately $3.0 million.
On December 29, 2016, the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility was terminated (the "Facility Termination"). The policies pledged under the Red Falcon
Revolving Credit Facility were sold to White Eagle, a subsidiary of the Company, in exchange for a distribution of cash totaling $65.1 million, which was used to
repay all outstanding principal and interest due under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility. The significant terms in effect through the termination date are
included below.
General & Security . The Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility provided for a revolving credit facility backed by Red Falcon’s portfolio of life insurance
policies with an initial aggregate lender commitment of up to $110.0 million, subject to borrowing base availability. As of June 30, 2017, all life insurance policies
previously owned by Red Falcon and pledged as collateral under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility were sold to White Eagle, an affiliate of the Company.
See Note 9, "White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility," to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for further information regarding the Company's
portfolio subsequent to the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility termination.
Borrowing Base & Availability . Revolving credit borrowings were permitted for a five-year period with the loans under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit
Facility maturing on July 15, 2022. Borrowing availability under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility was subject to a borrowing base, which at any time was
equal to the lesser of (A) the sum of all of the following amounts that were funded or were to be funded through the next distribution date (i) the initial advance
and all additional advances in respect of newly pledged policies that were not for ongoing maintenance advances, plus (ii) 100% of the sum of the ongoing
maintenance costs, less (iii) any required amortization payments previously distributed and which were to be distributed through the next distribution date; (B)
60% of the valuation of the policies pledged as collateral as determined by the lenders; (C) 45% of the aggregate face amount of the policies pledged as
collateral; and (D) $110.0 million. All outstanding principal and interest was repaid in connection with the Facility Termination as of June 30, 2017.
Amortization & Distributions. Proceeds from the policies pledged as collateral under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility were distributed pursuant to a
waterfall with, subject to yield maintenance provisions, 5% of policy proceeds directed to the lenders. Thereafter proceeds were directed to pay fees to service
providers and premiums with any remaining proceeds directed to pay outstanding interest and required amortization of 8% per annum on the greater of the then
outstanding balance of the loan or the initial advance. Generally, after payment of interest and required amortization, a percentage of the collections from policy
proceeds were to be paid to the lenders, which will varied depending on the then loan to value ratio ("LTV") as follows: (1) if the LTV was equal to or greater than
50%, all remaining proceeds were to be directed to the lenders to repay the then outstanding principal balance; (2) if the LTV was less than 50% but greater
than or equal to 25%, 65% of the remaining proceeds were to be directed to the lenders to repay the then outstanding principal balance; or (3) if the LTV was
less than 25%,
24

35% of the remaining proceeds were to be directed to the lenders to repay the then outstanding principal balance, in each case, with remaining proceeds
directed to Red Falcon. To the extent there were not sufficient remaining proceeds in the waterfall to satisfy the amount of required interest and amortization
then due, Red Falcon would have had to pay any such shortfall amount.
Initial Advance and Use of Proceeds. Amounts advanced to Red Falcon following effectiveness of the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility were
approximately $54.0 million with certain of the proceeds used to pay transaction expenses and to purchase the policies pledged as collateral under the Red
Falcon Revolving Credit Facility from certain affiliates of the Company, who then made a distribution to the Company which was used to redeem the Company's
12.875% Secured Notes. Generally, ongoing advances may have been made for paying premiums on the life insurance policies pledged as collateral, and to pay
the fees of service providers. Subsequent advances in respect of newly pledged policies are at the discretion of the lenders.
Interest. Borrowings under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility bore interest at a rate equal to LIBOR or, if LIBOR was unavailable, the base rate, in
each case plus an applicable margin of 4.50% and subject to a rate floor of 1.0%. The base rate under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility equaled the sum
of (i) the weighted average of the interest rates on overnight federal funds transactions or, if unavailable, the average of three federal funds quotations received
by the Agent plus 0.75% and (ii) 0.5%. Based on the loan agreement, the LIBOR portion of the interest rate readjusted monthly, once the floor had exceeded
1.0%. The applicable rate was dependent on the rate at the last business day of the immediately preceding calendar month.
Interest expense paid during the period is recorded in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
Interest expense on the facility was $939,000 and $1.9 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, respectively.
Maturity and Early Extinguishment. The original term of the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility expired July 15, 2022. On December 29, 2016 Red
Falcon terminated the facility and repaid all outstanding principal and interest in the amount of $65.1 million.
Covenants/Events of Defaults. The Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility contained covenants and events of default, including those that are customary for
asset-based credit facilities of this type and including cross defaults under the servicing, portfolio management and sales agreements entered into in connection
with the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility, changes in control of or insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company and relevant subsidiary companies and
performance of certain obligations by certain relevant subsidiary companies, Red Falcon and third parties. The Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility did not
contain any financial covenants, but did contain certain tests relating to asset maintenance, performance and valuation with determinations as to the satisfaction
of such tests involving determinations made by the lenders with a high degree of discretion.
The Company elected to account for the debt under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility using the fair value method in accordance with ASC 820. The
fair value of the debt is the amount the Company would have to pay to transfer the debt to a market participant in an orderly transaction. The Company
calculated the fair value of the debt using a discounted cash flow model taking into account the stated interest rate of the credit facility and probabilistic cash
flows from the pledged policies. Considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop the estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the Company’s
estimates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that the Company, or holders of the instruments, could realize in a current market exchange. The most
significant assumptions are the estimates of life expectancy of the insured and the discount rate. The use of different assumptions and/or estimation
methodologies could have had a material effect on the estimated fair values.
At June 30, 2017, there was no outstanding principal and interest as the Red Falcon Facility had been fully repaid on December 29, 2016.
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(11) 8.50% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes
In February 2014, the Company issued $70.7 million in an aggregate principal amount of 8.50% senior unsecured convertible notes due 2019 (the
"Convertible Notes"). The Convertible Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture dated February 21, 2014, between the Company and U.S. Bank National
Association, as trustee (the "Convertible Notes Indenture"). Two members of the Company's Board of Directors, Messrs. Dakos and Goldstein, are affiliated with
Bulldog Investors, LLC, who purchased $9.2 million of the Convertible Notes.
The Convertible Notes are general senior unsecured obligations and rank equally in right of payment with all of the Company's other existing and future
senior unsecured indebtedness. The Convertible Notes are effectively subordinate to all of the Company's secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of the
assets collateralizing such indebtedness. The Convertible Notes are not guaranteed by the Company's subsidiaries.
The maturity date of the Convertible Notes is February 15, 2019. The Convertible Notes accrue interest at the rate of 8.50% per annum on the principal
amount of the Convertible Notes, payable semi-annually in arrears on August 15 and February 15 of each year .
The Convertible Notes are convertible into shares of common stock at any time prior to the close of business on the second scheduled trading day
immediately preceding the maturity date. Initially, the Convertible Notes were convertible into shares of common stock at a conversion rate of 147.9290 shares of
common stock per $1,000 principal amount of Convertible Notes (equivalent to a conversion price of $6.76 per share of common stock). In the second quarter of
2015, the conversion rate was adjusted to 151.7912 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of Convertible Notes (equivalent to a conversion price
of $6.59 per share of common stock) in connection with an anti-dilution adjustment triggered by a rights offering that resulted in the issuance of 6,688,433 shares
of the Company’s common stock.
The Convertible Notes were not redeemable prior to February 15, 2017. On and after such date, and prior to the maturity date, the Company may redeem
for cash all, but not less than all, of the Convertible Notes if the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock equals or exceeds 130% of the
applicable conversion price for at least 20 trading days during the 30 consecutive trading day period ending on the trading day immediately prior to the date the
Company delivers notice of the redemption. The redemption price will be equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Convertible Notes, plus any accrued and
unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date. In addition, if the Company calls the Convertible Notes for redemption, a make-whole fundamental charge
will be deemed to occur. As a result, the Company will, in certain circumstances, increase the conversion rate by a number of additional shares of common stock
for holders who convert their notes prior to the redemption date.
The Company determined that an embedded conversion option existed in the Convertible Notes that was required to be separately accounted for as a
derivative under ASC 815 which required the Company to bifurcate the embedded conversion option, record it as a liability at fair value and record a debt
discount by an equal amount. Upon receipt of shareholder approval to issue shares of common stock upon conversion of the Convertible Notes in an amount
that exceeded applicable New York Stock Exchange limits for issuances without shareholder approval, the Company reclassified the embedded conversion
derivative liability to equity. The Convertible Notes are recorded at accreted value and will continue to be accreted up to the par value of the Convertible Notes at
maturity.
On February 14, 2017, the Company solicited consents (the "Consent Solicitation") to issue additional 8.50% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes (the
"Additional Convertible Notes") in lieu of a cash payment of interest on February 15, 2017 (the "2017 Interest Payment Date") to holders of the Convertible
Notes.
On March 14, 2017, the Company issued an additional $3.5 million in Additional Convertible Notes following the Company’s receipt of the requisite
consents of the holders of the Convertible Notes of approximately 98% of the aggregate principal amount of Convertible Notes (the "Consenting Holders"),
pursuant to the Consent Solicitation, whereby each Consenting Holder agreed to accept Additional Convertible Notes in lieu of a cash payment of interest on the
Convertible Notes due on the 2017 Interest Payment Date. All Additional Convertible Notes issued by the Company to Consenting Holders were issued under
the Convertible Note Indenture and such Additional Convertible Notes have identical terms to the existing Convertible Notes. Interest on the Additional
Convertible Notes will accrue from February 15, 2017. The issue of the Additional Convertible Notes increased the outstanding principal amount of the
Convertible Notes to $74.2 million at June 30, 2017.
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On March 15, 2017 and May 12, 2017, the Company entered into a series of separate Master Transaction Agreements (the "Master Transaction
Agreements") by and between the Company, PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited liability company ("PJC") and each such Consenting Convertible Note
Holder that is a party to such Master Transaction Agreement ("Consenting Holders") regarding a series of integrated transactions with the intent to effect a
recapitalization of the Company (the "Transaction") which includes, among other transactions, a Convertible Note Exchange Offer and a New Convertible Note
Indenture providing for the issuance of New Convertible Notes to be delivered in connection with the Transaction (each as defined in the Master Transaction
Agreements).
As part of the Transaction, on April 18, 2017, the Company launched an exchange offer to the existing holders of its outstanding Convertible Notes for 5%
Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes due 2023 (the "New Convertible Notes"). At least 98% of the holders of the Convertible Notes must tender in the exchange
offer as a condition to closing the Transaction.
As of June 30, 2017, the carrying value of the Convertible Notes was $66.1 million, net of unamortized debt discounts and origination costs of $7.1 million
and $1.1 million, respectively. These are being amortized over the remaining life of the Convertible Notes using the effective interest method.
During the three months ended June 30, 2017 , the Company recorded $2.6 million of interest expense on the Convertible Notes, including $1.6 million,
$922,000 and $137,000 from interest, amortizing debt discounts and origination costs, respectively, compared to interest expense of $2.4 million during the three
months ended June 30, 2016, which included $1.5 million, $782,000 and $116,000 from interest, amortizing debt discounts and origination costs, respectively.
During the six months ended June 30, 2017 , the Company recorded $5.8 million of interest expense on the Convertible Notes, including $3.7 million, $1.8
million and $264,000 from interest, amortizing debt discounts and origination costs, respectively, compared to interest expense of $4.8 million during the six
months ended June 30, 2016, which included $3.0 million, $1.5 million and $227,000 from interest, amortizing debt discounts and origination costs, respectively.
Interest for the six months ended June 30, 2017 was higher due to approximately $522,000 of additional interest paid in kind to note holders.
Subsequent Events
Master Transaction Agreements
On July 28, 2017, the Company consummated a series of integrated transactions to effect a recapitalization of the Company (the "Transaction Closing")
pursuant to the Master Transaction Agreements.
Convertible Note Exchange Offer
On July 26, 2017, the Company’s offer to exchange its Convertible Notes for its New Convertible Notes expired (the "Convertible Note Exchange Offer"). At
least 98% of the holders of the Convertible Notes tendered in the Convertible Note Exchange Offer.
Supplemental Indenture for Convertible Notes
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company entered into a supplemental indenture (the "Supplemental Indenture") to that certain Indenture
dated February 21, 2014 between the Company and U.S. Bank, National Association, as indenture trustee (as amended and supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time, the "Convertible Notes Indenture") governing the Convertible Notes. The purpose of the Supplemental Indenture was to eliminate substantially
all of the restrictive covenants, eliminate certain events of default, eliminate the covenant restricting mergers and consolidations and modify certain provisions
relating to defeasance contained in the Convertible Notes Indenture and the Convertible Notes (collectively, the "Proposed Amendments") promptly after the
receipt of the requisite consents for the Proposed Amendments.
New Convertible Note Indenture and New Convertible Notes
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company caused to be issued the New Convertible Notes in an aggregate amount of approximately $75.8
million pursuant to an Indenture (the "New Convertible Note Indenture") between the Company and U.S. Bank, National Association, as indenture trustee. The
terms of the New Convertible Notes are governed by the New Convertible Note Indenture, which provides, among other things, that the New Convertible Notes
are unsecured senior
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obligations of the Company and will mature on February 15, 2023. The New Convertible Notes bear interest at a rate of 5% per annum from the issue date,
payable semi-annually on August 15 and February 15 of each year, beginning on August 15, 2017.
Holders of New Convertible Notes may convert their New Convertible Notes at their option on any day prior to the close of business on the second
scheduled trading day immediately preceding February 15, 2023. Upon conversion, the Company will deliver shares of Common Stock, together with any cash
payment for any fractional share of Common Stock. The initial conversion rate for the New Convertible Notes will be (x) 500 shares of Common Stock per $1,000
principal amount of New Convertible Notes (for New Convertible Notes denominated in $1,000 increments) and (y) 0.5 shares of Common Stock per $1.00
principal amount of New Convertible Notes (for New Convertible Notes denominated in $1.00 increments). The conversion rate will be subject to adjustment in
certain circumstances.
The Company may redeem, in whole but not in part, the New Convertible Notes at a redemption price of 100% of the principal amount of the New
Convertible Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest, if any, if and only if the last reported sale price of the Common Stock
equals or exceeds 120% of the conversion price for at least 15 trading days in any period of 30 consecutive trading days. The Company may, at its election, pay
or deliver as the case may be, to all Holders of the New Convertible Notes, either (a) solely cash, (b) solely shares of Common Stock, or (c) a combination of
cash and shares of Common Stock.
The New Convertible Note Indenture provides for customary events of default, which include (subject in certain cases to customary grace and cure periods),
among others: nonpayment of principal or interest; breach of covenants or other agreements in the New Convertible Note Indenture; defaults or failure to pay
certain other indebtedness; and certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency. Generally, if an event of default occurs and is continuing under the New Convertible
Note Indenture, the trustee or the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the New Convertible Notes then outstanding may declare all unpaid
principal plus accrued interest on the New Convertible Notes immediately due and payable, subject to certain conditions set forth in the New Convertible Note
Indenture. In addition, holders of the New Convertible Notes may require the Company to repurchase the New Convertible Notes upon the occurrence of certain
designated events at a repurchase price of 100% of the principal amount of the New Convertible Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest.
See Note 19 "Subsequent Events," of the accompanying financial statements for additional information.
(12) 15.0% Senior Secured Notes
On March 11, 2016, the Company, as issuer, entered into an indenture (the "Senior Secured Indenture") with Wilmington Trust, National Association as
indenture trustee (the "Senior Secured Note Trustee"). The Senior Secured Indenture provides for the issuance of up to $30.0 million in senior secured notes
(the "15.0% Senior Secured Notes"), of which approximately $21.2 million were issued on the Initial Closing Date with an additional $8.8 million issued on March
24, 2016. The 15.0% Senior Secured Notes were purchased in private transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, under the note purchase agreements with certain accredited investors and/or non U.S. persons, including certain members of the Company's board of
directors, management and their affiliates, who purchased approximately $3.3 million of the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes issued on the Initial Closing Date.
During the six months ended June 30, 2017 , the Company entered into three supplemental indentures with the Senior Secured Note Trustee as follows:
On February 21, 2017, the first supplemental indenture amended and restated the Senior Secured Indenture to: (i) amend the definition of "Permitted
Indebtedness" to include all Additional Convertible Notes issued by the Company after February 14, 2017, in lieu of a cash payment of interest due to the
holders of the Convertible Notes, and (ii) add Section 4.07(e) to restrict the Company from increasing the interest rate payable on the Convertible Notes.
On May 15, 2017, the second supplemental indenture amended and restated the Senior Secured Indenture to amend the definition of "Permitted
Indebtedness" to include the Bridge Note in the original principal amount of $1.5 million, made by the Company in favor of PJC Investments, LLC.
On June 28, 2017, the third supplemental indenture amended and restated the Senior Secured Indenture to: (i) modify the definition of "Permitted
Indebtedness" to include the increased principal amount of $3.3 million pursuant to the Amended and Restated Bridge Note and (ii) amend the definition of
"Payment Date," so that beginning with and including July 14, 2017, the interest payment date occurs monthly, as opposed to quarterly.
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Interest on the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes accrues at 15.0% per annum payable monthly and all 15.0% Senior Secured Notes will mature on September
14, 2018 (the "Maturity Date"). The 15.0% Senior Secured Notes may be optionally redeemed in full at any time and must be redeemed in full upon additional
issuances of debt by Emergent Capital, Inc., in each case, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount redeemed plus (i) accrued and unpaid interest on the
15.0% Senior Secured Notes redeemed up to the date of redemption, and (ii) the present value, as of the date of redemption of all remaining interest payments
to the Maturity Date using a discount rate equal to the yield to maturity at the time of computation on the US treasury security with a constant maturity most
nearly equal to the period from the redemption date to the Maturity Date plus 50 basis points. Upon a change of control, the Company will be required to make
an offer to holders of the Senior Secured Notes to repurchase the Senior Secured Notes at a price equal to 107.5% of their principal amount.
The 15.0% Senior Secured Notes contain negative covenants restricting additional debt incurred by the Company, creation of liens on the collateral
securing the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes, and restrictions on dividends and stock repurchases. The 15.0% Senior Secured Notes are secured by settlement
proceeds, if any, received from certain litigation involving the Company, certain notes issued to the Company and a pledge of 65% of the equity interests in Blue
Heron Designated Activity Company, OLIPP IV, LLC and Red Reef Alternative Investments, LLC.
On or about April 7, 2017, the Company entered into an Exchange Participation Agreement (the "Participation Agreement") with holders (the "Consenting
Senior Note Holders") representing 100% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Company's 15.0% Senior Secured Notes. Pursuant to the
Participation Agreement, each Consenting Senior Note Holder agreed to enter into a Senior Note purchase agreement with PJC or its designee to sell 100% of
the aggregate principal amount of the New Senior Notes that are to be issued to such Consenting Senior Note Holder at a price equal to 100% of the face
amount of each New Senior Note purchased. In connection with the closing of all the transactions contemplated by the Master Transaction Agreements,
including the closing of the Senior Note purchase agreement (the "Closing Date"), the Company agreed to pay each Consenting Senior Note Holder 5.0% of the
face amount of the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes held by such Consenting Senior Note Holder, plus all accrued but unpaid interest under such 15.0% Senior
Secured Notes through the Closing Date (the "Sale Participation Fee").
On June 15, 2017, the Company did not make an interest payment of $1.2 million (the "Interest Payment") due June 15, 2017 (the "Interest Payment Date")
on the Company’s 15.0% Senior Secured Notes, of which $30.0 million principal amount was outstanding on that date. On June 21, 2017, the Company, the
Consenting Senior Note Holders and the Senior Secured Note Trustee, entered into a Consent and Forbearance Agreement (the "Forbearance Agreement")
relating to Senior Secured Indenture between the Company and the Senior Secured Note Trustee. Pursuant to the Forbearance Agreement, the Consenting
Senior Note Holders agreed to: (i) extend the Interest Payment that would otherwise be due and payable on the Interest Payment Date to June 30, 2017 and (ii)
forbear from exercising their rights and remedies against the Company solely with respect to a certain event of default under the Senior Secured Indenture (the
"Specified Default") during the period commencing on June 15, 2017 and ending on the date that is the earlier of (a) July 1, 2017 and (b) the date on which any
other breach of any Transaction Documents (as defined in the Senior Secured Indenture) by the Company occurs (the "Termination Date"); provided that if the
Company made the Interest Payment in full in accordance with the Senior Secured Indenture prior to the Termination Date, the Specified Default shall be
waived. On June 29, 2017, the Company made the Interest Payment in full and the Specified Default was deemed waived.
As of June 30, 2017, the carrying value of the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes was $29.5 million, net of unamortized debt origination costs of $518,000,
which is being amortized over the remaining life of the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes using the effective interest method.
During the three months ended June 30, 2017 , the Company recorded approximately $1.2 million of interest expense on the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes,
which includes $1.1 million of interest and $95,000 of amortizing debt issuance costs, compared to interest expense of $1.2 million during the three months
ended June 30, 2016, which included $1.1 million of interest and $111,000 of amortizing debt issuance costs, respectively.
During the six months ended June 30, 2017 , the Company recorded approximately $2.4 million of interest expense on the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes,
which includes $2.3 million of interest and $184,000 of amortizing debt issuance costs, compared to interest expense of $1.5 million during the six months ended
June 30, 2016, which included $1.4 million, of interest and $176,000 of amortizing debt issuance costs, respectively.
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Subsequent Events
Master Transaction Agreements
On July 28, 2017, the Company consummated a series of integrated transactions to effect a recapitalization of the Company (the "Transaction Closing")
pursuant to the Master Transaction Agreements.
Senior Secured Note Purchase Agreement
In connection with the Transaction Closing, PJC, certain investors jointly designated by PJC and Triax (the "Note Purchase Investors") and holders (the
"Senior Secured Note Holders") representing 100% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Company’s 15.0% Senior Secured Notes entered into a
Note Purchase Agreement (the "Note Purchase Agreement"). Pursuant to the Note Purchase Agreement, the Note Purchase Investors purchased 100% of the
15.0% Senior Secured Notes held by each Senior Secured Note Holder for an aggregate purchase price equal to the face amount of such purchased 15.0%
Senior Secured Notes. The Note Purchase Agreement contained customary representations, warranties, and covenants.
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company paid each Senior Secured Note Holder 5% of the face amount of the 15.0% Senior Secured
Notes held by such Senior Secured Note Holder as of immediately prior to the Transaction Closing, plus all accrued but unpaid interest of such 15.0% Senior
Secured Notes through the date of the Transaction Closing, pursuant to that certain Exchange Participation Agreement dated April 7, 2017 among the Company
and Senior Secured Note Holders representing 100% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes.
New Senior Secured Note Indenture and New Senior Secured Notes
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as indenture trustee (the "Senior Secured Note
Trustee") entered into an Amended and Restated Senior Secured Note Indenture (the "New Senior Secured Indenture") to amend and restate the Indenture
dated as of March 11, 2016 (as amended and supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the "Senior Secured Indenture") between the Company and
the Senior Secured Note Trustee following the Company’s receipt of requisite consents of the holders of the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes. Pursuant to the
terms of the New Senior Secured Indenture, the Company caused the cancellation of all outstanding 15.0% Senior Secured Notes and the issuance of 8.5%
Senior Secured Notes due 2021 (the "New Senior Secured Notes") in an aggregate amount of $30.0 million. The New Senior Secured Indenture provides,
among other things, that the New Senior Secured Notes will be secured senior obligations of the Company and will mature on July 15, 2021. The New Senior
Secured Notes will bear interest at a rate of 8.5% per annum, payable quarterly on March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning
on September 15, 2017.
The New Senior Secured Indenture provides that the New Senior Secured Notes may be optionally redeemed in full by the Company at any time and must
be redeemed in full upon additional issuances of debt by the Company in each case, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount redeemed plus (i) accrued
and unpaid interest on the New Senior Secured Notes redeemed up to the date of redemption, and (ii) the Applicable Premium, if any, as defined in the New
Senior Secured Indenture. Upon a change of control, the Company will be required to make an offer to holders of the New Senior Secured Notes to repurchase
the New Senior Secured Notes at a price equal to 107.5% of their principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest up to the date of redemption.
The New Senior Secured Indenture contains negative covenants restricting additional debt incurred by the Company, creation of liens on the collateral
securing the New Senior Secured Notes, and restrictions on dividends and stock repurchases, among other things. The New Senior Secured Notes are secured
by settlement proceeds, if any, received from certain litigation involving the Company, certain notes issued to the Company, and pledges of 65% of the equity
interests in Blue Heron Designated Activity Company, OLIPP IV, LLC and Red Reef Alternative Investments, LLC.
The New Senior Secured Indenture provides for customary events of default which include (subject in certain cases to customary grace and cure periods),
among others: nonpayment of principal or interest; breach of covenants or other agreements in the New Senior Secured Indenture; defaults in failure to pay
certain other indebtedness; and certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency. Generally, if an event of default occurs and is continuing under the New Senior
Secured Indenture, the trustee or the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the New Senior Secured Notes then outstanding may declare the
principal of and accrued but unpaid interest, plus a premium, if any, on all the New Senior Secured Notes immediately due and payable, subject to certain
conditions set forth in the New Senior Secured Indenture.
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Securities Purchase Agreement
On August 11, 2017, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the "Securities Purchase Agreement") by and between the Company
and Brennan Opportunities Fund I LP ("Brennan"). Pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, Brennan purchased from the Company (i) 12,500,000
shares (the "Brennan Shares") of Common Stock at a price of $0.40 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $5.0 million and (ii) $5.0 million principal
amount of the Company’s New Senior Secured Notes (the "Brennan Notes," and together with the Brennan Shares, the "Brennan Securities"). The Securities
Purchase Agreement contained customary representations, warranties, and covenants.
The sale of the Brennan Securities was consummated on August 11, 2017, as to 8,750,000 shares of Common Stock and $3.5 million principal amount of
New Senior Secured Notes, and on August 14, 2017, as to 3,750,000 shares of Common Stock and $1.5 million principal amount of New Senior Secured Notes.
See Note 19 "Subsequent Events," of the accompanying financial statements for additional information.
(13) 15.0% Promissory Note
On May 15, 2017, the Company entered into a $1.5 million Promissory Note with PJC Investments, LLC (the "Bridge Note"), to provide financing to fund the
Company's continued operations with a maturity date of July 3, 2017.
The Bridge Note was amended on June 28, 2017 (the "Amended and Restated Bridge Note") to (i) increase the principal amount under the Bridge Note to
$3.3 million and (ii) extend the maturity date from July 3, 2017 to the earlier of (a) July 28, 2017 or (b) the date on which the Master Transaction Agreements are
consummated.
Under the Amended and Restated Bridge Note, the Company may request an advance of funds, and PJC shall make an advance to the Company,
provided that (i) the aggregate amount of outstanding advances shall not exceed $3.3 million and (ii) the Company’s proposed budgeted use of proceeds for
such advance is reasonably acceptable to PJC.
Advances under the Amended and Restated Bridge Note bear interest at an annual rate of 15.0%.
The Amended and Restated Bridge Note includes certain default provisions customary to bridge financing facilities of this type which are subject to
customary grace periods, including, among others, (i) defaults related to payment failures; (ii) failure to comply with covenants; (iii) any material
misrepresentation of fact made or deemed made by or on behalf of the Company; (iv) failure by the Company to comply with any of its obligations under any
Master Transaction Agreement; (v) defaults in payment of any indebtedness of the Company that continues after the applicable grace or cure period; (vi)
bankruptcy and related events and; (vii) change of control without the prior written consent of PJC. Default interest accrues at an annual rate of 17.0%.
The Amended and Restated Bridge Note contains certain affirmative and negative covenants customary for bridge financing facilities of this type.
In consideration for the Amended and Restated Bridge Note and pursuant to a fee letter agreement by and between the Company and PJC dated May 15,
2017 (the "Fee Agreement"), the Company agreed to pay an additional termination fee equal to $1.5 million in the event that the Company becomes obligated to
pay certain termination fees pursuant to certain termination provisions under the Master Transaction Agreements.
The Company drew approximately $1.9 million on the Amended and Restated Bridge Note and recorded interest expense of approximately $11,000 during
the three months and six months ended June 30, 2017.
Subsequent Event
All outstanding principal and interest amounts due under the Amended and Restated Bridge Note were repaid on July 28, 2017 in connection with the
consummation of the Transaction Closing.
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(14) Fair Value Measurements
The Company carries life settlements and debt under the Revolving Credit Facilities at fair value as shown in the consolidated balance sheets. Fair value
is defined as an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. As such, fair value is a market based measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. Fair value measurements are classified based on the following fair value hierarchy:
Level 1-Valuation is based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities that are accessible at the reporting date.
Since valuations are based on quoted prices that are readily and regularly available in an active market, valuation of these products does not entail a significant
degree of judgment.
Level 2-Valuation is determined from pricing inputs that are other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable
as of the reporting date. Observable inputs include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or
liabilities in markets that are not active, and interest rates and yield curves that are observable at commonly quoted intervals.
Level 3-Valuation is based on inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and unobservable. Level 3 inputs include situations where
there is little, if any, market activity for the financial instrument. The inputs into the determination of fair value generally require significant management judgment
or estimation.
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis
The balances of the Company’s assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2017, are as follows (in thousands):
Level 1

Level 2

Total
Fair Value

Level 3

Assets:
Investment in life settlements

$

—

$

—

$

526,282

$

526,282

$

—

$

—

$

526,282

$

526,282

The balances of the Company’s liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2017 are as follows (in thousands):
Level 1

Level 2

Total
Fair Value

Level 3

Liabilities:
White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility

$

—

$

—

$

304,874

$

304,874

$

—

$

—

$

304,874

$

304,874

The balances of the Company’s assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2016, are as follows (in thousands):
Level 1

Level 2

Total Fair
Value

Level 3

Assets:
Investment in life settlements

$

—

$

—

$

498,400

$

498,400

$

—

$

—

$

498,400

$

498,400

The balances of the Company’s liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2016, are as follows (in thousands):
Level 1

Level 2

Total Fair
Value

Level 3

Liabilities:
White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility
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$

—

$

—

$

257,085

$

257,085

$

—

$

—

$

257,085

$

257,085

The Company categorizes its investment in life settlement portfolio in two classes, non-premium financed and premium financed. In considering the
categories, historically, it has generally believed that market participants would require a lower risk premium for policies that were non-premium financed, while a
higher risk premium would be required for policies that were premium financed; the Company believes that this risk premium has been declining.
($ in thousands)

Quantitative Information about Level 3 Fair Value Measurements
Fair Value
at 6/30/17

Non-premium financed

$

99,003

Aggregate
death benefit
at 6/30/17

$307,758

Valuation Technique

Discounted cash flow

Unobservable Input

Discount rate
Life expectancy evaluation

Premium financed

$

427,279

$2,596,141

Discounted cash flow

Discount rate
Life expectancy evaluation

Life settlements

$

White Eagle Revolving Credit
Facility
$

526,282

304,874

$2,903,899

$2,891,899

Discounted cash flow

Discounted cash flow

Discount rate

Range
(Weighted Average)

15.00% - 18.00%
(5.5 years)
16.00% -

21.50%

(9.0 years)
16.39%

Life expectancy evaluation

(8.7 years)

Discount rate
Life expectancy evaluation

18.31%
(8.7 years)

Following is a description of the methodologies used to estimate the fair values of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and
within the fair value hierarchy.
Life settlements—The Company has elected to account for the life settlement policies it acquires using the fair value method. The Company uses a
present value technique to estimate the fair value of its life settlements, which is a Level 3 fair value measurement as the significant inputs are unobservable and
require significant management judgment or estimation. The Company currently uses a probabilistic method of valuing life insurance policies, which the
Company believes to be the preferred valuation method in the industry. The most significant assumptions are the estimates of life expectancy of the insured and
the discount rate.
The Company provides medical records for each insured to LE providers. Each LE provider reviews and analyzes the medical records and identifies all
medical conditions it feels are relevant to the life expectancy determination of the insured. Debits and credits are assigned by each LE provider to the individual’s
health based on identified medical conditions which are derived from the experience of mortality attributed to relevant conditions in the portfolio of lives that the
LE provider monitors. The health of the insured is summarized by the LE provider into a life assessment of the individual’s life expectancy expressed both in
terms of months and in mortality factor. The mortality factor represents the degree to which the given life can be considered more or less impaired than a life
having similar characteristics (e.g. gender, age, smoking, etc.). For example, a standard insured (the average life for the given mortality table) would carry a
mortality rating of 100%. A similar but impaired life bearing a mortality rating of 200% would be considered to have twice the chance of dying earlier than the
standard life relative to the LE provider’s population. Since each provider’s mortality factor is based on its own mortality table, the Company calculates its own
factors to apply to the table selected by the Company.
The Company calculates mortality factors so that when applied to the mortality table selected by the Company, the resulting LE equals the LE provided by
each LE provider. The resulting mortality factors are then blended to determine a factor for each insured.
A mortality curve is then generated based on the calculated mortality factors and the rates from the Company selected mortality table to generate the best
estimated probabilistic cash flow stream. The net present value of the cash flows is then calculated to determine the policy value.
If the insured dies earlier than expected, the return will be higher than if the insured dies when expected or later than expected. The calculation allows for
the possibility that if the insured dies earlier than expected, the premiums needed to keep the policy in force will not have to be paid. Conversely, the calculation
also considers the possibility that if the insured lives longer than expected, more premium payments will be necessary.
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Since the quarter ended September 30, 2012, and prior to June 30, 2016, the Company used the 2008 Valuation Basic tables, smoker distinct ("2008
VBT"), mortality tables developed by the U.S. Society of Actuaries (the "SOA"). The mortality tables are created based on the expected rates of death among
different groups categorized by factors such as age and gender.
During 2015, the SOA released new versions of the Valuation Basic Tables, the ("2015 VBT"). The 2015 VBT has a significant increase in exposure and
number of claims compared to the 2008 VBT and is believed to be a better fit for the life settlement industry and is becoming more widely accepted. During the
year ended December 31, 2016, the Company changed its valuation technique and decided to adopt the 2015 VBT, smoker and gender distinct tables, to
determine the value of the policies. The table shows lower mortality rates in the earlier select periods at most ages, so while the Company continues to fit the life
expectancies from the LE providers to the 2015 VBT, the change in the mortality curve changes the timing of the Company’s expected cash flow streams.
Future changes in the life expectancies could have a material adverse effect on the fair value of the Company’s life settlements, which could have a
material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations
Life expectancy sensitivity analysis
If all of the insured lives in the Company’s life settlement portfolio lived six months shorter or longer than the life expectancies provided by these third
parties, the change in estimated fair value would be as follows (dollars in thousands):
Life Expectancy Months Adjustment

Value

Change in Value

+6

$

441,232

$

(85,050)

-6

$
$

526,282
615,255

$
$

—
88,973

Discount rate
The discount rate incorporates current information about market interest rates, the credit exposure to the insurance company that issued the life insurance
policy and our estimate of the risk premium an investor in the policy would require.
The Company re-evaluates its discount rates at the end of every reporting period in order to reflect the estimated discount rates that could reasonably be
used in a market transaction involving the Company’s portfolio of life insurance policies. In doing so, the Company relies on management insight, engages third
party consultants to corroborate its assessment, engages in discussions with other market participants and extrapolates the discount rate underlying actual sales
of policies.
At one time, due to the Company’s association with the USAO Investigation and certain civil litigation involving the Company, the Company believed that,
when given the choice to invest in a policy that was associated with the Company’s premium finance business and a similar policy without such an association,
all else being equal, an investor would have generally opted to invest in the policy that was not associated with the Company’s premium finance business.
However, since the Company entered into a Non-prosecution Agreement, investors have required less of a risk premium to transact in policies associated with
the Company’s legacy premium finance business. With passage of time, and resolution of litigations, the Company now believes investors no longer require a
greater risk premium for policies associated with the Company's premium finance business than the risk premium otherwise required for policies that were
premium financed. In general, the Company believes that the risk premium an investor would require to transact in a policy that has been premium financed
versus a policy without premium financing is lessening in the current market environment and further expects that, with the passage of time, investors will
continue to require less of a risk premium to transact in policies that had been premium financed.
Credit exposure of insurance company
The Company considers the financial standing of the issuer of each life insurance policy. Typically, we seek to hold policies issued by insurance companies
that are rated investment grade by the top three credit rating agencies. At June 30, 2017, the Company had 19 life insurance policies issued by three carriers
that were rated non-investment grade as of that date. In order to compensate a market participant for the perceived credit and challenge risks associated with
these policies, the Company applied an additional 300 basis point risk premium.
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The following table provides information about the life insurance issuer concentrations that exceed 10% of total death benefit and 10% of total fair value of
the Company’s life settlements as of June 30, 2017:

Carrier

Percentage of
Total
Fair Value

Percentage of
Total Death
Benefit

Moody's
Rating

S&P
Rating

Transamerica Life Insurance Company

18.4%

20.9%

A1

AA-

Lincoln National Life Insurance Company

21.9%

19.3%

A1

AA-

Estimated risk premium
As of June 30, 2017, the Company owned 614 policies with an estimated fair value of $526.3 million. Of these 614 policies, 535 were previously premium
financed and are valued using discount rates that range from 16.00% to 21.50%. The remaining 79 policies, which are non-premium financed, are valued using
discount rates that range from 15.00% to 18.00%. As of June 30, 2017, the weighted average discount rate calculated based on death benefit used in valuing
the policies in the Company’s life settlement portfolio was 16.39%.
The discount rate incorporates current information about market interest rates, the credit exposure to the insurance company that issued the life insurance
policy and our estimate of the risk premium an investor in the policy would require. The extent to which the fair value could vary in the near term has been
quantified by evaluating the effect of changes in the weighted average discount rate on the death benefit used to estimate the fair value. If the weighted average
discount rate was increased or decreased by 1/2 of 1% and the other assumptions used to estimate fair value remained the same, the change in estimated fair
value would be as follows (dollars in thousands):
Market interest rate sensitivity analysis
Weighted Average Rate Calculated Based on
Death Benefit

Rate Adjustment

Value

Change in Value

15.89%

-0.50%

$

539,740

$

16.39%

—

$

526,282

$

16.89%

+0.50%

$

513,366

$

13,458
—
(12,916)

Future changes in the discount rates we use to value life insurance policies could have a material effect on the Company's yield on life settlement
transactions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of our operations.
At the end of each reporting period we re-value the life insurance policies using our valuation model in order to update our estimate of fair value for
investments in policies held on our balance sheet. This includes reviewing our assumptions for discount rates and life expectancies as well as incorporating
current information for premium payments and the passage of time.
White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility — As of June 30, 2017, 612 policies are pledged by White Eagle to serve as collateral for its obligations under the
White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility. Absent an event of default under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, ongoing borrowings will be used to pay the
premiums on these policies and certain approved third party expenses. As more fully described in Note 9, "White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility," proceeds from
the maturity of the policies pledged as collateral under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility are distributed pursuant to a waterfall. After premium payments,
fees to service providers and payments of interest, a percentage of the collections from policy proceeds are to be paid to the Company, which will vary
depending on the then LTV ratio.
The Company elected to account for the debt under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility in accordance with ASC 820, which includes the 45% interest
in policy proceeds payable to the lender, using the fair value method. The fair value of the debt is the amount the Company would have to pay to transfer the
debt to a market participant in an orderly transaction. We calculated the fair value of the debt using a discounted cash flow model taking into account the stated
interest rate of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility and probabilistic cash flows from the pledged policies. Accordingly, our estimates are not necessarily
indicative of the amounts that we, or holders of the instruments, could realize in a current market exchange. The most significant assumptions are the estimates
of life expectancy of the insured and the discount rate. The use of different assumptions and/or estimation methodologies could have a material effect on the
estimated fair values.
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During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company changed its valuation technique by adopting the 2015 VBT, smoker and gender distinct tables, to
determine the value of the life insurance policies pledged as collateral in the facility. The table shows lower mortality rates in the earlier select periods at most
ages, so while the Company continues to fit the life expectancies from the LE providers to the 2015 VBT, the change in the mortality curve changes the timing of
the Company’s expected cash flow streams, which resulted in an increase in projected borrowings.
Life expectancy sensitivity analysis of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility
A considerable portion of the fair value of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility is determined by the timing of receipt of future policy proceeds. Should
life expectancies lengthen such that policy proceeds are collected further into the future, the fair value of this debt will decline. Conversely, should life
expectancies shorten, the fair value of this debt will increase. Considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop the estimates of fair
value.
If all of the insured lives in the life settlement portfolio pledged under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility live six months shorter or longer than the
life expectancies used to calculate the estimated fair value of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility debt, the change in estimated fair value would be as
follows (dollars in thousands):
Fair Value of White
Eagle
Revolving Credit
Facility

Life Expectancy Months Adjustment

+6
-6

Change in Value

$

262,635

$

$

304,874

$

(42,239)
—

$

354,520

$

49,646

Future changes in the life expectancies could have a material effect on the fair value of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, which could have a
material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations.
Discount rate of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility
The discount rate incorporates current information about market interest rates, credit exposure to insurance companies and the Company’s estimate of the
return a lender lending against the policies would require.
Market interest rate sensitivity analysis of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility
The extent to which the fair value of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility could vary in the near term has been quantified by evaluating the effect of
changes in the weighted average discount. If the weighted average discount rate were increased or decreased by 1/2 of 1% and the other assumptions used to
estimate fair value remained the same, the change in estimated fair value of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility as of June 30, 2017 would be as follows
(dollars in thousands):

Discount Rate

Rate Adjustment

Fair Value of White Eagle
Revolving Credit
Facility

Change in Value

17.81%

-0.50 %

$

312,239

$

18.31%

—

$

304,874

$

18.81%

+0.50 %

$

297,794

$

7,365
—
(7,080)

Future changes in the discount rates could have a material effect on the fair value of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, which could have a material
adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of its operations.
At June 30, 2017, the fair value of the debt was $304.9 million and the outstanding principal was approximately $299.1 million.
Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility — During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company terminated the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility and
repaid all outstanding principal and interest. At December 31, 2016, all policies that were
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pledged by Red Falcon to serve as collateral for its obligations under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility were sold to White Eagle.
Prior to the Facility Termination, proceeds from the policies pledged as collateral under the Red Falcon Credit Facility were distributed pursuant to a
waterfall with, subject to yield maintenance provisions, 5% of policy proceeds directed to the lenders. Thereafter proceeds were directed to pay fees to service
providers and premiums with any remaining proceeds directed to pay outstanding interest and required amortization of 8% per annum on the loan. Generally,
after payment of interest and required amortization, a percentage of the collections from policy proceeds were to be paid to the lenders to repay the then
outstanding principal balance, which varied depending on the then loan to value ratio as more fully described in Note 10,"Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility."
The Company had elected to account for this long-term debt using the fair value method. The fair value of the debt is the amount the Company would have to
pay to transfer the debt to a market participant in an orderly transaction. The Company calculated the fair value of the debt using a discounted cash flow model
taking into account the stated interest rate of the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility and probabilistic cash flows from the pledged policies. Accordingly, the
Company’s estimates were not necessarily indicative of the amounts that the Company, or holders of the instruments, could realize in a current market
exchange. The most significant assumptions were the estimates of life expectancy of the insured and the discount rate. The use of different
assumptions and/or estimation methodologies could have a material effect on the estimated fair values.
During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company changed its valuation technique by adopting the 2015 VBT, smoker and gender distinct tables, to
determine the value of the life insurance policies pledged as collateral in the facility. The table shows lower mortality rates in the earlier select periods at most
ages, so while the Company continues to fit the life expectancies from the LE providers to the 2015 VBT, the change in the mortality curve changes the timing of
the Company’s expected cash flow streams, which resulted in an increase in projected borrowings.
Convertible Notes—The Company determined that an embedded conversion option in the Convertible Notes was required to be separately accounted for
as a derivative under Accounting Standards Codification 815, Derivatives and Hedging ("ASC 815"). ASC 815 required the Company to bifurcate the embedded
conversion option and record it as a liability at fair value and reduce the debt liability by a corresponding discount of an equivalent amount. The Company used a
Black Scholes pricing model that incorporates present valuation techniques and reflect both the time value and the intrinsic value of the embedded conversion
option to approximate the fair value of the conversion derivative liability at the end of each reporting period. This model required assumptions as to expected
volatility, dividends, terms, and risk free rates.
In accordance with ASC 815, upon receipt of shareholder approval the Company reclassified the embedded derivative to stockholders’ equity along with
unamortized transaction costs proportionate to the allocation of the initial debt discount and the principal amount of the Convertible Notes. The Convertible
Notes continue to be recorded at accreted value up to the par value of the Convertible Notes at maturity. See Note 11, "8.50% Senior Unsecured Convertible
Notes," of the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Although the Company believes its valuation method is appropriate, the use of different
methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value could result in different fair values.
Changes in Fair Value
The following table provides a roll-forward in the changes in fair value for the six months ended June 30, 2017 , for all life settlement assets for which the
Company determines fair value using a material level of unobservable (Level 3) inputs, which consists solely of life settlements (in thousands):
Life Settlements:
Balance, January 1, 2017

$

498,400

Purchase of policies

—

Change in fair value

28,922

Matured/lapsed/sold policies

(43,073)

Premiums paid

42,033

Transfers into level 3

—

Transfer out of level 3
Balance, June 30, 2017

$

526,282

—

Changes in fair value included in earnings for the period relating to assets held at June 30, 2017

$

9,730
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The following table provides a roll-forward in the changes in fair value for the six months ended June 30, 2017 , for the White Eagle Revolving Credit
Facility for which the Company determines fair value using a material level of unobservable (Level 3) inputs (in thousands):
White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility:
Balance, January 1, 2017
Draws under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility

$

257,085
43,399

Payments on White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility

(5,656)

Unrealized change in fair value

10,046

Transfers into level 3

—

Transfer out of level 3

—

Balance, June 30, 2017

$

304,874

Changes in fair value included in earnings for period relating to liabilities held at June 30, 2017

$

10,046

The following table provides a roll-forward in the changes in fair value for the six months ended June 30, 2016 , for all assets for which the Company
determines fair value using a material level of unobservable (Level 3) inputs, which consists solely of life settlements (in thousands):
Life Settlements:
Balance, January 1, 2016

$

461,925

Purchase of policies

16

Retained death benefits acquisitions

1,374

Change in fair value

(7,425)

Matured/sold policies

(17,180)

Premiums paid

34,336

Transfers into level 3

—

Transfers out of level 3

—

Balance, June 30, 2016

$

473,046

Changes in fair value included in earnings for the period relating to assets held at June 30, 2016

$

(18,182)

The following table provides a roll-forward in the changes in fair value for the six months ended June 30, 2016 , for the White Eagle Revolving Credit
Facility for which the Company determines fair value using a material level of unobservable (Level 3) inputs (in thousands):
White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility:
Balance, January 1, 2016

$

Draws under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility

169,131
25,587

Payments on White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility

(7,952)

Unrealized change in fair value

(14,405)

Transfers into level 3

—

Transfer out of level 3
Balance, June 30, 2016

$

172,361

—

Changes in fair value included in earnings for the period relating to liabilities at June 30, 2016

$

(14,405)

The following table provides a roll-forward in the changes in fair value for the six months ended June 30, 2016 , for the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility
for which the Company determines fair value using a material level of unobservable (Level 3) inputs (in thousands):
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Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility
Balance, January 1, 2016

$

55,658

Draws under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility

8,603

Payments on Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility

(8,014)

Unrealized change in fair value

(1,165)

Transfers into level 3

—

Transfer out of level 3
Balance, June 30, 2016

$

55,082

—

Changes in fair value included in earnings for the period relating to liabilities held at June 30, 2016

$

(1,165)

There were no transfers of financial assets or liabilities between levels of the fair value hierarchy during the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016.
Other Fair Value Considerations - Carrying value of certificate of deposits, prepaid expenses and other assets, receivable for maturity of life settlements,
investment in affiliates, Senior Secured Notes, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value due to their short-term maturities and/or low
credit risk.
(15) Segment Information
On October 25, 2013, the Company sold its structured settlement business, which was previously reported as an operating segment. The operating results
related to the Company’s structured settlement business have been included in discontinued operations in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of
Operations for all periods presented and the Company has discontinued segment reporting. See Note 7 "Discontinued Operations" to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
(16) Commitments and Contingencies
Lease Agreements
The Company leases office space under a lease that commenced on October 1, 2014. The lease expires on September 30, 2020. The annual base rent is
$239,000, with a provision for a 3% increase on each anniversary of the rent commencement date. Rent expense was approximately $106,000 and $103,000 for
the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Future minimum lease payments for the remainder of 2017 are approximately $121,000.
Employment Agreements
The Company has entered into employment agreements with certain of its officers, including with its chief executive officer, whose agreement provides for
substantial payments in the event that the executive terminates his employment with the Company due to a material change in the geographic location where
the chief executive officer performs his duties or upon a material diminution of his base salary or responsibilities, with or without cause. These payments are
equal to three times the sum of the chief executive officer’s base salary and the average of the preceding three years’ annual cash bonus.
The Company does not have any general policies regarding the use of employment agreements, but has and may, from time to time, enter into such a
written agreement to reflect the terms and conditions of employment of a particular named executive officer, whether at the time of hire or thereafter.
Separation Agreement
On April 26, 2012, the Company entered into a Separation Agreement and General Release of Claims (the "Separation Agreement") with its former chief
operating officer, Jonathan Neuman. The Separation Agreement obligates the Company to indemnify Mr. Neuman for his legal expenses. The Company
recognized indemnification expenses of $0 and $251,000 during the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Litigation
In accordance with applicable accounting guidance, the Company establishes an accrued liability for litigation and regulatory matters when those matters
present loss contingencies that are both probable and estimable. In such cases, there may
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be an exposure to loss in excess of any amounts accrued. When a loss contingency is not both probable and estimable, the Company does not establish an
accrued liability. As a litigation or regulatory matter develops, the Company, in conjunction with any outside counsel handling the matter, evaluates on an ongoing
basis whether such matter presents a loss contingency that is probable and estimable. If, at the time of evaluation, the loss contingency related to a litigation or
regulatory matter is not both probable and estimable, the matter will continue to be monitored for further developments that would make such loss contingency
both probable and estimable. When a loss contingency related to a litigation or regulatory matter is deemed to be both probable and estimable, the Company will
establish an accrued liability with respect to such loss contingency and record a corresponding amount of litigation-related expense. The Company will then
continue to monitor the matter for further developments that could affect the amount of any such accrued liability.
Sun Life
On April 18, 2013, Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada ("Sun Life") filed a complaint against the Company and several of its affiliates in the United
States District Court for the Southern District of Florida, entitled Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada v. Imperial Holdings, Inc., et al . ("Sun Life Case"),
asserting, among other things, that at least 28 life insurance policies issued by Sun Life and owned by the Company through certain of its subsidiary companies
were invalid. The Sun Life complaint, as amended, asserted the following claims: (1) violations of the federal Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations
("RICO") Act, (2) conspiracy to violate the RICO Act, (3) common law fraud, (4) aiding and abetting fraud, (5) civil conspiracy to commit fraud, (6) tortious
interference with contractual obligations, and (7) a declaration that the policies issued were void. Following the filing of a motion by the Company to dismiss the
Sun Life Case, on December 9, 2014, counts (2), (4), (5), (6) and (7) of the Sun Life Case were dismissed with prejudice. The Company then filed a motion for
summary judgment on the remaining counts. On February 4, 2015, the Court issued an order (the "Order") granting the Company’s motion for summary
judgment on counts (1) and (3), resulting in the Company prevailing on all counts in the Sun Life Case.
On July 29, 2013, the Company filed a separate complaint against Sun Life in United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida, entitled
Imperial Premium Finance, LLC v. Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada ("Imperial Case"), which was subsequently consolidated with the Sun Life Case.
The Imperial complaint asserts claims against Sun Life for breach of contract, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and fraud, and seeks a
judgment declaring that Sun Life is obligated to comply with the promises made by it in certain insurance policies. The complaint also seeks compensatory
damages of no less than $30.0 million in addition to an award of punitive damages. On August 23, 2013, Sun Life moved to dismiss the complaint, which was
denied by the Court as part of the Order. On February 26, 2015, Sun Life filed a Notice of Appeal from the Order to the United States Court of Appeals for the
Eleventh Circuit, which had denied Sun Life’s motion to dismiss. On December 17, 2015, after the matter was fully briefed, the Circuit Court issued an order
granting the Company’s motion to dismiss and sent the case back to the District Court. The District Court lifted the stay and ordered Sun Life to file its Answer to
the Imperial Case by January 22, 2016. On February 3, 2016, the District Court set a trial date of the Imperial Case for October 31, 2016.
On September 22, 2016, the Court granted summary judgment in favor of Sun Life on the entirety of the Imperial complaint and subsequently entered final
judgment to end the case. After denial of its motion to alter or amend the judgment, the Company filed a notice of appeal on January 12, 2017. Sun Life filed its
notice of appeal on January 24, 2017. The Company and Sun Life have requested oral argument after their respective briefs have been filed with the Eleventh
Circuit Court of Appeals.
Other Litigation
The Company is party to various other legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business. Due to the inherent difficulty of predicting the
outcome of litigation and other legal proceedings, the Company cannot predict the eventual outcome of these matters, and it is reasonably possible that some of
them could be resolved unfavorably to the Company. As a result, it is possible that the Company’s results of operations or cash flows in a particular fiscal period
could be materially affected by an unfavorable resolution of pending litigation or contingencies. However, the Company believes that the resolution of these other
proceedings will not, based on information currently available, have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.
(17) Stockholders’ Equity
During the second quarter of 2015, the Company issued 6,688,433 shares of common stock pursuant to a rights offering at a price of $5.75 per share.
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In connection with the settlement of class litigation, the Company issued warrants to purchase two million shares of the Company’s stock into an escrow
account in April 2014 and were distributed in October 2014. The estimated fair value at the measurement date of such warrants was $5.4 million, which is
included in stockholder’s equity. The warrants have a five-year term from the date of their distribution with an exercise price of $10.75. The Company is obligated
to file a registration statement to register the shares underlying the warrants with the SEC if shares of the Company’s common stock have an average daily
trading closing price of at least $8.50 per share for a 45 day period. The warrants will be exercisable upon effectiveness of the registration statement.
The Company has reserved an aggregate of 12,600,000 shares of common stock under its Omnibus Plan, of which 605,227 options to purchase shares of
common stock granted to existing employees were outstanding as of June 30, 2017, and 116,871 shares of restricted stock had been granted to directors under
the plan with 265,212 shares subject to vesting. There were 11,612,690 securities remaining for future issuance under the Omnibus Plan as of June 30, 2017.
On September 1, 2015, the Company announced that its Board of Directors authorized a $10.0 million share and note repurchase program. The program
has a two-year expiration date, and authorizes the Company to repurchase up to $10.0 million of its common stock and/or its Convertible Notes due 2019.
During 2015, the Company purchased 608,000 shares for a total cost of approximately $2.5 million, which is an average cost of $4.17 per share, including
transaction fees. There were no purchases during three months ended June 30, 2017 . As of June 30, 2017, the Company may purchase up to approximately
$7.5 million of additional common stock or Convertible Notes under its board authorized plan. However, the Company's 15.0% Senior Secured Notes restrict the
Company from repurchasing its common stock if the Company has less than $20 million in cash and cash equivalents.
On March 14, 2016, the Company filed a prospectus supplement with the SEC related to the offer and sale from time to time of the Company's common
stock at an aggregate offering price of up to $50.0 million through FBR Capital Markets & Co. and MLV & Co. LLC, as distribution agents. Sales of shares of the
Company's common stock under the prospectus supplement and the equity distribution agreement entered into with the distribution agents, if any, may be made
in negotiated transactions or transactions that are deemed to be "at the market" offerings as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933. The Company
has agreed to pay the distribution agents a commission rate of up to 3% of the gross proceeds from the sale of any shares of common stock sold through the
equity distribution agreement. During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company sold 628,309 shares of common stock under this prospectus
supplement at a weighted average price per share of $3.00, receiving proceeds net of commissions totaling approximately $1.8 million. Approximately $56,600
in commissions were paid in connection with the sales of shares.
On March 15, 2017 and May 12, 2017, the Company entered into a series of separate Master Transaction Agreements (together, the "Master Transaction
Agreements") by and between the Company, PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited liability company ("PJC"), and each Consenting Convertible Note Holder
that is a party to one or more Master Transaction Agreements ("Consenting Holders") regarding a series of integrated transactions with the intent to effect a
recapitalization of the Company (the "Transaction"), which included an Amendment to the Company’s Articles of Incorporation (the "Articles Amendment") to
increase the number of authorized shares of the Company's common stock, $0.01 par value (the "Common Stock"), a Common Stock Purchase Agreement, a
Convertible Note Exchange Offer, a New Convertible Note Indenture providing for the issuance of New Convertible Notes, a Senior Note Exchange Offer, a New
Senior Note Indenture providing for the issuance of New Senior Notes, a Senior Note Purchase Agreement, Warrants and certain other agreements and
documents to be delivered in connection with the Transaction (each as defined in the Master Transaction Agreements, and together with the Master Transaction
Agreements, the "Transaction Documents"). The Master Transaction Agreements and the transactions contemplated under the Master Transaction Agreements
were unanimously approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on March 13, 2017.
Subsequent Events
Master Transaction Agreements
On July 28, 2017, the Company consummated a series of integrated transactions to effect a recapitalization of the Company (the "Transaction Closing")
pursuant to the Master Transaction Agreements.
Common Stock Purchase Agreement
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company entered into a Common Stock Purchase Agreement (the "Stock Purchase Agreement") by and
among the Company, PJC, certain investors jointly designated by PJC and Triax Capital Advisors LLC, a New York limited liability company ("Triax"), to be party
to the Stock Purchase Agreement (collectively, the "Common
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Stock Investors"), and certain Convertible Note Holders that were a party to the Stock Purchase Agreement (collectively, the "Convertible Note Holder
Purchasers," and together with PJC and the Common Stock Investors, the "Purchasers"). Pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, the Company issued and
sold to the Purchasers 115,000,000 shares (the "Stock Purchase Agreement Shares") of the Company’s common stock, $0.01 par value (the "Common Stock"),
at a price of $0.20 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $23.0 million, of which PJC and the Common Stock Investors purchased 75,000,000 Stock
Purchase Agreement Shares for an aggregate purchase price of $15.0 million and the Convertible Note Holder Purchasers, pursuant to the previously
announced rights offering which expired on July 26, 2017, purchased 40,000,000 Stock Purchase Agreement Shares for an aggregate purchase price of $8.0
million, of which PJC purchased 19,320,038 shares in connection with the exercise of rights assigned to it by certain Convertible Note Holder Purchasers. The
Stock Purchase Agreement contained customary representations, warranties, and covenants.
Common Stock Purchase Warrants
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company issued Common Stock Purchase Warrants (the "Warrants") to certain investors jointly designated
by PJC and Triax (collectively, the "Warrant Investors") to purchase up to an aggregate of 42,500,000 shares of the Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.20
per share (the "Warrant Shares").
The Warrants shall vest and become exercisable as follows: (i) with respect to 17,500,000 Warrant Shares, immediately upon the issuance of the Warrants,
and (ii) with respect to the remaining 25,000,000 Warrant Shares, at later times tied to the conversion of Convertible Notes (as defined below) and New
Convertible Notes (as defined below) outstanding upon the Transaction Closing into shares of Common Stock or, if earlier, upon the date that all Convertible
Notes or New Convertible Notes are no longer outstanding. The Warrants have an eight year term. The number of Warrant Shares is subject to anti-dilution
adjustment provisions.
Articles Amendment
Effective on July 17, 2017, the Company filed an Articles of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation (the "Articles Amendment") to increase the authorized
Common Stock from 80,000,000 shares to 415,000,000 shares. As previously disclosed, the Articles Amendment was approved by the Company’s
shareholders at the Company’s 2017 Annual Meeting. The adoption of the Articles Amendment results in a greater number of shares of Common Stock
available for issuance.
Changes in Control of Registrant
As a result of the consummation of the Master Transaction Agreements, on the date of the Transaction Closing, a change in control of the Company
occurred. PJC and Triax, together with certain of their affiliates, acquired beneficial ownership of approximately 38.9% of the outstanding Common Stock, based
on their aggregate acquisition of 39,320,038 shares of Common Stock and warrants to purchase 27,150,000 shares of Common Stock. Other investors
designated by PJC and Triax acquired beneficial ownership of approximately 43.6% of the outstanding Common Stock, based on their aggregate acquisition of
55,000,000 shares of Common Stock and warrants to purchase 13,350,000 shares of Common Stock. Additionally, PJC and Triax designated two of seven
directors to the Company’s Board, two other investors designated a third new director and a fourth new director, and a fifth new director was designated by a
holder of New Convertible Notes, collectively resulting in a change in the majority of the Company’s Board.
Securities Purchase Agreement
On August 11, 2017, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the "Securities Purchase Agreement") by and between the Company
and Brennan Opportunities Fund I LP ("Brennan"). Pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, Brennan purchased from the Company (i) 12,500,000
shares (the "Brennan Shares") of Common Stock at a price of $0.40 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $5.0 million and (ii) $5.0 million principal
amount of the Company’s New Senior Secured Notes (the "Brennan Notes," and together with the Brennan Shares, the "Brennan Securities"). The Securities
Purchase Agreement contained customary representations, warranties, and covenants.
The sale of the Brennan Securities was consummated on August 11, 2017, as to 8,750,000 shares of Common Stock and $3.5 million principal amount of
New Senior Secured Notes, and on August 14, 2017, as to 3,750,000 shares of Common Stock and $1.5 million principal amount of New Senior Secured Notes.
See Note 19 "Subsequent Events," of the accompanying financial statements for additional information.
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(18) Income Taxes
The Company’s provision for income taxes from continuing operations is estimated to result in an annual effective tax rate of approximately 0.0% for the six
month period ended June 30, 2017 and in 2016, respectively. The Company’s quarterly effective income tax rates are based upon the Company’s current
estimated annual rate. The Company’s annual effective income tax rate varies based upon the Company’s taxable earnings, as well as on a mix of taxable
earnings in the various state and foreign jurisdictions.
Based on the Company's evaluation, a deferred tax valuation allowance was established against its net deferred tax assets. In its evaluation, management
considers taxable loss carryback availability, expectations of sufficient future taxable income, trends in earnings, existence of taxable income in recent years,
the future reversal of temporary differences, and available tax planning strategies that could be implemented, if required. Valuation allowances are established
based on the consideration of all available evidence using a more likely than not standard. This valuation allowance was determined to be necessary as an
offset to the full amount of the federal and state deferred tax asset. During the six month period ended June 30, 2017 , the Company does not expect that
position to change and therefore is not recording any benefit.
The Company and its subsidiary companies are subject to U.S. federal income tax, as well as to income tax in Florida and other states and foreign
jurisdictions in which it operates.
Subsequent Event
Special Dividend Note
Effective July 28, 2017, Lamington Road Limited, an Irish section 110 limited company and an indirect subsidiary of the Company ("Lamington"), issued a
promissory note to Markley Asset Portfolio, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and an indirect subsidiary of the Company ("Markley"), in a principal
amount of $57.0 million. The amount represents distributions of earnings from Lamington's share of profits of White Eagle, to satisfy the Profit Participation Note
issued by Markley to Lamington Road (the "Special Dividend Note"). Management is currently evaluating the extent to which U.S. cash taxes will result from the
transaction. The Special Dividend Note matures on July 28, 2027. Advances under the Special Dividend Note bear interest at an annual rate of 5.0%. The
transaction will be eliminated in consolidation.
(19) Subsequent Events
Master Transaction Agreements
On July 28, 2017, the Company consummated a series of integrated transactions to effect a recapitalization of the Company (the "Transaction Closing")
pursuant to the Master Transaction Agreements.
Common Stock Purchase Agreement
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company entered into a Common Stock Purchase Agreement (the "Stock Purchase Agreement") by and
among the Company, PJC, certain investors jointly designated by PJC and Triax Capital Advisors LLC, a New York limited liability company ("Triax"), to be party
to the Stock Purchase Agreement (collectively, the "Common Stock Investors"), and certain Convertible Note Holders that were a party to the Stock Purchase
Agreement (collectively, the "Convertible Note Holder Purchasers," and together with PJC and the Common Stock Investors, the "Purchasers"). Pursuant to the
Stock Purchase Agreement, the Company issued and sold to the Purchasers 115,000,000 shares (the "Stock Purchase Agreement Shares") of the Company’s
common stock, $0.01 par value (the "Common Stock"), at a price of $0.20 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $23.0 million, of which PJC and the
Common Stock Investors purchased 75,000,000 Stock Purchase Agreement Shares for an aggregate purchase price of $15.0 million and the Convertible Note
Holder Purchasers, pursuant to the previously announced rights offering which expired on July 26, 2017, purchased 40,000,000 Stock Purchase Agreement
Shares for an aggregate purchase price of $8.0 million, of which PJC purchased 19,320,038 shares in connection with the exercise of rights assigned to it by
certain Convertible Note Holder Purchasers. The Stock Purchase Agreement contained customary representations, warranties, and covenants.
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Common Stock Purchase Warrants
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company issued Common Stock Purchase Warrants (the "Warrants") to certain investors jointly designated
by PJC and Triax (collectively, the "Warrant Investors") to purchase up to an aggregate of 42,500,000 shares of the Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.20
per share (the "Warrant Shares").
The Warrants shall vest and become exercisable as follows: (i) with respect to 17,500,000 Warrant Shares, immediately upon the issuance of the Warrants,
and (ii) with respect to the remaining 25,000,000 Warrant Shares, at later times tied to the conversion of Convertible Notes (as defined below) and New
Convertible Notes (as defined below) outstanding upon the Transaction Closing into shares of Common Stock or, if earlier, upon the date that all Convertible
Notes or New Convertible Notes are no longer outstanding. The Warrants have an eight year term. The number of Warrant Shares is subject to anti-dilution
adjustment provisions.
Convertible Note Exchange Offer
On July 26, 2017, the Company’s offer to exchange its outstanding $74.2 million aggregate principal amount of 8.5% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes
due 2019 (the "Convertible Notes") for its 5% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes due 2023 (the "New Convertible Notes") expired (the "Convertible Note
Exchange Offer"). At least 98% of the holders of the Convertible Notes tendered in the Convertible Note Exchange Offer.
Second Supplemental Indenture for Convertible Notes
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company entered into a supplemental indenture (the "Supplemental Indenture") to that certain Indenture
dated February 21, 2014 between the Company and U.S. Bank, National Association, as indenture trustee (as amended and supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time, the "Convertible Notes Indenture") governing the Convertible Notes. The purpose of the Supplemental Indenture was to eliminate substantially
all of the restrictive covenants, eliminate certain events of default, eliminate the covenant restricting mergers and consolidations and modify certain provisions
relating to defeasance contained in the Convertible Notes Indenture and the Convertible Notes (collectively, the "Proposed Amendments") promptly after the
receipt of the requisite consents for the Proposed Amendments.
New Convertible Note Indenture and New Convertible Notes
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company caused to be issued the New Convertible Notes in an aggregate amount of approximately $75.8
million pursuant to an Indenture (the "New Convertible Note Indenture") between the Company and U.S. Bank, National Association, as indenture trustee. The
terms of the New Convertible Notes are governed by the New Convertible Note Indenture, which provides, among other things, that the New Convertible Notes
are unsecured senior obligations of the Company and will mature on February 15, 2023. The New Convertible Notes bear interest at a rate of 5% per annum
from the issue date, payable semi-annually on August 15 and February 15 of each year, beginning on August 15, 2017.
Holders of New Convertible Notes may convert their New Convertible Notes at their option on any day prior to the close of business on the second
scheduled trading day immediately preceding February 15, 2023. Upon conversion, the Company will deliver shares of Common Stock, together with any cash
payment for any fractional share of Common Stock. The initial conversion rate for the New Convertible Notes will be (x) 500 shares of Common Stock per $1,000
principal amount of New Convertible Notes (for New Convertible Notes denominated in $1,000 increments) and (y) 0.5 shares of Common Stock per $1.00
principal amount of New Convertible Notes (for New Convertible Notes denominated in $1.00 increments). The conversion rate will be subject to adjustment in
certain circumstances.
The Company may redeem, in whole but not in part, the New Convertible Notes at a redemption price of 100% of the principal amount of the New
Convertible Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest, if any, if and only if the last reported sale price of the Common Stock
equals or exceeds 120% of the conversion price for at least 15 trading days in any period of 30 consecutive trading days. The Company may, at its election, pay
or deliver as the case may be, to all Holders of the New Convertible Notes, either (a) solely cash, (b) solely shares of Common Stock, or (c) a combination of
cash and shares of Common Stock.
The New Convertible Note Indenture provides for customary events of default, which include (subject in certain cases to customary grace and cure periods),
among others: nonpayment of principal or interest; breach of covenants or other agreements in the New Convertible Note Indenture; defaults or failure to pay
certain other indebtedness; and certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency. Generally, if an event of default occurs and is continuing under the New Convertible
Note Indenture, the trustee
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or the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the New Convertible Notes then outstanding may declare all unpaid principal plus accrued
interest on the New Convertible Notes immediately due and payable, subject to certain conditions set forth in the New Convertible Note Indenture. In addition,
holders of the New Convertible Notes may require the Company to repurchase the New Convertible Notes upon the occurrence of certain designated events at
a repurchase price of 100% of the principal amount of the New Convertible Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest.
Senior Secured Note Purchase Agreement
In connection with the Transaction Closing, PJC, certain investors jointly designated by PJC and Triax (the “Note Purchase Investors”) and holders (the
"Senior Secured Note Holders") representing 100% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Company’s 15.0% Senior Secured Notes entered into a
Note Purchase Agreement (the "Note Purchase Agreement"). Pursuant to the Note Purchase Agreement, the Note Purchase Investors purchased 100% of the
15.0% Senior Secured Notes held by each Senior Secured Note Holder for an aggregate purchase price equal to the face amount of such purchased 15.0%
Senior Secured Notes. The Note Purchase Agreement contained customary representations, warranties, and covenants.
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company paid each Senior Secured Note Holder 5% of the face amount of the 15.0% Senior Secured
Notes held by such Senior Secured Note Holder as of immediately prior to the Transaction Closing, plus all accrued but unpaid interest of such 15.0% Senior
Secured Notes through the date of the Transaction Closing, pursuant to that certain Exchange Participation Agreement dated April 7, 2017 among the Company
and Senior Secured Note Holders representing 100% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes.
New Senior Secured Note Indenture and New Senior Secured Notes
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as indenture trustee (the "Senior Secured Note
Trustee") entered into an Amended and Restated Senior Secured Note Indenture (the "New Senior Secured Indenture") to amend and restate the Indenture
dated as of March 11, 2016 (as amended and supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the "Senior Secured Indenture") between the Company and
the Senior Secured Note Trustee following the Company’s receipt of requisite consents of the holders of the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes. Pursuant to the
terms of the New Senior Secured Indenture, the Company caused the cancellation of all outstanding 15.0% Senior Secured Notes and the issuance of 8.5%
Senior Secured Notes due 2021 (the "New Senior Secured Notes") in an aggregate amount of $30.0 million. The New Senior Secured Indenture provides,
among other things, that the New Senior Secured Notes will be secured senior obligations of the Company and will mature on July 15, 2021. The New Senior
Secured Notes will bear interest at a rate of 8.5% per annum, payable quarterly on March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning
on September 15, 2017.
The New Senior Secured Indenture provides that the New Senior Secured Notes may be optionally redeemed in full by the Company at any time and must
be redeemed in full upon additional issuances of debt by the Company in each case, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount redeemed plus (i) accrued
and unpaid interest on the New Senior Secured Notes redeemed up to the date of redemption, and (ii) the Applicable Premium, if any, as defined in the New
Senior Secured Indenture. Upon a change of control, the Company will be required to make an offer to holders of the New Senior Secured Notes to repurchase
the New Senior Secured Notes at a price equal to 107.5% of their principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest up to the date of redemption.
The New Senior Secured Indenture contains negative covenants restricting additional debt incurred by the Company, creation of liens on the collateral
securing the New Senior Secured Notes, and restrictions on dividends and stock repurchases, among other things. The New Senior Secured Notes are secured
by settlement proceeds, if any, received from certain litigation involving the Company, certain notes issued to the Company, and pledges of 65% of the equity
interests in Blue Heron Designated Activity Company, OLIPP IV, LLC and Red Reef Alternative Investments, LLC.
The New Senior Secured Indenture provides for customary events of default which include (subject in certain cases to customary grace and cure periods),
among others: nonpayment of principal or interest; breach of covenants or other agreements in the New Senior Secured Indenture; defaults in failure to pay
certain other indebtedness; and certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency. Generally, if an event of default occurs and is continuing under the New Senior
Secured Indenture, the trustee or the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the New Senior Secured Notes then outstanding may declare the
principal of and accrued but unpaid interest, plus a premium, if any, on all the New Senior Secured Notes immediately due and payable, subject to certain
conditions set forth in the New Senior Secured Indenture.
Special Dividend Note
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In connection with the Transaction Closing, Lamington Road Designated Activity Company, an Irish section 110 company and an indirect subsidiary of the
Company ("Lamington"), issued a promissory note to Markley Asset Portfolio, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and an indirect subsidiary of the
Company ("Markley), in a principal amount of $57.0 million. The amount represents distributions of earnings from Lamington's share of profits of White Eagle, to
satisfy the Profit Participation Note issued by Markley to Lamington (the "Special Dividend Note"). Management is currently evaluating the extent to which U.S.
cash taxes will result from the transaction. The Special Dividend Note matures on July 28, 2027. Advances under the Special Dividend Note bear interest at an
annual rate of 5.0%. The transaction will be eliminated in consolidation.
Registration Rights Agreement
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company entered into a Registration Rights Agreement (the "Registration Rights Agreement") with the
Common Stock Investors, the Warrant Investors, the Convertible Note Holder Purchasers and each such holder of the Company’s New Convertible Notes that is
a party to the Registration Rights Agreement (the "New Convertible Note Holders"). Pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement, the Company is required to
register the resale of the Stock Purchase Agreement Shares , Warrant Shares, the New Convertible Notes and the shares of Common Stock issued or issuable
upon conversion of the New Convertible Notes in accordance with the terms of the New Convertible Notes Indenture (collectively, the "Registrable Securities").
Under the Registration Rights Agreement, the Company will be required to prepare and file a shelf registration statement with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the "SEC") within 60 days of the Transaction Closing, and to use its best efforts to have the registration statement declared effective upon the
earliest to occur of (i) the date that is 120 days after the Transaction Closing, (ii) the date that is two (2) business days after the date that the SEC communicates
to the Company that it has no comments to the registration statement, and (iii) the date that is two (2) business days after the date that the SEC communicates to
the Company that all comments with respect to the registration statement have been resolved. Pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement, the Company
must use all commercially reasonable efforts to keep the registration statement continuously effective until the date when all of the Registrable Securities
covered by such registration statement have been sold. The Registration Rights Agreement also contains piggyback registration rights in favor of the Common
Stock Investors, Convertible Note Holder Purchasers and the New Convertibles Note Holders and customary indemnification provisions.
Board Designation Agreements
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company entered into a series of separate Board Designation Agreements (collectively, the "Board
Designation Agreements") with each of (i) Evermore Global Advisors, LLC ("Evermore"), (ii) PJC and JSARCo, LLC (the "Board Rights Investors"), (iii) Opal
Sheppard Opportunities Fund I LP ("Opal Sheppard"), (iv) Ironsides P Fund L.P. and Ironsides Partners Special Situations Master Fund II L.P. (together with
Ironsides P Fund L.P., the "Ironsides Funds") and (v) Nantahala Capital Management, LLC ("Nantahala").
Pursuant to the Board Designation Agreement with Evermore (the "Evermore Designation Agreement"), subject to the terms and conditions set forth
therein, Evermore shall have the right to designate one director to the Company’s Board of Directors (the "Board") whom the Board must add as a director of the
Company contemporaneously with the Transaction Closing. At each meeting of the Company’s shareholders at which the election of directors is to be
considered and Evermore holds the requisite Minimum Percentage (as defined in the Evermore Designation Agreement), Evermore shall have the right to
designate one nominee whom the Board must nominate for election at such meeting.
Pursuant to the Board Designation Agreement with the Board Rights Investors (the "Investor Designation Agreement"), subject to the terms and conditions
set forth therein, the Board Rights Investors shall have the right to designate three directors to the Board whom the Board must add as directors of the Company
contemporaneously with the Transaction Closing, one of which shall be designated pursuant to the Opal Sheppard Agreement. At each meeting of the
Company’s shareholders at which the election of directors is to be considered and the Board Rights Investors hold the requisite Minimum Percentage (as defined
in the Investor Designation Agreement), the Board Rights Investors shall have the right to designate three nominees whom the Board must nominate for election
at such meeting, one of which shall be designated pursuant to the Opal Sheppard Agreement so long as the Opal Sheppard Agreement is in effect.
Pursuant to the Board Designation Agreement with Opal Sheppard (the "Opal Sheppard Designation Agreement"), subject to the terms and conditions set
forth therein, Opal Sheppard shall have the right to designate one director to the Company’s Board of Directors (the "Board") whom the Board must add as a
director of the Company contemporaneously with the Transaction Closing. At each meeting of the Company’s shareholders at which the election of directors is to
be considered, so long as the Board Rights Investors have the right to three designees and Opal Sheppard holds the requisite Minimum
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Percentage (as defined in the Opal Sheppard Designation Agreement), Opal Sheppard shall have the right to designate one nominee whom the Board must
nominate for election at such meeting.
Pursuant to the Board Designation Agreement with the Ironsides Funds (the "Ironsides Designation Agreement"), subject to the terms and conditions set
forth therein, the Ironsides Funds shall have the right to designate one director to the Board whom the Board must add as a director of the Company
contemporaneously with the Transaction Closing. At each meeting of the Company’s shareholders at which the election of directors is to be considered and the
Ironsides Funds hold the requisite Specified Percentage (as defined in the Ironsides Designation Agreement), the Ironsides Funds shall have the right to
designate one nominee whom the Board must nominate for election at such meeting.
Pursuant to the Board Designation Agreement with Nantahala (the "Nantahala Designation Agreement"), subject to the terms and conditions set forth
therein, upon the termination of the Ironsides Designation Agreement in accordance with the terms thereof, Nantahala shall have the right to designate one
director to the Board and, at each meeting of the Company’s shareholders at which the election of directors is to be considered and Nantahala holds the requisite
Specified Percentage (as defined in the Nantahala Designation Agreement), Nantahala shall have the right to designate one nominee whom the Board must
nominate for election at such meeting.
Articles Amendment
Effective on July 17, 2017, the Company filed an Articles of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation (the "Articles Amendment") to increase the authorized
Common Stock from 80,000,000 shares to 415,000,000 shares. As previously disclosed, the Articles Amendment was approved by the Company’s
shareholders at the Company’s 2017 Annual Meeting. The adoption of the Articles Amendment results in a greater number of shares of Common Stock
available for issuance.
Changes in Control of Registrant
As a result of the consummation of the Master Transaction Agreements, on the date of the Transaction Closing, a change in control of the Company
occurred. PJC and Triax, together with certain of their affiliates, acquired beneficial ownership of approximately 38.9% of the outstanding Common Stock, based
on their aggregate acquisition of 39,320,038 shares of Common Stock and warrants to purchase 27,150,000 shares of Common Stock. Other investors
designated by PJC and Triax acquired beneficial ownership of approximately 43.6% of the outstanding Common Stock, based on their aggregate acquisition of
55,000,000 shares of Common Stock and warrants to purchase 13,350,000 shares of Common Stock. Additionally, PJC and Triax designated two of seven
directors to the Company’s Board, two other investors designated a third new director and a fourth new director, and a fifth new director was designated by a
holder of New Convertible Notes, collectively resulting in a change in the majority of the Company’s Board.
Departure of Directors or Certain Officers
Effective July 28, 2017, the Company accepted resignations of the following members of the Company’s Board of Directors: James Chadwick, Michael
Crow, Phillip Goldstein, Gerald Hellerman and Gilbert Nathan. There were no disagreements between each of Messrs. Chadwick, Crow, Goldstein, Hellerman,
and Nathan and the Company or any officer or director of the Company.
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company appointed Mr. Patrick J. Curry, Mr. Joseph E. Sarachek, Mr. Matthew T. Epstein, Mr. James Hua
and Mr. Robert Knapp to join the Company’s Board of Directors. Each of Messrs. Curry, Sarachek, Epstein, Hua and Knapp are affiliates of PJC, Triax, a
Common Stock Investor or a Consenting Convertible Note Holder. All such persons were appointed pursuant to the Board Designation Agreements described
above. Prior to the Transaction Closing, none of Messrs. Curry, Sarachek, Epstein, Hua and Knapp were officers and/or directors of the Company, had any
family relationship with any director, executive officer or other director designee of the Company, or held any previous position with the Company nor have they
been involved in any transactions with the Company or any of our directors, executive officers, affiliates or associates that are required to be disclosed pursuant
to the rules and regulations of the SEC.
Reduction in Force
On August 3, 2017 and August 11, 2017, as a reduction in force, the Company reduced its headcount from 20 employees to 12 employees, included in this
reduction in force, were two of the Company’s executive officers - David Sasso, Vice President of Investor Relations and Business Development and Christopher
O’Reilly, General Counsel and Secretary. The Company will incur a onetime severance cost of approximately $1.2 million related to this reduction, for the quarter
ended September 30, 2017, the amounts are being paid over a period of twelve months.
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Termination of Employment Agreement
On August 10, 2017, Antony Mitchell, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, notified the Company of his intention to terminate his employment
agreement with the company, effective as of a date to be determined in accordance with the terms of such agreement.
Securities Purchase Agreement
On August 11, 2017, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the "Securities Purchase Agreement") by and between the Company
and Brennan Opportunities Fund I LP ("Brennan"). Pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, Brennan purchased from the Company (i) 12,500,000
shares (the "Brennan Shares") of Common Stock at a price of $0.40 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $5.0 million and (ii) $5.0 million principal
amount of the Company’s New Senior Secured Notes (the "Brennan Notes," and together with the Brennan Shares, the "Brennan Securities"). The Securities
Purchase Agreement contained customary representations, warranties, and covenants.
The sale of the Brennan Securities was consummated on August 11, 2017, as to 8,750,000 shares of Common Stock and $3.5 million principal amount of
New Senior Secured Notes, and on August 14, 2017, as to 3,750,000 shares of Common Stock and $1.5 million principal amount of New Senior Secured Notes.
Brennan Registration Rights Agreement
On August 11, 2017, the Company entered into a Registration Rights Agreement with Brennan (the "Brennan Registration Rights Agreement"), pursuant to
which the Company is required to register the resale of the Brennan Shares. The Brennan Registration Rights Agreement is substantially similar to the
Registration Rights Agreement entered into in connection with the Transaction Closing.
Item 2.

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion summarizes the significant factors affecting the consolidated operating results, financial condition, liquidity, and cash flows of our
Company as of and for the periods presented below and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and accompanying notes included with this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that are based on the beliefs of our management, as well as assumptions
made by, and information currently available to, our management. Actual results could differ materially from those discussed in or implied by forward-looking
statements as a result of various factors. See "Forward-Looking Statements."
Business Overview
Incorporated in Florida, Emergent Capital owns a portfolio of 614 life insurance policies, also referred to as life settlements, with a fair value of
approximately $526.3 million and an aggregate death benefit of approximately $2.9 billion at June 30, 2017. The Company primarily earns income on its life
insurance policies from changes in their fair value and through death benefits.
The Company has incurred substantial losses and reported negative cash flows from operating activities of $17.0 million for the six months ended June 30,
2017 and $45.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. As of June 30, 2017, we had approximately $22.7 million of cash and cash equivalents and
certificates of deposit of $1.0 million; of this amount, approximately $623,000 is available to pay premiums on the two unencumbered policies and other
overhead expenses, with approximately $22.0 million being restricted by the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility.
Going Concern
The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on its ability to meet its liquidity needs through a combination of the receipt of death
benefits from life insurance policy maturities, borrowings under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, strategic capital market raises, policy sales (subject to
certain asset sale restrictions) and cash on hand. During the six months ended June 30, 2017, the Company entered into certain agreements for the purpose of
recapitalizing the Company, and subsequent to the quarter end, on July 28, 2017 and August 11, 2017, the Company consummated a series of
48

recapitalization transactions, as described below. In considering the cash received from the recapitalization and management's projections for receipts of death
benefits from policy maturities, we estimate that our liquidity and capital resources are sufficient for our current and projected financial needs in excess of twelve
months. Additionally, if we do not receive the projected death benefits as forecasted, the Company projects that it will have available sufficient cash to continue
its operations for at least the next twelve months from the date of filing this Form 10-Q.
On March 15, 2017 and May 12, 2017, the Company entered into a series of separate Master Transaction Agreements (together, the "Master Transaction
Agreements") by and between the Company, PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited liability company ("PJC"), and each Consenting Convertible Note Holder
that is a party to one or more Master Transaction Agreements ("Consenting Holders") regarding a series of integrated transactions with the intent to effect a
recapitalization of the Company (the "Transaction"), which included an Amendment to the Company’s Articles of Incorporation (the "Articles Amendment") to
increase the number of authorized shares of the Company's common stock, $0.01 par value (the "Common Stock"), a Common Stock Purchase Agreement, a
Convertible Note Exchange Offer, a New Convertible Note Indenture providing for the issuance of New Convertible Notes, a Senior Note Exchange Offer, a New
Senior Note Indenture providing for the issuance of New Senior Notes, a Senior Note Purchase Agreement, Warrants and certain other agreements and
documents to be delivered in connection with the Transaction (each as defined in the Master Transaction Agreements, and together with the Master Transaction
Agreements, the "Transaction Documents"). The Master Transaction Agreements and the transactions contemplated under the Master Transaction Agreements
were unanimously approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on March 13, 2017.
On April 7, 2017, the Company entered into a series of amendments to the Master Transaction Agreements (the "MTA Amendments"), which amended each
Master Transaction Agreement made as of March 15, 2017, as amended to date and from time to time, by and between the Company, PJC and the Consenting
Convertible Note Holders party to each Agreement. The modifications as a result of the MTA Amendments are specified below.
On June 19, 2017, the Company entered into a series of amendments to the Master Transaction Agreements, as amended (the "Additional MTA
Amendments"), which amended each Master Transaction Agreement made as of March 15, 2017 and May 12, 2017. The purpose of the Additional MTA
Amendments was to modify the definition of "Investor" and amend the form of warrant attached as Exhibit E to the Master Transaction Agreements (the
"Warrant") to, among other things, contemplate vesting of the Warrant to holders on a pro rata basis. The Additional MTA Amendments also extended the period
by which Consenting Convertible Note Holders must tender into the Convertible Note Exchange Offer.
Under the Master Transaction Agreements, PJC and other parties agreed to certain undertakings, including: (i) PJC or its designees (the "Investors")
purchasing up to 100% of the Company’s Senior Secured Notes from the Consenting Senior Note Holders (as defined herein) pursuant to a Senior Note
Purchase Agreement, (ii) PJC or the Investors purchasing $15.0 million in shares of Common Stock, pursuant to a Common Stock Purchase Agreement, and (iii)
issuance to PJC or the Investors of warrants to purchase up to 42,500,000 shares, as amended, of Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.20 per share, as
amended, for an aggregate purchase price of up to $8.5 million. Upon the closing of the proposed transactions, the Company’s Board of Directors will include
four members representing PJC or the Investors and one member representing the Consenting Convertible Note Holders.
On or about April 7, 2017, the Company entered into an Exchange Participation Agreement (the "Participation Agreement") with holders (the "Consenting
Senior Note Holders") representing 100% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Company's 15.0% Senior Secured Notes due 2018 (the " 15.0%
Senior Secured Notes").
On April 18, 2017, the Company launched an exchange offer to the existing holders of its outstanding 8.5% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes due 2019
(the "Convertible Notes") for 5% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes due 2023 (the "New Convertible Notes").
On May 15, 2017, the Company entered into a $1.5 million Promissory Note with PJC (the "Bridge Note"), to provide financing to fund the Company's
continued operations with a maturity date of July 3, 2017. The Bridge Note was amended on June 28, 2017 (the "Amended and Restated Bridge Note"), to (i)
increase the principal amount under the
Bridge Note to $3.3 million and (ii) extend the maturity date from July 3, 2017 to the earlier of (a) July 28, 2017 and (b) the date on which the Master Transaction
Agreements are consummated. Approximately $1.9 million was drawn on the Amended and Restated Bridge Note during the three months and six months
ended June 30, 2017. All outstanding principal and interest amounts due under the Amended and Restated Bridge Note were repaid on July 28, 2017 in
connection with the consummation of the recapitalization transactions as described below.
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As of June 30, 2017, the Company has incurred approximately $3.3 million in costs related to the recapitalization transactions. These costs have been
deferred and included in prepaid and other assets on the consolidated balance sheet.
Subsequent Events
Master Transaction Agreements
On July 28, 2017, the Company consummated a series of integrated transactions to effect a recapitalization of the Company (the "Transaction Closing")
pursuant to the Master Transaction Agreements.
Common Stock Purchase Agreement
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company entered into a Common Stock Purchase Agreement (the "Stock Purchase Agreement") by and
among the Company, PJC, certain investors jointly designated by PJC and Triax Capital Advisors LLC, a New York limited liability company ("Triax"), to be party
to the Stock Purchase Agreement (collectively, the "Common Stock Investors"), and certain Convertible Note Holders that were a party to the Stock Purchase
Agreement (collectively, the "Convertible Note Holder Purchasers," and together with PJC and the Common Stock Investors, the "Purchasers"). Pursuant to the
Stock Purchase Agreement, the Company issued and sold to the Purchasers 115,000,000 shares (the "Stock Purchase Agreement Shares") of the Company’s
common stock, $0.01 par value (the "Common Stock"), at a price of $0.2 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $23.0 million, of which PJC and the
Common Stock Investors purchased 75,000,000 Stock Purchase Agreement Shares for an aggregate purchase price of $15.0 million and the Convertible Note
Holder Purchasers, pursuant to the previously announced rights offering which expired on July 26, 2017, purchased 40,000,000 Stock Purchase Agreement
Shares for an aggregate purchase price of $8.0 million, of which PJC purchased 19,320,038 shares in connection with the exercise of rights assigned to it by
certain Convertible Note Holder Purchasers. The Stock Purchase Agreement contained customary representations, warranties, and covenants.
Common Stock Purchase Warrants
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company issued Common Stock Purchase Warrants (the "Warrants") to certain investors jointly designated
by PJC and Triax (collectively, the "Warrant Investors") to purchase up to an aggregate of 42,500,000 shares of the Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.2
per share (the "Warrant Shares").
The Warrants shall vest and become exercisable as follows: (i) with respect to 17,500,000 Warrant Shares, immediately upon the issuance of the Warrants,
and (ii) with respect to the remaining 25,000,000 Warrant Shares, at later times tied to the conversion of Convertible Notes (as defined below) and New
Convertible Notes (as defined below) outstanding upon the Transaction Closing into shares of Common Stock or, if earlier, upon the date that all Convertible
Notes or New Convertible Notes are no longer outstanding. The Warrants have an eight year term. The number of Warrant Shares is subject to anti-dilution
adjustment provisions.
Convertible Note Exchange Offer
On July 26, 2017, the Company’s offer to exchange its outstanding $74.2 million aggregate principal amount of 8.5% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes
due 2019 (the "Convertible Notes") for its 5% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes due 2023 (the "New Convertible Notes") expired (the "Convertible Note
Exchange Offer"). At least 98% of the holders of the Convertible Notes tendered in the Convertible Note Exchange Offer.
Second Supplemental Indenture for Convertible Notes
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company entered into a supplemental indenture (the "Supplemental Indenture") to that certain Indenture
dated February 21, 2014 between the Company and U.S. Bank, National Association, as indenture trustee (as amended and supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time, the "Convertible Notes Indenture") governing the Convertible Notes. The purpose of the Supplemental Indenture was to eliminate substantially
all of the restrictive covenants, eliminate certain events of default, eliminate the covenant restricting mergers and consolidations and modify certain provisions
relating to defeasance contained in the Convertible Notes Indenture and the Convertible Notes (collectively, the "Proposed Amendments") promptly after the
receipt of the requisite consents for the Proposed Amendments.
New Convertible Note Indenture and New Convertible Notes
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In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company caused to be issued the New Convertible Notes in an aggregate amount of approximately $75.8
million pursuant to an Indenture (the "New Convertible Note Indenture") between the Company and U.S. Bank, National Association, as indenture trustee. The
terms of the New Convertible Notes are governed by the New Convertible Note Indenture, which provides, among other things, that the New Convertible Notes
are unsecured senior obligations of the Company and will mature on February 15, 2023. The New Convertible Notes bear interest at a rate of 5% per annum
from the issue date, payable semi-annually on August 15 and February 15 of each year, beginning on August 15, 2017.
Senior Secured Note Purchase Agreement
In connection with the Transaction Closing, PJC, certain investors jointly designated by PJC and Triax (the "Note Purchase Investors") and holders (the
"Senior Secured Note Holders") representing 100% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Company’s 15.0% Senior Secured Notes entered into a
Note Purchase Agreement (the "Note Purchase Agreement"). Pursuant to the Note Purchase Agreement, the Note Purchase Investors purchased 100% of the
15.0% Senior Secured Notes held by each Senior Secured Note Holder for an aggregate purchase price equal to the face amount of such purchased 15.0%
Senior Secured Notes. The Note Purchase Agreement contained customary representations, warranties, and covenants.
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company paid each Senior Secured Note Holder 5% of the face amount of the 15.0% Senior Secured
Notes held by such Senior Secured Note Holder as of immediately prior to the Transaction Closing, plus all accrued but unpaid interest of such 15.0% Senior
Secured Notes through the date of the Transaction Closing, pursuant to that certain Exchange Participation Agreement dated April 7, 2017 among the Company
and Senior Secured Note Holders representing 100% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes.
New Senior Secured Note Indenture and New Senior Secured Notes
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as indenture trustee (the "Senior Secured Note
Trustee") entered into an Amended and Restated Senior Secured Note Indenture (the "New Senior Secured Indenture") to amend and restate the Indenture
dated as of March 11, 2016 (as amended and supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the "Senior Secured Indenture") between the Company and
the Senior Secured Note Trustee following the Company’s receipt of requisite consents of the holders of the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes. Pursuant to the
terms of the New Senior Secured Indenture, the Company caused the cancellation of all outstanding 15.0% Senior Secured Notes and the issuance of 8.5%
Senior Secured Notes due 2021 (the "New Senior Secured Notes") in an aggregate amount of $30.0 million. The New Senior Secured Indenture provides,
among other things, that the New Senior Secured Notes will be secured senior obligations of the Company and will mature on July 15, 2021. The New Senior
Secured Notes will bear interest at a rate of 8.5% per annum, payable quarterly on March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning
on September 15, 2017.
Special Dividend Note
In connection with the Transaction Closing, Lamington Road Designated Activity Company, an Irish section 110 company and an indirect subsidiary of the
Company ("Lamington"), issued a promissory note to Markley Asset Portfolio, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and an indirect subsidiary of the
Company ("Markley"), in a principal amount of $57.0 million. The amount represents distributions of earnings from Lamington's share of profits of White Eagle, to
satisfy the Profit Participation Note issued by Markley to Lamington (the "Special Dividend Note"). Management is currently evaluating the extent to which U.S.
cash taxes will result from the transaction. The Special Dividend Note matures on July 28, 2027. Advances under the Special Dividend Note bear interest at an
annual rate of 5%. The transaction will be eliminated in consolidation.
Securities Purchase Agreement
On August 11, 2017, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the "Securities Purchase Agreement") by and between the Company
and Brennan Opportunities Fund I LP ("Brennan"). Pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, Brennan purchased from the Company (i) 12,500,000
shares (the "Brennan Shares") of Common Stock at a price of $0.40 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $5.0 million and (ii) $5.0 million principal
amount of the Company’s New Senior Secured Notes (the "Brennan Notes," and together with the Brennan Shares, the "Brennan Securities"). The Securities
Purchase Agreement contained customary representations, warranties, and covenants.
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The sale of the Brennan Securities was consummated on August 11, 2017, as to 8,750,000 shares of Common Stock and $3.5 million principal amount of
New Senior Secured Notes, and on August 14, 2017, as to 3,750,000 shares of Common Stock and $1.5 million principal amount of New Senior Secured Notes.
See Note 19 "Subsequent Events," of the accompanying financial statements for additional information.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis and do not include any adjustments that might result from
uncertainty about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Our indirect subsidiary, White Eagle, is the owner of 612 of these life insurance policies with an aggregate death benefit of approximately $2.9 billion and a
fair value of approximately $525.5 million at June 30, 2017. White Eagle pledged its policies as collateral to secure borrowings made under the White Eagle
Revolving Credit Facility, which is used, among other things, to pay premiums on the life insurance policies owned by White Eagle. Borrowings under the White
Eagle Revolving Credit Facility fund the payment of premiums on the life insurance policies that have been pledged as collateral for the White Eagle Revolving
Credit Facility. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Liquidity and Capital Resources."
During the six months ended June 30, 2017 , seven life insurance policies with face amounts totaling $43.1 million matured, resulting in a net gain of
approximately $19.0 million. The gains related to these maturities are included in income from changes in the fair value of life settlements in the consolidated
statements of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2017 . All policy maturities during the quarter served as collateral under the White Eagle Revolving
Credit Facility. Proceeds from maturities totaling $26.2 million were received during the six months ended June 30, 2017 . Of this amount, approximately $10.0
million was utilized to repay borrowings, interest and expenses under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility for the six months ended June 30, 2017 , with
approximately $16.2 million on account for White Eagle awaiting distribution through the waterfall. We continue to believe that there are accretive opportunities to
grow our existing portfolio of life settlements and may, subject to our liquidity needs, selectively deploy capital in both the secondary and tertiary life settlement
markets. Assuming we recognize no policy maturities, our estimated premiums for the remainder of 2017 would be $43.4 million. White Eagle would be eligible
to borrow approximately $43.3 million of this amount to pay premiums on policies secured by the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility with approximately
$64,000 in estimated premiums required to maintain the policies not pledged as collateral under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility as of June 30, 2017.
Critical Accounting Policies
Critical Accounting Estimates
The preparation of the financial statements requires us to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting period. We base our judgments,
estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results
could differ materially from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions. We evaluate our judgments, estimates and assumptions on a regular
basis and make changes accordingly. We believe that the judgments, estimates and assumptions involved in the accounting for income taxes, the valuation of
life settlements, the valuation of the debt owing under the Revolving Credit Facilities and the valuation of our conversion derivative liability formerly embedded
within the Convertible Notes have the greatest potential impact on our financial statements and accordingly believe these to be our critical accounting estimates.
Fair Value Measurement Guidance
We follow ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures , which defines fair value as an exit price representing the amount that would be received if
an asset were sold or that would be paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. As such, fair value
is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis
for considering such assumptions, the guidance establishes a three-level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. Level 1
relates to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 relates to observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1.
Level 3 relates to unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. Our
investments in life insurance policies and Revolving Credit Facility debt are considered Level 3 as there is currently no active market where we are able to
observe quoted prices for identical assets/liabilities and our valuation model incorporates significant inputs that are not observable. See Note 14, "Fair Value
Measurements" of the notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of our fair value measurement.
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Fair Value Option
We have elected to account for life settlements using the fair value method. The fair value of the asset is the estimated amount that would be received to
sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. We calculate the fair value of the asset using a present value
technique to estimate the fair value of its life settlements. The Company currently uses a probabilistic method of valuing life insurance policies, which the
Company believes to be the preferred valuation method in the industry. The most significant assumptions are the estimates of life expectancy of the insured and
the discount rate. See Note 8, "Life Settlements (Life Insurance Policies)" and Note 14, "Fair Value Measurements."
We have elected to account for the debt under the Revolving Credit Facilities, which includes the interest in policy proceeds to the lender, using the fair
value method. The fair value of the debt is the estimated amount that would have to be paid to transfer the debt to a market participant in an orderly transaction.
We calculated the fair value of the debt using a discounted cash flow model taking into account the stated interest rate of the credit facilities and probabilistic
cash flows from the pledged policies. Considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop the estimates of fair value. Accordingly, our
estimates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that we, or holders of the instruments, could realize in a current market exchange. The most significant
assumptions are the estimates of life expectancy of the insured and the discount rate. The use of assumptions and/or estimation methodologies could have a
material effect on the estimated fair values.
The Company determined that an embedded conversion option existed in the Convertible Notes, prior to June 5, 2014, that was required to be separately
accounted for as a derivative under Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 815, Derivatives and Hedging. On June 5, 2014, the Company obtained
shareholder approval to issue shares of common stock upon conversion of the Convertible Notes in an amount that exceeded the New York Stock Exchange
limits for issuances without shareholder approval. In accordance with ASC 815, the Company reclassified the conversion derivative liability to stockholders’
equity along with unamortized transaction costs proportionate to the allocation of the initial debt discount and the principal amount of the Convertible Notes. In
subsequent reporting periods, the Convertible Notes will continue to be recorded at accreted value up to the par value of the Convertible Notes at maturity. The
debt discount will be amortized into interest expense using the interest method, in an aggregate amount equal to the amount of the conversion derivative liability
reclassified into equity along with any unamortized transaction costs. See Note 11, "8.50% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes."
Income Recognition
Our primary sources of income are in the form of changes in fair value of life settlements and gains on life settlements, net. Our income recognition
policies for this source of income is as follows:
•

Changes in Fair Value of Life Settlements —When we acquire certain life insurance policies, we initially record these investments at the transaction
price, which is the fair value of the policy for those acquired upon relinquishment or the amount paid for policies acquired for cash. The fair value of the
investment in insurance policies is evaluated at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the fair value of the investment based on evaluations are
recorded as changes in fair value of life settlements in our consolidated statement of operations. The fair value is determined on a discounted cash flow
basis that incorporates current life expectancy assumptions. The discount rate incorporates current information about market interest rates, the credit
exposure to the insurance company that issued the life insurance policy and our estimate of the risk premium an investor in the policy would require. We
recognize income from life settlement maturities upon receipt of death notice or verified obituary of the insured. This income is the difference between
the death benefits and fair values of the policy at the time of maturity.
Deferred Debt Costs

Deferred debt costs include costs incurred in connection with acquiring and maintaining debt arrangements. These costs are directly deducted from the
carrying amount of the liability in the consolidated balance sheets, are amortized over the life of the related debt using the effective interest method and are
classified as interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. These deferred costs are related to the Company's Convertible Notes
and Senior Secured Notes. The Company did not recognize any deferred debt costs on the Revolving Credit Facilities given all costs were expensed due to
electing the fair value option in valuing the Revolving Credit Facilities.
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Income Taxes
We account for income taxes in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes. Under ASC 740, deferred income taxes are determined based on the estimated
future tax effects of differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities given the provisions of enacted tax laws. Deferred income
tax provisions and benefits are based on changes to the assets or liabilities from year to year. In providing for deferred taxes, we consider tax regulations of the
jurisdictions in which we operate, estimates of future taxable income and available tax planning strategies. If tax regulations, operating results or the ability to
implement tax-planning strategies varies, adjustments to the carrying value of the deferred tax assets and liabilities may be required. Valuation allowances are
based on the "more likely than not" criteria of ASC 740.
Our provision for income taxes from continuing operations results in an annual effective tax rate of 0.0% for both 2017 and 2016, respectfully, except as
noted below. The accounting for uncertain tax positions guidance under ASC 740 requires that we recognize the financial statement benefit of a tax position only
after determining that the relevant tax authority would more likely than not sustain the position following an audit. For tax positions meeting the more-likely-thannot threshold, the amount recognized in the financial statements is the largest benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon
ultimate settlement with the relevant tax authority. We recognize interest and penalties (if any) on uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense.
In December of 2016, based on the Company’s evaluation, a deferred tax valuation allowance was established against its net deferred tax assets. In its
evaluation, management considers taxable loss carryback availability, expectations of sufficient future taxable income, trends in earnings, existence of taxable
income in recent years, the future reversal of temporary differences, and available tax planning strategies that could be implemented, if required. Valuation
allowances are established based on the consideration of all available evidence using a more likely than not standard. This valuation allowance was determined
to be necessary as an offset to the full amount of the federal and state deferred tax asset. During the second quarter of 2017 the Company does not expect that
position to change and therefore is not recording any benefit.
Stock-Based Compensation
We have adopted ASC 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation. ASC 718 addresses accounting for share-based awards, including stock options,
restricted stock, performance shares and warrants, with compensation expense measured using fair value and recorded over the requisite service or
performance period of the award. The fair value of equity instruments will be determined based on a valuation using an option pricing model that takes into
account various assumptions that are subjective. Key assumptions used in the valuation will include the expected term of the equity award taking into account
both the contractual term of the award, the effects of expected exercise and post-vesting termination behavior, expected volatility, expected dividends and the
risk-free interest rate for the expected term of the award. Compensation expense associated with performance shares is only recognized to the extent that it is
probable the performance measurement will be met.
Held-for-sale and discontinued operations
The Company reports a business as held-for-sale when management has approved or received approval to sell the business and is committed to a formal
plan, the business is available for immediate sale, the business is being actively marketed, the sale is anticipated to occur during the ensuing year and certain
other specified criteria are met. A business classified as held-for-sale is recorded at the lower of its carrying amount or estimated fair value less cost to sell. If the
carrying amount of the business exceeds its estimated fair value, a loss is recognized. Depreciation is not recorded on assets of a business classified as heldfor-sale. Assets and liabilities related to a business classified as held-for-sale are segregated in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and major classes are
separately disclosed in the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements commencing in the period in which the business is classified as held-for-sale. The
Company reports the results of operations of a business as discontinued operations if the business is classified as held-for-sale, the operations and cash flows of
the business have been or will be eliminated from the ongoing operations of the Company as a result of a disposal transaction and the Company will not have
any significant continuing involvement in the operations of the business after the disposal transaction. The results of discontinued operations are reported in
Discontinued Operations in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for current and prior periods commencing in the period in which the business meets the
criteria of a discontinued operation, and include any gain or loss recognized on closing or adjustment of the carrying amount to fair value less cost to sell. During
the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company sold substantially all of our structured settlements business. As a result, the Company has classified its structured
settlement operating results as discontinued operations.
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Foreign Currency
The Company owns certain foreign subsidiaries formed under the laws of Ireland, Bahamas and Bermuda. These foreign subsidiaries utilize the U.S. dollar
as their functional currency. The foreign subsidiaries' financial statements are denominated in U.S. dollars and therefore, there are no translation gains and
losses resulting from translating the financial statements at exchange rates other than the functional currency. Any gains and losses resulting from foreign
currency transactions (transactions denominated in a currency other than the subsidiaries' functional currency) are included in income. These gains and losses
are immaterial to the Company's financial statements.
Accounting Changes
Note 3, "Recent Accounting Pronouncements," of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements discusses accounting standards adopted in 2017, as
well as accounting standards recently issued but not yet required to be adopted and the expected impact of these changes in accounting standards. Any material
impact of adoption is discussed in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and in the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.
Selected Operating Data (dollars in thousands):
Three Months Ended June 30,
2017

Six Months Ended June 30,

2016

2017

2016

Period Acquisitions — Policies Owned
Number of policies acquired

—

1

—

1

Average age of insured at acquisition
Average life expectancy — Calculated LE (Years)

—
—

90.3
2.3

—
—

90.3
2.3

Average death benefit
Aggregate purchase price

$
$

—
—

$
$

690
16

$
$

—
—

Average age of insured
Average death benefit per policy
Average Life Expectancy — Calculated LE (Years)

$
$

690
16

614
$

82.9
4,729
8.7

625
$

81.9
4,746
9.4

614

625

$

82.9
4,729
8.7

$

81.9
4,746
9.4

Aggregate Death Benefit
Aggregate fair value

$
$

2,903,899
526,282

$
$

2,966,388
473,046

$
$

2,906,899
526,282

$
$

2,966,388
473,046

Monthly premium — average per policy
Period Maturities

$

11.5

$

10.3

$

11.5

$

10.3

End of Period — Policies Owned
Number of policies owned

Number of policies matured
Average age of insured at maturity

3
88.8

2
88.9

7
83.5

8
85.9

Average life expectancy - Calculated LE (Years)
Aggregate death benefit
Gains on maturity

$
$

3.5
5,223
2,743

$
$

3.7
4,200
2,485

$
$

3.5
43,073
19,007

$
$

5.1
17,180
10,764

Proceeds collected

$

16,173

$

5,500

$

26,173

$

20,980

Results of Operations
The following is our analysis of the results of operations for the periods indicated below. This analysis should be read in conjunction with our financial
statements, including the related notes to the financial statements. Our results of operations are discussed below in two parts: (i) our consolidated results of
continuing operations and (ii) our results of discontinued operations.
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Results of Continuing Operations
Three Months Ended June 30, 2017 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30, 2016
Net loss from continued operations for the quarter ended June 30, 2017 was $6.5 million as compared to a net loss of $9.8 million for the same period last
year. The following is our analysis of net loss for the period.
Three Months Ended June 30,
2017

2016

Change

% Change

Income
Expenses

$

3,461
9,935

$

(15,786) $
(6,011)

19,247
15,946

(122)%
(265)%

decrease
increase

Net income (loss)

$

(6,474)

$

(9,775) $

3,301

(34)%

decrease

Income from continuing operations for the three months ended June 30, 2017 was mainly comprised of a gain on maturity of three policies with a net gain
of approximately $2.7 million compared to a net gain on maturity of $2.5 million of two policies for the same period in 2016.
Our income from continuing operations for the three months ended June 30, 2016 was significantly impacted by the adoption of the 2015 VBT, which
resulted in a reduction in the fair value of life settlements of approximately $17.6 million.
Total expenses from continuing operations for the three months ended June 30, 2017 were mainly comprised of interest expense on the White Eagle
Revolving Credit Facility of $4.3 million; $2.6 million on the Convertible Notes; $1.2 million on the Senior Secured Notes, and were offset by a gain in the fair
value of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility of $1.8 million.
Total expenses from continuing operations for the three months ended June 30, 2016 resulted in income of $6.0 million due to a $19.7 million gain for the
change in fair value of the Revolving Credit Facilities. Total expenses were also comprised of interest expense of $2.8 million on the White Eagle Revolving
Credit Facility, $939,000 on the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility, $2.4 million on the Convertible Notes, and $1.2 million on the Senior Secured Notes.
Our expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2016 were significantly impacted by a $15.7 million gain for the change in fair value of the Revolving
Credit Facilities which is associated with the adoption of the 2015 VBT.
Change in fair value of life settlements (in thousands)
Three Months Ended June 30,
2017
Change in fair value of life settlements

$

3,382

2016
$

(15,813) $

Change
19,195

% Change
(121)%

increase

During the quarter ended June 30, 2017, three life insurance policies with face amounts totaling $5.2 million matured compared to two policies with face
amounts of $4.2 million for the same period in 2016. The net gain of these maturities was $2.7 million and $2.5 million and is recorded as a change in fair value
of life settlements in the consolidated statements of operations for the quarters ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Of the maturities during the quarter
ended June 30, 2017, all served as collateral under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility. Proceeds from maturities totaling $16.2 million were received
during the quarter ended June 30, 2017. Approximately $10.0 million in policy proceeds received during the first quarter of 2017 were utilized to repay interest
and credit facility expenses under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility during the quarter ended June 30, 2017. The Company recorded a $21.9 million
receivable for maturity of life settlements at June 30, 2017 relating to policies pledged under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility.
During the quarter ended June 30, 2016, the Company changed its valuation technique and adopted the 2015 VBT, smoker and gender distinct tables, to
determine the value of its policies. This change resulted in a reduction in the fair value of the life settlements by approximately $17.6 million for the three months
ended June 30, 2016.
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Other items impacting the change in fair value include updated life expectancies procured by the Company in respect to the insureds' lives and maturities.
The updated life expectancy reports implied that in aggregate, the insureds’ health improved, therefore, lengthening their life expectancies relative to the prior life
expectancies.
The change in fair value was impacted due to an increase in estimated risk premium, which drives the discount rate. The Company re-evaluates its
discount rates at the end of each reporting period in order to reflect the estimated discount rates that could reasonably be used in a market transaction involving
the Company's portfolio of life settlements. In doing so, consideration is given to the various factors influencing the rates, including credit exposure of the
insurance company that issued the life insurance policy, and the estimated risk premium an investor in the policy would require, among other factors. In
considering these factors, at June 30, 2017, the Company determined that the weighted average discount rate calculated based on death benefit was 16.39%,
compared to 16.37% at December 31, 2016, which is lower than the rate at June 30, 2016 which was 16.49%.
As of June 30, 2017, we owned 614 policies with an estimated fair value of $526.3 million compared to 621 policies with an estimated fair value of $498.4
million at December 31, 2016, an increase in estimated fair value of $27.9 million or 6%. Of the 614 policies, 612 policies were pledged to the White Eagle
Revolving Credit Facility. During the three months ended June 30, 2016 , the Company acquired one life insurance policy that resulted in a gain of approximately
$262,000. There were no policy acquisitions during the three months ended June 30, 2017 . As of June 30, 2017, the aggregate death benefit of our life
settlements was approximately $2.9 billion.
Of these 614 policies owned as of June 30, 2017, 535 were previously premium financed and are valued using discount rates that range from 16.00% –
21.50%. The remaining 79 policies are valued using discount rates that range from 15.00% – 18.00%.
See Note 14, "Fair Value Measurements," to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
Expenses (in thousands)
Three Months Ended June 30,
2017
Interest expense

$

8,163

Change in fair value of Revolving Credit Facilities
SG&A expenses
Total Expense

2016
$

(1,785)
3,557
$

9,935

Change

7,385

$

(19,667)
6,271
$

(6,011) $

% Change

778

11 %

increase

17,882
(2,714)

(91)%
(43)%

decrease
decrease

15,946

(265)%

increase

Interest expense (in thousands)
Three Months Ended June 30,
2017
White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility
Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility

$

Convertible Notes
15.0% Senior Secured Notes
Promissory Note
Other
Total Interest Expense

$

2016

4,282
—

$

Change

2,794
939

2,636
1,232

2,401
1,249

11
2

—
2

8,163

$

57

7,385

$

$

% Change

1,488
(939)

53 %
(100)%

increase
decrease

235
(17)

10 %
(1)%

increase
decrease

11
—

—%
—%

increase
decrease

778

11 %

increase

Outstanding debt for the quarter ended June 30, 2017 included $299.1 million of outstanding principal on the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, $74.2
million of Convertible Notes, $30.0 million of 15.0% Senior Secured Notes, and a $1.9 million of 15.0% Amended and Restated Bridge Note.
The Company's outstanding debt increased by $58.8 million from $346.4 million at June 30, 2016 to $405.2 million at June 30, 2017. The increase is
mainly attributable to a net increase in principal of $109.5 million on the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, a net reduction in principal of $56.0 million on the
Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility, a $3.5 million increase in Convertible Notes, and an increase of $1.9 million in principal for the 15.0% Amended and
Restated Bridge Note.
The White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility interest expense shows an increase of approximately $1.5 million which is attributable to additional draws under
the facility as well as an increase in the interest rate during 2017. Based on the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility loan agreement, the LIBOR portion of the
interest rate will re-adjust annually once the floor has exceeded 1.5%. The applicable rate will be dependent on the rate on the last business day of the
preceding calendar year. At June 30, 2017, the applicable LIBOR rate was 1.69%.
The Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility shows a decrease of approximately $939,000 when compared to the three months ended June 30, 2016 . There
was no interest expense during 2017 given the debt was fully repaid during the year ended December 31, 2016.
The Company recorded $2.6 million of interest expense on the Convertible Notes, including $1.6 million, $922,000 and $137,000 from interest, amortizing
debt discounts and origination costs, during the three months ended June 30, 2017 .
During the three months ended June 30, 2016 , the Company recorded approximately $2.4 million of interest expense on the Convertible Notes, including
$1.5 million, $782,000 and $116,000 from interest, amortizing debt discounts and origination costs, respectively.
The Company recorded approximately $1.2 million of interest expense on the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes, during the three months ended June 30, 2017
which includes $1.1 million of interest and $95,000 of amortizing debt issuance costs, compared to interest expense of $1.2 million during the three months
ended June 30, 2016, which included $1.1 million of interest and $111,000 of amortizing debt issuance costs, respectively.
During the three months ended June 30, 2017 , approximately $11,000 of interest expense was recorded on the 15.0% Amended and Restated Bridge
Note. The Amended and Restated Note originated in 2017 and, therefore, there was no related interest expense during the three months ended June 30, 2016 .
See Notes 9, "White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility," 10, "Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility," 11, "8.50% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes," 12,
"15.0% Senior Secured Notes," and 13, "15.0% Promissory Note," to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
Change in fair value of Revolving Credit Facilities (in thousands)
Three Months Ended June 30,
2017
White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility
Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility
Total Change in Fair Value of Revolving Credit
Facilities

$

2016

(1,785)

$

—
$

(1,785)

(17,500) $
(2,167)

$

(19,667) $

Change

% Change

15,715

(90)%

decrease

2,167

(100)%

decrease

17,882

(91)%

decrease

At June 30, 2017, the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility incurred a gain of approximately $1.8 million compared to $17.5 million for the same period in
2016. The gains in 2017 and 2016 are attributable to a combination of offsetting factors as discussed below.
During the three months ended June 30, 2016 , the Company changed its valuation technique by adopting the 2015 VBT,
smoker and gender distinct tables, to determine the value of the life insurance policies pledged as collateral in the facilities. The resulting impact was a positive
change in fair value for the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility of approximately $14.7 million, and is shown as a reduction to our expenses on the statement
of operations for the three months ended June 30, 2016.
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The White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility is valued at June 30, 2017 using a discount rate of 18.31% compared to 19.90% for the quarter ended June 30, 2016.
Change in fair value of Revolving Credit Facilities also includes a gain of $2.2 million attributable to the Red Falcon
Revolving Credit Facility for the three months ended June 30, 2016 . The adoption of the 2015 VBT resulted in a positive change in fair value for the Red Falcon
Revolving Credit Facility of approximately $1.0 million and is shown as a reduction to our expenses on the statement of operations for the three months ended
June 30, 2016. The Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility is valued at June 30, 2016 using a discount rate of 11.06%. The Red Falcon Facility debt was fully
repaid on December 29, 2016.
The fair value was also impacted by increased borrowings, cost of insurance increases, and the lengthening of life expectancy estimates for the policies
pledged under the Revolving Credit Facilities, which was offset by a slight decrease in the discount rates during the quarter ended June 30, 2016.
During the three months ended June 30, 2017 , the fair value of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility was impacted by increased borrowings and the
lengthening of life expectancies of certain insureds' underlying policies pledged under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility offset by a slight reduction in the
discount rate used to value the facility.
The net impact is a gain and is shown as a decrease to expenses on the statement of operations for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016.
The White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility is valued at June 30, 2017 using a discount rate of 18.31% compared to 19.90% for the quarter ended June 30,
2016.
See Note 14, "Fair Value Measurements," to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
Selling, general, and administrative expenses (in thousands)
Three Months Ended June 30,
2017
Personnel costs

$

Legal fees
Professional fees
Insurance
Other SG&A expenses
Total SG&A Expenses

2016

1,049
657
1,204

$

198
449
$

3,557

Change

2,274
1,710
1,568

$

194
525
$

6,271

$

% Change

(1,225)
(1,053)
(364)

(54)%
(62)%
(23)%

decrease
decrease
decrease

4
(76)

2%
(14)%

decrease
decrease

(2,714)

(43)%

decrease

The decrease in operating expenses was primarily a result of a decrease in legal expense of $1.1 million, a decrease in personnel costs of $1.2 million, a
decrease in professional fees of $364,000 and a decrease in other operating expenses of $76,000.
During the quarter ended June 30, 2016, as part of a reduction in force, the Company reduced its headcount from 31 employees to 25 employees inclusive
of two executives. The expense associated with this reduction was approximately $992,000 during the three months ended June 30, 2016.
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Results of Discontinued Operations
Three Months Ended June 30, 2017 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30, 2016
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2017
Total income

$

Total expenses
Income (loss) before income taxes
Net income (loss), net of income taxes

$

2016

30

$

Change
3

$

27

% Change
900 %

increase

65

130

(65)

(50)%

decrease

(35)

(127)

92

(72)%

decrease

(35) $

(127) $

92

(72)%

decrease

Net loss from our discontinued structured settlement operations for the quarter ended June 30, 2017 was $35,000 compared to a net loss of $127,000 for
the same quarter in 2016. Total income from our discontinued structured settlement operations was $30,000 and $3,000 for the quarters ended June 30, 2017
and 2016, respectively.
Total expenses from our discontinued structured settlement operations were $66,000 for the quarter ended June 30, 2017 compared to $130,000 during
the same period in 2016.
Results of Continuing Operations
Six Months Ended June 30, 2017 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2016
Net loss from continued operations for the six months ended June 30, 2017 was $4.6 million compared to $17.2 million for the same period last year. The
following is our analysis of net loss for the period.
Six Months Ended June 30,
2017
Income
Expenses

$

Net loss

$

29,051
33,639
(4,588)

2016

Change

% Change

$

(7,332) $
9,889

36,383
23,750

(496)%
240 %

increase
increase

$

(17,221) $

12,633

(73)%

decrease

Income for the six months ended June 30, 2017 was comprised mainly of a gain on maturity of seven life settlements of $19.0 million compared to a net
gain of $10.8 million on maturity of eight life settlements during the same period in 2016.
Our income for the six months ended June 30, 2016 was significantly impacted by the adoption of the 2015 VBT, which resulted in a reduction in fair value
of life settlements of approximately $17.6 million.
Total expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2016 were also significantly impacted by a $15.7 million gain for the change in fair value of the Revolving
Credit Facilities which is associated with the adoption of the 2015 VBT.
Change in fair value of life settlements (in thousands)
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Six Months Ended June 30,
2017
Change in fair value of life settlements

$

28,922

2016
$

Change

(7,425) $

36,347

% Change
(490)%

increase

During the six months ended June 30, 2017 , seven life insurance policies with face amounts totaling $43.1 million matured compared to eight policies with
face amounts totaling $17.2 million for the same period in 2016. The net gain of these maturities was $19.0 million and $10.8 million for 2017 and 2016,
respectively, and is recorded as a change in fair value of life settlements in the consolidated statements of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2017
and 2016. All seven of the maturities served as collateral under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility. Proceeds from maturities totaling $26.2 million were
received during the six months ended June 30, 2017 . Of this amount, approximately $10.0 million and was utilized to repay borrowings, interest and credit facility
expenses under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility. Approximately $2.5 million in policy proceeds received at the end of 2016 were used to repay
borrowings, interest, and expenses for the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility during 2017. The Company also recorded a $21.9 million receivable for maturity
of life settlements at June 30, 2017.
During the six months ended June 30, 2016 , the Company changed its valuation technique and decided to adopt the 2015 VBT, smoker and gender
distinct tables to determine the value of the policies. The resulting impact was a reduction in the fair value of the life settlements of approximately $17.6 million
for the six months ended June 30, 2016 .
Other items impacting the change in fair value include updated life expectancies procured by the Company in respect to the insureds' lives and maturities.
The updated life expectancy reports implied that in aggregate, the insureds’ health decreased, therefore shortening their life expectancies relative to the prior life
expectancies, which resulted in an increase in fair value.
The change in fair value was further impacted due to an increase in estimated risk premium which drives our discount rate. The Company re-evaluates its
discount rates at the end of each reporting period in order to reflect the estimated discount rates that could reasonably be used in a market transaction involving
the Company's portfolio of life settlements. In doing so, consideration is given to the various factors influencing the rates, including credit exposure of the
insurance company that issued the life insurance policy and our estimated risk premium an investor in the policy would require, among other factors. In
considering these factors, at June 30, 2017, the Company determined that the weighted average discount rate calculated based on death benefit was 16.39%,
compared to 16.37% at December 31, 2016. This resulted in a negative impact for the change in fair value of our life settlements for the six months ended June
30, 2017.
As of June 30, 2017, we owned 614 policies with an estimated fair value of $526.3 million compared to 621 policies with a fair value of $498.4 million at
December 31, 2016, an increase of $27.9 million or 6%. Of the 614 policies, 612 policies were pledged to the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility. During the
six months ended June 30, 2017 , the Company did not acquire any life insurance policies. During the six months ended June 30, 2016 , the Company
purchased $3.1 million in additional death benefit by acquiring retained portions of policy benefits from 20 policies for approximately $1.4 million. In addition, we
acquired one life insurance policy for the same period ended 2016, which resulted in a gain of approximately $262,000. As of June 30, 2017, the aggregate
death benefit of our life settlements was approximately $2.9 billion.
Of these 614 policies owned as of June 30, 2017, 535 were previously premium financed and are valued using discount rates that range from 16.00% to
21.50%. The remaining 79 policies are valued using discount rates that range from 15.00% to 18.00%.
See Note 14, Fair Value Measurements," to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
Expenses (in thousands)
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Six Months Ended June 30,
2017
Interest expense
Change in fair value of Revolving Credit
Facilities
SG&A expenses

$

Total Expense

$

2016

15,698

$

10,046
7,895
33,639

Change

13,435

$

(15,570)
12,024
$

9,889

$

% Change

2,263

17 %

increase

25,616
(4,129)

(165)%
(34)%

increase
decrease

23,750

240 %

increase

Interest expense (in thousands)
Six Months Ended June 30,
2017

2016

Change

White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility
Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility

7,476
—

5,216
1,919

Convertible Notes
15.0% Senior Secured Notes

5,760
2,447

4,765
1,528

11
4

—
7

15.0% Promissory Note
Other
Total Interest Expense

$

15,698

$

13,435

$

% Change

2,260
(1,919)
995
919
11
(3)

$

2,263

43 %
(100)%

increase
decrease

21 %
60 %

increase
increase

100 %
(43)%

increase
decrease

17 %

increase

Outstanding debt for the six months ended June 30, 2017 included $299.1 million of outstanding principal on the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility,
$74.2 million of Convertible Notes, $30.0 million of Senior Secured Notes, and $1.9 million of the Amended and Restated Bridge Note.
The Company's outstanding debt increased by $58.8 million from $346.4 million at June 30, 2016 to $405.2 million at June 30, 2017. The increase is mainly
attributable to a net increase in principal of $109.5 million on the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, a $3.5 million increase in Convertible Notes, and a $1.9
million increase in the Promissory Note, offset by a $56.0 million repayment of the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility on December 29, 2016.
Of the interest expense of $15.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2017 , approximately $7.5 million represents interest paid on the White Eagle
Revolving Credit Facility. The increase in interest expense resulted from an increase in the principal balance of the facility and an increase in the LIBOR floor
from 1.5% to 1.69% at June 30, 2017.
Interest expense on the Convertible Notes totaled $5.8 million, including $3.7 million, $1.8 million, and $264,000 representing interest, amortization of debt
discount and issuance costs, respectively. Interest for the six months ended June 30, 2017 was higher due to approximately $522,000 of additional interest paid
in kind to note holders.
The Company recorded approximately $2.4 million of interest expense on the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes, including $2.3 million and $184,000 from
interest and amortizing debt issuance costs, respectively, during the six months ended June 30, 2017 .
Of the interest expense of $13.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016 , approximately $5.2 million of interest expense was attributable to the
White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility and approximately $1.9 million represents interest expense attributable to the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility. The
Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility was fully repaid on December 29, 2016.
Interest expense on the Convertible Notes totaled $4.8 million, including $3.0 million, $1.5 million and $227,000 representing interest, amortization of debt
discount and issuance costs, respectively during six months ended June 30, 2016 .
We recorded $1.5 million of interest expense on the Senior Secured Notes, including $1.4 million, and $176,000, from interest and amortizing debt issuance
costs, respectively, during the six months ended June 30, 2016 .
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See Notes 9, "White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility," 10, "Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility," 11, "8.50% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes," 12,
"15.0% Senior Secured Notes," and 13, "15.0% Promissory Note," to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
Change in fair value of Revolving Credit Facilities (in thousands)
Six Months Ended June 30,
2017
White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility
Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility
Total Change in Fair Value of Revolving
Credit Facilities

$

2016

10,046

$

—
$

10,046

$

Change

% Change

(14,405)

24,451

(170)%

increase

(1,165)

1,165

(100)%

decrease

(15,570)

25,616

(165)%

increase

During the six months ended June 30, 2016, the Company changed its valuation technique by adopting the 2015 VBT, smoker and gender distinct tables,
to determine the value of the life insurance policies pledged as collateral in the facility. The resulting impact was a positive change in fair value of the White
Eagle Revolving Credit Facility of approximately $14.7 million. This amount is shown as a reduction to our expenses on the statement of operations for the six
months ended June 30, 2016. The White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility is valued at June 30, 2017 using discount rates of 18.31% compared to 19.90% for the
quarter ended June 30, 2016.
Change in fair value of Revolving Credit Facility also includes a gain of $1.2 million attributable to the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility for the six
months ended June 30, 2016.
The change resulting from the Company's adoption of the 2015 VBT resulted in a positive change in fair value of the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility
of approximately $1.0 million. This amount is shown as a reduction to our expenses on the statement of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2016. The
Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility was fully repaid on December 29, 2016.
The fair value was also impacted by increased borrowings offset by the shortening of life expectancy estimates for the policies pledged under the White
Eagle Revolving Credit Facility and a decrease in the discount rate. See Note 14, "Fair Value Measurements," to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
Selling, general, and administrative expenses (in thousands)
Six Months Ended June 30,
2017
Personnel costs

$

2016

Legal fees

2,133
1,652

Professional fees
Insurance

2,807
390

Other SG&A
Total SG&A Expenses

$

913
$

7,895

Change
(1,697)
(1,876)

(44)%
(53)%

decrease
decrease

3,211
438

(404)
(48)

(13)%
(11)%

decrease
decrease

(104)

(10)%

decrease

(4,129)

(34)%

decrease

1,017
$

% Change

3,830
3,528

12,024

$

The decrease in SG&A expenses was primarily a result of a decrease in legal expense of $1.9 million, a decrease in professional fees of $404,000, and
a decrease in personnel cost of $1.7 million.
During the six months ended June 30, 2016, as part of a reduction in force, the Company reduced its headcount from 31 employees to 25 employees,
inclusive of two executives. The expense associated with this reduction was approximately $992,000 for the six month period ended June 30, 2016.
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Results of Discontinued Operations
Six Months Ended June 30, 2017 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2016
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2017

2016

Change

% Change

Total income (loss)

$

33

27

450%

increase

Total expenses
Income (loss) before income taxes

$

258

200

58

29%

increase

(225)

(194)

(31)

16%

increase

Income tax benefit
Net income (loss), net of income taxes

$

—

—%

decrease

(31)

16%

increase

$

$

—
(225) $

6

$

—
(194) $

Net loss from our discontinued structured settlement operations for the six months ended June 30, 2017 was $225,000 as compared to a net loss of
$194,000 for the same period in 2016. Total income from our discontinued structured settlement operations was $33,000 compared to $6,000 for the six months
ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Total expenses from our discontinued structured settlement operations were $258,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2017 compared to $200,000
incurred during the same period in 2016.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of
business, as well as continued compliance with the covenants contained in the indentures governing our Convertible Notes and 15.0% Senior Secured Notes
and other financing arrangements.
As of our filing date, we were not in compliance with our financial covenant under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility to maintain a cash interest
coverage ratio of at least 2.0:1. As of June 30, 2017, the cash interest coverage ratio was 2.17:1 and the loan to value ratio was 59%, as calculated using the
lenders' valuation. It should be noted that although the Company met the required threshold at quarter end, the threshold was not met for all days during the
quarter. Absent waivers or cures, non-compliance with such covenant would result in the cash flow sweep percentage being equal to one-hundred percent
(100%), and even if the required LTV ratio was satisfied, the Company would not participate in any cash flow sweep. It is possible we could obtain waivers from
our debt holder.
At June 30, 2017, we had approximately $22.7 million of cash and cash equivalents and certificates of deposit of $1.0 million. Of this amount,
approximately $623,000 was available to pay premiums on two policies that have not been pledged as collateral under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility
and for other overhead expenses, with approximately $22.0 million restricted to the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility. We expect to meet our liquidity needs
for the foreseeable future, to the extent we are able to do so, primarily through a combination of the receipt of death benefits from life insurance policy
maturities, borrowings under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, a recapitalization of the Company, policy sales (subject to the asset sale restrictions in
our debt arrangements) and cash on hand.
For the six months ended June 30, 2017 , we paid $42.0 million in premiums to maintain our policies in force. Of this amount, approximately $42.0 million
was paid by White Eagle through its borrowings. While the liquidity risk associated with the policies that have been pledged as collateral under the White Eagle
Revolving Credit Facility has been mitigated, any distributions from available proceeds under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility will vary based on the
respective, then current loan to value ratio. Accordingly, there can be no assurance as to when the proceeds from maturities of the policies pledged as collateral
under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility will be distributed to the Company. Additionally, White Eagle may not borrow under the facility to pay interest. To
the extent there are insufficient collections from policy proceeds to cover these amounts, these required payments will stress our available cash. Assuming no
policy maturities, as of June 30, 2017, we expect to pay $64,000 in premiums during the remainder of 2017 on the two policies that have not been pledged
under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility. Additionally, at June 30, 2017, we had $74.2 million, $30.0 million and $1.9 million in aggregate principal
amount of outstanding Convertible Notes, 15.0% Senior Secured Notes and for the Amended and
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Restated Bridge Note, which accrue interest at 8.50%, 15.0% and 15.0%, respectively. Interest on the Convertible Notes is due semi-annually while interest on
the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes and Amended and Restated Bridge Note is due monthly.
The Company has incurred substantial losses and negative cash flows from operating activities. The Company's current operating plan indicates that we
will continue to incur losses from operations. These projections and other liquidity risks raise substantial doubt about whether we will meet our obligations as they
become due within six months from the date of filing this Form 10 Q. See "Subsequent Events," below for additional information. As a result of these factors, as
well as the continued uncertainty surrounding the timing of death benefits and our ability to raise capital, there exists substantial doubt whether we will be able to
continue as a going concern.
Going Concern
The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on its ability to meet its liquidity needs through a combination of the receipt of death
benefits from life insurance policy maturities, borrowings under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, strategic capital market raises, policy sales (subject to
certain asset sale restrictions) and cash on hand. During the six months ended June 30, 2017, the Company entered into certain agreements for the purpose of
recapitalizing the Company, and subsequent to the quarter end, on July 28, 2017 and August 11, 2017, the Company consummated a series of recapitalization
transactions, as described below. In considering the cash received from the recapitalization and management's projections for receipts of death benefits from
policy maturities, we estimate that our liquidity and capital resources are sufficient for our current and projected financial needs in excess of twelve months.
Additionally, if we do not receive the projected death benefits as forecasted, the Company projects that it will have available sufficient cash to continue its
operations for at least the next twelve months from the date of filing this Form 10-Q.
On March 15, 2017 and May 12, 2017, the Company entered into a series of separate Master Transaction Agreements (together, the "Master Transaction
Agreements") by and between the Company, PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited liability company ("PJC"), and each Consenting Convertible Note Holder
that is a party to one or more Master Transaction Agreements ("Consenting Holders") regarding a series of integrated transactions with the intent to effect a
recapitalization of the Company (the "Transaction"), which included an Amendment to the Company’s Articles of Incorporation (the "Articles Amendment") to
increase the number of authorized shares of the Company's common stock, $0.01 par value (the "Common Stock"), a Common Stock Purchase Agreement, a
Convertible Note Exchange Offer, a New Convertible Note Indenture providing for the issuance of New Convertible Notes, a Senior Note Exchange Offer, a New
Senior Note Indenture providing for the issuance of New Senior Notes, a Senior Note Purchase Agreement, Warrants and certain other agreements and
documents to be delivered in connection with the Transaction (each as defined in the Master Transaction Agreements, and together with the Master Transaction
Agreements, the "Transaction Documents"). The Master Transaction Agreements and the transactions contemplated under the Master Transaction Agreements
were unanimously approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on March 13, 2017.
On April 7, 2017, the Company entered into a series of amendments to the Master Transaction Agreements (the "MTA Amendments"), which amended each
Master Transaction Agreement made as of March 15, 2017, as amended to date and from time to time, by and between the Company, PJC and the Consenting
Convertible Note Holders party to each Agreement. The modifications as a result of the MTA Amendments are specified below.
On June 19, 2017, the Company entered into a series of amendments to the Master Transaction Agreements, as amended (the "Additional MTA
Amendments"), which amended each Master Transaction Agreement made as of March 15, 2017 and May 12, 2017. The purpose of the Additional MTA
Amendments was to modify the definition of "Investor" and amend the form of warrant attached as Exhibit E to the Master Transaction Agreements (the
"Warrant") to, among other things, contemplate vesting of the Warrant to holders on a pro rata basis. The Additional MTA Amendments also extended the period
by which Consenting Convertible Note Holders must tender into the Convertible Note Exchange Offer.
Under the Master Transaction Agreements, PJC and other parties agreed to certain undertakings, including: (i) PJC or its designees (the "Investors")
purchasing up to 100% of the Company’s Senior Secured Notes from the Consenting Senior Note Holders (as defined herein) pursuant to a Senior Note
Purchase Agreement, (ii) PJC or the Investors purchasing $15.0 million in shares of Common Stock, pursuant to a Common Stock Purchase Agreement, and (iii)
issuance to PJC or the Investors of warrants to purchase up to 42,500,000 shares, as amended, of Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.20 per share, as
amended, for an aggregate purchase price of up to $8.5 million. Upon the closing of the proposed transactions, the Company’s Board of Directors will include
four members representing PJC or the Investors and one member representing the Consenting Convertible Note Holders.
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On or about April 7, 2017, the Company entered into an Exchange Participation Agreement (the "Participation Agreement") with holders (the "Consenting
Senior Note Holders") representing 100% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Company's 15.0% Senior Secured Notes due 2018 (the " 15.0%
Senior Secured Notes").
On April 18, 2017, the Company launched an exchange offer to the existing holders of its outstanding 8.5% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes due 2019
(the "Convertible Notes") for 5% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes due 2023 (the "New Convertible Notes").
On May 15, 2017, the Company entered into a $1.5 million Promissory Note with PJC Investments, LLC (the "Bridge Note"), to provide financing to fund the
Company's continued operations with maturity date of July 3, 2017. The Bridge Note was amended on June 28, 2017 (the "Amended and Restated Bridge
Note"), to (i) increase the principal amount under the
Bridge Note to $3.3 million and (ii) extend the maturity date from July 3, 2017 to the earlier of (a) July 28, 2017 and (b) the date on which the Master Transaction
Agreements are consummated. Approximately $1.9 million was drawn on the Amended and Restated Bridge Note during the three months and six months
ended June 30, 2017. All outstanding principal and interest amounts due under the Amended and Restated Bridge Note were repaid on July 28, 2017 in
connection with the consummation of the Transaction Closing as described below.
As of June 30, 2017, the Company has incurred approximately $3.3 million in costs related to the Transaction Closing. These costs have been deferred and
included in prepaid and other assets on the consolidated balance sheet.
Subsequent Events
Master Transaction Agreements
On July 28, 2017, the Company consummated a series of integrated transactions to effect a recapitalization of the Company (the "Transaction Closing")
pursuant to the Master Transaction Agreements.
Common Stock Purchase Agreement
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company entered into a Common Stock Purchase Agreement (the "Stock Purchase Agreement") by and
among the Company, PJC, certain investors jointly designated by PJC and Triax Capital Advisors LLC, a New York limited liability company ("Triax"), to be party
to the Stock Purchase Agreement (collectively, the "Common Stock Investors"), and certain Convertible Note Holders that were a party to the Stock Purchase
Agreement (collectively, the "Convertible Note Holder Purchasers," and together with PJC and the Common Stock Investors, the "Purchasers"). Pursuant to the
Stock Purchase Agreement, the Company issued and sold to the Purchasers 115,000,000 shares (the "Stock Purchase Agreement Shares") of the Company’s
common stock, $0.01 par value (the "Common Stock"), at a price of $0.20 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $23.0 million, of which PJC and the
Common Stock Investors purchased 75,000,000 Stock Purchase Agreement Shares for an aggregate purchase price of $15.0 million and the Convertible Note
Holder Purchasers, pursuant to the previously announced rights offering which expired on July 26, 2017, purchased 40,000,000 Stock Purchase Agreement
Shares for an aggregate purchase price of $8.0 million, of which PJC purchased 19,320,038 shares in connection with the exercise of rights assigned to it by
certain Convertible Note Holder Purchasers. The Stock Purchase Agreement contained customary representations, warranties, and covenants.
Common Stock Purchase Warrants
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company issued Common Stock Purchase Warrants (the "Warrants") to certain investors jointly designated
by PJC and Triax (collectively, the "Warrant Investors") to purchase up to an aggregate of 42,500,000 shares of the Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.20
per share (the "Warrant Shares").
The Warrants shall vest and become exercisable as follows: (i) with respect to 17,500,000 Warrant Shares, immediately upon the issuance of the Warrants,
and (ii) with respect to the remaining 25,000,000 Warrant Shares, at later times tied to the conversion of Convertible Notes (as defined below) and New
Convertible Notes (as defined below) outstanding upon the Transaction Closing into shares of Common Stock or, if earlier, upon the date that all Convertible
Notes or New Convertible Notes are no longer outstanding. The Warrants have an eight year term. The number of Warrant Shares is subject to anti-dilution
adjustment provisions.
Convertible Note Exchange Offer
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On July 26, 2017, the Company’s offer to exchange its outstanding $74.2 million aggregate principal amount of 8.5% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes
due 2019 (the "Convertible Notes") for its 5% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes due 2023 (the "New Convertible Notes") expired (the "Convertible Note
Exchange Offer"). At least 98% of the holders of the Convertible Notes tendered in the Convertible Note Exchange Offer.
Second Supplemental Indenture for Convertible Notes
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company entered into a supplemental indenture (the "Supplemental Indenture") to that certain Indenture
dated February 21, 2014 between the Company and U.S. Bank, National Association, as indenture trustee (as amended and supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time, the "Convertible Notes Indenture") governing the Convertible Notes. The purpose of the Supplemental Indenture was to eliminate substantially
all of the restrictive covenants, eliminate certain events of default, eliminate the covenant restricting mergers and consolidations and modify certain provisions
relating to defeasance contained in the Convertible Notes Indenture and the Convertible Notes (collectively, the "Proposed Amendments") promptly after the
receipt of the requisite consents for the Proposed Amendments.
New Convertible Note Indenture and New Convertible Notes
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company caused to be issued the New Convertible Notes in an aggregate amount of approximately $75.8
million pursuant to an Indenture (the "New Convertible Note Indenture") between the Company and U.S. Bank, National Association, as indenture trustee. The
terms of the New Convertible Notes are governed by the New Convertible Note Indenture, which provides, among other things, that the New Convertible Notes
are unsecured senior obligations of the Company and will mature on February 15, 2023. The New Convertible Notes bear interest at a rate of 5% per annum
from the issue date, payable semi-annually on August 15 and February 15 of each year, beginning on August 15, 2017.
Senior Secured Note Purchase Agreement
In connection with the Transaction Closing, PJC, certain investors jointly designated by PJC and Triax (the “Note Purchase Investors”) and holders (the
"Senior Secured Note Holders") representing 100% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Company’s 15.0% Senior Secured Notes entered into a
Note Purchase Agreement (the "Note Purchase Agreement"). Pursuant to the Note Purchase Agreement, the Note Purchase Investors purchased 100% of the
15.0% Senior Secured Notes held by each Senior Secured Note Holder for an aggregate purchase price equal to the face amount of such purchased 15.0%
Senior Secured Notes. The Note Purchase Agreement contained customary representations, warranties, and covenants.
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company paid each Senior Secured Note Holder 5% of the face amount of the 15.0% Senior Secured
Notes held by such Senior Secured Note Holder as of immediately prior to the Transaction Closing, plus all accrued but unpaid interest of such 15.0% Senior
Secured Notes through the date of the Transaction Closing, pursuant to that certain Exchange Participation Agreement dated April 7, 2017 among the Company
and Senior Secured Note Holders representing 100% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes.
New Senior Secured Note Indenture and New Senior Secured Notes
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as indenture trustee (the "Senior Secured Note
Trustee") entered into an Amended and Restated Senior Secured Note Indenture (the "New Senior Secured Indenture") to amend and restate the Indenture
dated as of March 11, 2016 (as amended and supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the "Senior Secured Indenture") between the Company and
the Senior Secured Note Trustee following the Company’s receipt of requisite consents of the holders of the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes. Pursuant to the
terms of the New Senior Secured Indenture, the Company caused the cancellation of all outstanding 15.0% Senior Secured Notes and the issuance of 8.5%
Senior Secured Notes due 2021 (the "New Senior Secured Notes") in an aggregate amount of $30.0 million. The New Senior Secured Indenture provides,
among other things, that the New Senior Secured Notes will be secured senior obligations of the Company and will mature on July 15, 2021. The New Senior
Secured Notes will bear interest at a rate of 8.5% per annum, payable quarterly on March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning
on September 15, 2017.
Special Dividend Note
In connection with the Transaction Closing, Lamington Road Designated Activity Company, an Irish section 110 company and an indirect subsidiary of the
Company ("Lamington"), issued a promissory note to Markley Asset Portfolio, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and an indirect subsidiary of the
Company ("Markley"), in a principal amount of $57.0
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million. The amount represents distributions of earnings from Lamington's share of profits of White Eagle, to satisfy the Profit Participation Note issued by
Markley to Lamington (the "Special Dividend Note"). Management is currently evaluating the extent to which U.S. cash taxes will result from the transaction. The
Special Dividend Note matures on July 28, 2027. Advances under the Special Dividend Note bear interest at an annual rate of 5%. The transaction will be
eliminated in consolidation.
Securities Purchase Agreement
On August 11, 2017, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the "Securities Purchase Agreement") by and between the Company
and Brennan Opportunities Fund I LP ("Brennan"). Pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, Brennan purchased from the Company (i) 12,500,000
shares (the "Brennan Shares") of Common Stock at a price of $0.40 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $5.0 million and (ii) $5.0 million principal
amount of the Company’s New Senior Secured Notes (the "Brennan Notes," and together with the Brennan Shares, the "Brennan Securities"). The Securities
Purchase Agreement contained customary representations, warranties, and covenants.
The sale of the Brennan Securities was consummated on August 11, 2017, as to 8,750,000 shares of Common Stock and $3.5 million principal amount of
New Senior Secured Notes, and on August 14, 2017, as to 3,750,000 shares of Common Stock and $1.5 million principal amount of New Senior Secured Notes.
See Note 19 "Subsequent Events" of the accompanying financial statements for additional information.

Financing Arrangements Summary
White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility
As amended on December 29, 2016, White Eagle is the borrower under a $370.0 million revolving credit facility, with Imperial Finance and Trading, LLC, as
the initial servicer, the initial portfolio manager and guarantor, Lamington Road Bermuda Ltd., as portfolio manager, LNV Corporation, as initial lender, the other
financial institutions party thereto as lenders, and CLMG Corp., as administrative agent for the lenders.
Borrowing availability under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility is subject to a borrowing base, which, among other items, is capped at 75% of the
valuation of the policies pledged as collateral. This loan to value calculation is determined by the lenders with a high degree of discretion. At June 30, 2017,
$70.9 million was undrawn and $5.0 million was available to borrow under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility. For a discussion of the calculation of the
facility's borrowing base availability, see Note 9, "White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility —Borrowing Base & Availability" of the notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.
At June 30, 2017, the fair value of the debt under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility was $304.9 million, the borrowing base was approximately
$304.2 million including $299.1 million in outstanding principal. Interest calculated as LIBOR (subject to a floor of 1.5%) plus an applicable margin of 4.5% is due
quarterly. Interest totaling $4.3 million was paid during the quarter ended June 30, 2017, which was paid from policy proceeds. There are no scheduled
repayments of principal prior to maturity although payments are due upon receipt of death benefits and distributed pursuant to the waterfall. At June 30, 2017,
approximately $16.2 million included in cash and cash equivalents -VIE was on account with White Eagle for distribution through the waterfall.
Based on the loan agreement, the LIBOR portion of the interest rate will re-adjust annually once the floor has exceeded 1.5%. The applicable rate will be
dependent on the rate at the last business day of the preceding calendar year. Future increase in LIBOR could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
financial position and results of operations. At June 30, 2017, LIBOR was 1.69%.
8.50% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes
At June 30, 2017, there was $74.2 million in aggregate principal amount of the Company’s 8.50% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes due 2019
outstanding. For a description of the Convertible Notes see Note 11, "8.50% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes," of the notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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On February 14, 2017, the Company solicited consents (the "Consent Solicitation") to issue additional 8.50% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes (the
"Additional Convertible Notes") in lieu of a cash payment of interest on February 15, 2017 (the "2017 Interest Payment Date") to holders of the Convertible
Notes. The Company's obligation to issue the Additional Convertible Notes was subject to the satisfaction of (1) not less than 95% of the aggregate principal
amount of Convertible Notes agreeing to accept Additional Convertible Notes in lieu of a cash payment of interest on the 2017 Interest Payment Date and (2) the
amendment of the Senior Secured Indenture to permit the issuance of the Additional Convertible Notes. This consent was only effective for the cash payment of
interest due on the 2017 Interest Payment Date and not for subsequent interest payments.
On March 14, 2017, the Company issued an additional $3.5 million in Additional Convertible Notes following the Company’s receipt of requisite consents of
the holders of the Convertible Notes of approximately 98% of the aggregate principal amount of Convertible Notes (the "Consenting Holders"), pursuant to the
Consent Solicitation, whereby each Consenting Holder agreed to accept Additional Convertible Notes in lieu of a cash payment of interest on the Convertible
Notes due on the 2017 Interest Payment Date. All Additional Convertible Notes issued by the Company to Consenting Holders were issued under the
Convertible Note Indenture and such Additional Convertible Notes have identical terms to existing Convertible Notes. Interest on the Additional Convertible
Notes will accrue from February 15, 2017. The issuance of the Additional Convertible Notes increased the outstanding principal to $74.2 million at June 30,
2017.
On March 15, 2017 and May 12, 2017, the Company entered into a series of separate Master Transaction Agreements (the "Master Transaction
Agreements") by and between the Company, PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited liability company ("PJC") and each such Consenting Convertible Note
Holder that is a party to such Master Transaction Agreement regarding a series of integrated transactions with the intent to effect a recapitalization of the
Company (the "Transaction") which includes, among other transactions, a Convertible Note Exchange Offer and a New Convertible Note Indenture providing for
the issuance of New Convertible Notes to be delivered in connection with the Transaction (each as defined in the Master Transaction Agreements).
As part of the Transaction, on April 18, 2017 the Company launched an exchange offer to the existing holders of its outstanding 8.5% Senior Unsecured
Convertible Notes due 2019 (the "Convertible Notes") for 5% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes due 2023 (the "New Convertible Notes"). At least 98% of the
holders of the Convertible Notes must tender in the exchange offer as a condition to closing the Transaction.
Subsequent Events
Master Transaction Agreements
On July 28, 2017, the Company consummated a series of integrated transactions to effect a recapitalization of the Company (the "Transaction Closing")
pursuant to the Master Transaction Agreements.
Convertible Note Exchange Offer
On July 26, 2017, the Company’s offer to exchange its Convertible Notes for its New Convertible Notes expired (the "Convertible Note Exchange Offer"). At
least 98% of the holders of the Convertible Notes tendered in the Convertible Note Exchange Offer.
Supplemental Indenture for Convertible Notes
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company entered into a supplemental indenture (the "Supplemental Indenture") to that certain Indenture
dated February 21, 2014 between the Company and U.S. Bank, National Association, as indenture trustee (as amended and supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time, the " Convertible Notes Indenture") governing the Convertible Notes. The purpose of the Supplemental Indenture was to eliminate
substantially all of the restrictive covenants, eliminate certain events of default, eliminate the covenant restricting mergers and consolidations and modify certain
provisions relating to defeasance contained in the Convertible Notes Indenture and the Convertible Notes (collectively, the "Proposed Amendments") promptly
after the receipt of the requisite consents for the Proposed Amendments.
New Convertible Note Indenture and New Convertible Notes
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company caused to be issued the New Convertible Notes in an aggregate amount of approximately $75.8
million pursuant to an Indenture (the "New Convertible Note Indenture") between the
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Company and U.S. Bank, National Association, as indenture trustee. The terms of the New Convertible Notes are governed by the New Convertible Note
Indenture, which provides, among other things, that the New Convertible Notes are unsecured senior obligations of the Company and will mature on February
15, 2023. The New Convertible Notes bear interest at a rate of 5% per annum from the issue date, payable semi-annually on August 15 and February 15 of each
year, beginning on August 15, 2017.
Holders of New Convertible Notes may convert their New Convertible Notes at their option on any day prior to the close of business on the second
scheduled trading day immediately preceding February 15, 2023. Upon conversion, the Company will deliver shares of Common Stock, together with any cash
payment for any fractional share of Common Stock. The initial conversion rate for the New Convertible Notes will be (x) 500 shares of Common Stock per $1,000
principal amount of New Convertible Notes (for New Convertible Notes denominated in $1,000 increments) and (y) 0.5 shares of Common Stock per $1.00
principal amount of New Convertible Notes (for New Convertible Notes denominated in $1.00 increments). The conversion rate will be subject to adjustment in
certain circumstances.
The Company may redeem, in whole but not in part, the New Convertible Notes at a redemption price of 100% of the principal amount of the New
Convertible Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest, if any, if and only if the last reported sale price of the Common Stock
equals or exceeds 120% of the conversion price for at least 15 trading days in any period of 30 consecutive trading days. The Company may, at its election, pay
or deliver as the case may be, to all Holders of the New Convertible Notes, either (a) solely cash, (b) solely shares of Common Stock, or (c) a combination of
cash and shares of Common Stock.
The New Convertible Note Indenture provides for customary events of default, which include (subject in certain cases to customary grace and cure periods),
among others: nonpayment of principal or interest; breach of covenants or other agreements in the New Convertible Note Indenture; defaults or failure to pay
certain other indebtedness; and certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency. Generally, if an event of default occurs and is continuing under the New Convertible
Note Indenture, the trustee or the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the New Convertible Notes then outstanding may declare all unpaid
principal plus accrued interest on the New Convertible Notes immediately due and payable, subject to certain conditions set forth in the New Convertible Note
Indenture. In addition, holders of the New Convertible Notes may require the Company to repurchase the New Convertible Notes upon the occurrence of certain
designated events at a repurchase price of 100% of the principal amount of the New Convertible Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest.
See Note 19 "Subsequent Events," of the accompanying financial statements for additional information.
15.0% Senior Secured Notes
At June 30, 2017, there was $30.0 million in aggregate principal amount of the Company’s 15.0% Senior Secured Notes due 2018 outstanding. For a
description of the Secured Notes, see Note 12, "15.0% Senior Secured Notes," of the notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
On or about April 7, 2017, the Company entered into an Exchange Participation Agreement (the "Participation Agreement") with holders (the "Consenting
Senior Note Holders") representing 100% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Company's 15.0% Senior Secured Notes. Pursuant to the
Participation Agreement, each Consenting Senior Note Holder agreed to enter into a Senior Note purchase agreement with PJC or its designee to sell 100% of
the aggregate principal amount of the New Senior Notes that are to be issued to such Consenting Senior Note Holder at a price equal to 100% of the face
amount of each New Senior Note purchased. In connection with the closing of all the transactions contemplated by the Master Transaction Agreements,
including the closing of the Senior Note purchase agreement (the "Closing Date"), the Company agreed to pay each Consenting Senior Note Holder 5.0% of the
face amount of the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes held by such Consenting Senior Note Holder, plus all accrued but unpaid interest under such 15.0% Senior
Secured Notes through the Closing Date (the "Sale Participation Fee").
On June 15, 2017, the Company did not make an interest payment of $1.2 million (the "Interest Payment") due June 15, 2017 (the "Interest Payment Date")
on the Company’s 15.0% Senior Secured Notes, of which $30.0 million principal amount was outstanding on that date. On June 21, 2017, the Company, the
Consenting Senior Note Holders and the Senior Secured Note Trustee, entered into a Consent and Forbearance Agreement (the "Forbearance Agreement")
relating to Senior Secured Indenture between the Company and the Senior Secured Note Trustee. Pursuant to the Forbearance Agreement, the Consenting
Senior Note Holders agreed to: (i) extend the Interest Payment that would otherwise be due and payable on the Interest Payment Date to June 30, 2017 and (ii)
forbear from exercising their rights and remedies against the Company solely with respect to a certain event of default under the Senior Secured Indenture (the
"Specified Default") during the period commencing on June 15, 2017 and ending on the date that is the earlier of (a) July 1, 2017 or (b) the date on which any
other
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breach of any Transaction Documents (as defined in the Senior Secured Indenture) by the Company occurs (the "Termination Date"); provided that if the
Company made the Interest Payment in full in accordance with the Senior Secured Indenture prior to the Termination Date, the Specified Default shall be
waived. On June 29, 2017, the Company made the Interest Payment in full and the Specified Default was deemed waived.
On June 28, 2017, the Company and the Senior Secured Note Trustee entered into the Third Supplemental Indenture (the "Third Supplemental
Indenture"), implementing certain amendments to the Senior Secured Indenture following the Company’s receipt of requisite consents of the holders of the
15.0% Senior Secured Notes. The Third Supplemental Indenture amends the Senior Secured Indenture to (i) modify the definition of "Permitted Indebtedness"
to include the increased principal amount pursuant to the Amended and Restated Promissory Note and (ii) amend the definition of "Payment Date," so that
beginning with and including July 14, 2017, the interest payment date occurs monthly, as opposed to quarterly.
Subsequent Events
Master Transaction Agreements
On July 28, 2017, the Company consummated a series of integrated transactions to effect a recapitalization of the Company (the "Transaction Closing")
pursuant to the Master Transaction Agreements.
Senior Secured Note Purchase Agreement
In connection with the Transaction Closing, PJC, certain investors jointly designated by PJC and Triax (the "Note Purchase Investors") and holders (the
"Senior Secured Note Holders") representing 100% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Company’s 15.0% Senior Secured Notes entered into a
Note Purchase Agreement (the "Note Purchase Agreement"). Pursuant to the Note Purchase Agreement, the Note Purchase Investors purchased 100% of the
15.0% Senior Secured Notes held by each Senior Secured Note Holder for an aggregate purchase price equal to the face amount of such purchased 15.0%
Senior Secured Notes. The Note Purchase Agreement contained customary representations, warranties, and covenants.
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company paid each Senior Secured Note Holder 5% of the face amount of the 15.0% Senior Secured
Notes held by such Senior Secured Note Holder as of immediately prior to the Transaction Closing, plus all accrued but unpaid interest of such 15.0% Senior
Secured Notes through the date of the Transaction Closing, pursuant to that certain Exchange Participation Agreement dated April 7, 2017 among the Company
and Senior Secured Note Holders representing 100% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes.
New Senior Secured Note Indenture and New Senior Secured Notes
In connection with the Transaction Closing, the Company and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as indenture trustee (the "Senior Secured Note
Trustee") entered into an Amended and Restated Senior Secured Note Indenture (the "New Senior Secured Indenture") to amend and restate the Indenture
dated as of March 11, 2016 (as amended and supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the "Senior Secured Indenture") between the Company and
the Senior Secured Note Trustee following the Company’s receipt of requisite consents of the holders of the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes. Pursuant to the
terms of the New Senior Secured Indenture, the Company caused the cancellation of all outstanding 15.0% Senior Secured Notes and the issuance of 8.5%
Senior Secured Notes due 2021 (the "New Senior Secured Notes") in an aggregate amount of $30.0 million. The New Senior Secured Indenture provides,
among other things, that the New Senior Secured Notes will be secured senior obligations of the Company and will mature on July 15, 2021. The New Senior
Secured Notes will bear interest at a rate of 8.5% per annum, payable quarterly on March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning
on September 15, 2017.
The New Senior Secured Indenture provides that the New Senior Secured Notes may be optionally redeemed in full by the Company at any time and must
be redeemed in full upon additional issuances of debt by the Company in each case, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount redeemed plus (i) accrued
and unpaid interest on the New Senior Secured Notes redeemed up to the date of redemption, and (ii) the Applicable Premium, if any, as defined in the New
Senior Secured Indenture. Upon a change of control, the Company will be required to make an offer to holders of the New Senior Secured Notes to repurchase
the New Senior Secured Notes at a price equal to 107.5% of their principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest up to the date of redemption.
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The New Senior Secured Indenture contains negative covenants restricting additional debt incurred by the Company, creation of liens on the collateral
securing the New Senior Secured Notes, and restrictions on dividends and stock repurchases, among other things. The New Senior Secured Notes are secured
by settlement proceeds, if any, received from certain litigation involving the Company, certain notes issued to the Company, and pledges of 65% of the equity
interests in Blue Heron Designated Activity Company, OLIPP IV, LLC and Red Reef Alternative Investments, LLC.
The New Senior Secured Indenture provides for customary events of default which include (subject in certain cases to customary grace and cure periods),
among others: nonpayment of principal or interest; breach of covenants or other agreements in the New Senior Secured Indenture; defaults in failure to pay
certain other indebtedness; and certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency. Generally, if an event of default occurs and is continuing under the New Senior
Secured Indenture, the trustee or the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the New Senior Secured Notes then outstanding may declare the
principal of and accrued but unpaid interest, plus a premium, if any, on all the New Senior Secured Notes immediately due and payable, subject to certain
conditions set forth in the New Senior Secured Indenture.
See Note 19 "Subsequent Events," of the accompanying financial statements for additional information.
15.0% Promissory Note
On May 15, 2017, the Company entered into a $1.5 million Promissory Note with PJC Investments, LLC (the "Bridge Note"), to provide financing to fund the
Company's continued operations with maturity date of July 3, 2017. The Bridge Note was amended on June 28, 2017, (the "Amended and Restated Bridge
Note") to (i) increase the principal amount under the Bridge Note to $3.3 million and (ii) extend the maturity date from July 3, 2017 to the earlier of (a) July 28,
2017 or (b) the date on which the Master Transaction Agreements are consummated. For a description of the Amended and Restated Bridge Note, see Note 13,
"15.0% Promissory Notes," of the notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Subsequent Event
All outstanding principal and interest amounts due under the Amended and Restated Bridge Note were repaid on July 28, 2017 in connection with the
consummation of the Transaction Closing.
At-The-Market Offering
On March 14, 2016, we filed a prospectus supplement with the SEC related to the offer and sale from time to time of our common stock at an aggregate
offering price of up to $50.0 million through FBR Capital Markets & Co. and MLV & Co. LLC, as distribution agents. Sales of shares of our common stock under
the prospectus supplement and the equity distribution agreement entered into with the distribution agents, if any, may be made in negotiated transactions or
transactions that are deemed to be "at the market" offerings as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933. We have agreed to pay the distribution
agents a commission rate of up to 3% of the gross proceeds from the sale of any shares of common stock sold through the equity distribution agreement.
During the six months ended June 30, 2017, the Company sold no shares of common stock under this prospectus supplement.
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Cash Flows
Cash Flows
The following table summarizes our cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 (in
thousands):
Six Months Ended June 30,
2017

2016

Statement of Cash Flows Data:
Total cash (used in) provided by:
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities

$

Increase in cash and cash equivalents

$

(16,995)

(23,269)

(10,835)

(19,753)

39,177

11,347

46,737

$

3,715

Operating Activities
During the six months ended June 30, 2017 , operating activities used cash of $17.0 million. Our net loss of $4.8 million was adjusted for the following:
amortization of discount and deferred cost for the Convertible Notes of $2.0 million, change in fair value of life settlement gain of $28.9 million that is mainly
attributable to maturities of seven policies; change in fair value of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility loss of $10.0 million that is mainly attributable to
increased borrowings offset by the shortening of life expectancies of certain insureds underlying policies pledged as collateral in the facility and a slight decrease
in the discount rate; interest paid in kind on the Convertible Notes of $3.5 million; and a net positive change in the components of operating assets and liabilities
of $241,000. This $241,000 change in operating assets and liabilities is partially attributable to a $111,000 increase in interest payable for the Convertible Notes,
a $3.5 million increase in prepaid and other assets, and a $3.7 million increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses.
During the six months ended June 30, 2016 , operating activities used cash of $23.3 million. Our net loss of $17.4 million was adjusted for: change in fair
value of life settlement loss of $7.4 million that is mainly attributable to the maturities of eight policies; change in fair value of the Revolving Credit Facilities gain
of $15.6 million that is mainly attributable to a reduction in the discount rate used to value the facility, offset by increased borrowings and the lengthening of life
expectancies of certain insureds underlying policies pledged as collateral in the facility, and a net negative change in the components of operating assets and
liabilities of $220,000. This $220,000 change in operating assets and liabilities is partially attributable to a $186,000 increase in accounts payable and accrued
expenses; and a $461,000 increase in prepaid and other assets.
Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2017 was $10.8 million and includes proceeds of $26.2 million from the maturity of
life settlements; and redemption proceeds of $5.0 million from certificates of deposit. This was offset by $42.0 million for premiums paid on life settlements.
Net cash used in investing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2016 was $19.8 million and includes proceeds of $21.0 million from the maturity of
life settlements. This was offset by $34.3 million for premiums paid on life settlements.
Financing Activities
Net cash provided by financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2017 was $39.2 million and includes $43.0 million of borrowings from the White
Eagle Revolving Credit Facility and $1.9 million of borrowings from the Amended and Restated Bridge Notes. These were offset by $5.7 million in repayment of
borrowings under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility.
Net cash provided by financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2016 was $46.7 million and includes $30.0 million of proceeds from the 15.0%
Senior Secured Notes, $25.2 million of borrowings from the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility and $8.5 million of borrowings from the Red Falcon Revolving
Credit Facility. These were offset by $8.0 million in repayment of borrowings under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility and $8.0 million in repayment of
borrowings under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility.
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Inflation
Our assets and liabilities are, and will be in the future, interest-rate sensitive in nature. As a result, interest rates may influence our performance far more
than inflation. Changes in interest rates do not necessarily correlate with inflation or changes in inflation rates. We do not believe that inflation had any material
impact on our results of operations in the periods presented in our financial statements presented in this report.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
At June 30, 2017, there were no off-balance sheet arrangements between us and any other entity that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or
future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenue or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital
resources that is material to shareholders.
Item 3.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk is the risk of potential economic loss principally arising from adverse changes in the fair value of financial instruments. The major components
of market risk are credit risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. As of June 30, 2017, we did not hold a material amount of financial instruments for trading
purposes.
Credit Risk
Credit risk consists primarily of the potential loss arising from adverse changes in the financial condition of the issuers of the life insurance policies that we
own. Although we may purchase life settlements from carriers rated below investment grade, to limit our credit risk, we generally only purchase life settlements
from companies that are investment grade.
The following table provides information about the life insurance issuer concentrations that exceed 10% of total death benefit and 10% of total fair value of
our life settlements as of June 30, 2017:
Percentage of
Total Fair
Value

Carrier

Transamerica Life Insurance Company

18.4%
21.9%

Lincoln National Life Insurance Company

Percentage of
Total Death
Benefit

20.9%
19.3%

Moody’s
Rating

S&P
Rating

A1
A1

AAAA-

Interest Rate Risk
At June 30, 2017, fluctuations in interest rates did not impact interest expense in the life finance business. The White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility
accrues interest at LIBOR plus an applicable margin. LIBOR is subject to a floor of 1.5%.
Based on the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility loan agreement, the LIBOR portion of the interest rate will re-adjust annually once the floor has
exceeded 1.5%. The applicable rate will be dependent on the rate at the last business day of the preceding calendar year. At June 30, 2017, the applicable
LIBOR rate was 1.69%.
Future increases in LIBOR could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position and results of operations. Increases in LIBOR above
the floors provided in the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, will also affect the calculation of the fair value of the debt under the White Eagle Revolving Credit
Facility. Additional increases in interest rates may impact the rates at which we are able to obtain financing in the future.
We earn income on the changes in fair value of the life insurance policies we own. However, if the fair value of the life insurance policies we own
decreases, we record this reduction as a loss.
As of June 30, 2017, we owned life settlements with a fair value of $526.3 million. A rise in interest rates could potentially have an adverse impact on the
sale price if we were to sell some or all of these assets, which could also decrease the borrowing base available to White Eagle under the applicable White Eagle
Revolving Credit Facility. There are several factors that affect the market value of life settlements, including the age and health of the insured, investors’
demand, available liquidity in the marketplace, duration and longevity of the policy, and interest rates. We currently do not view the risk of a decline in the sale
price of life settlements due to normal changes in interest rates as a material risk.
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Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk
Changes in the exchange rate between transactions denominated in a currency other than our foreign subsidiaries’ functional currency are immaterial to our
operating results. Exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk may increase over time as our business evolves.
Item 4.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and
procedures, as such term is defined under Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange
Act"). Based on this evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of
the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Limitations on Controls
Our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their
objectives as specified above. Management does not expect, however, that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal controls over financial
reporting will prevent or detect all error and fraud. Any control system, no matter how well designed and operated, is based on certain assumptions and can
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that its objectives will be met. Further, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that
misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting during our most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1.

Litigation

For a description of developments to legal proceedings during the six months ended June 30, 2017 , see "Litigation" under Note 16, "Commitments and
Contingencies" to our consolidated financial statements.
Item 1A.

Risk Factors

Our risk factors have not changed materially from those disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Item 2.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

None
Item 3.

Default Upon Senior Securities

The Company did not make an interest payment of $1.2 million, due June 15, 2017, on the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes, of which $30.0 million principal
amount was outstanding on that date. The Company paid the cash interest payment of $1.2 million to the holders of the 15.0% Senior Secured Notes on June
29, 2017.
Item 4.

Mine Safety Disclosures
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None.
Item 5.

Other Information

None
Item 6.

Exhibits

See the Exhibit Index following the Signatures page of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Emergent Capital, Inc.
/s/ Miriam Martinez

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Miriam Martinez
Date August 14, 2017
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Number

3.1
4.1
4.2
4.3

4.4

Form

Exhibit

Filing Date

Articles of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation of Registrant.
Bridge Note made in favor of PJC Investments, LLC dated May 15, 2017.

Exhibit Description

8-K
SC TO

3.1
(b)(3)

8/1/2017
5/26/2017

Amended and Restated Bridge Note made in favor of PJC Investments, LLC,
dated June 28, 2017.
Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 15, 2017 between Emergent
Capital, Inc. and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as indenture trustee.

SC TO

(b)(3) (A)

6/29/2017

Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 28, 2017 between Emergent
Capital, Inc. and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as indenture trustee.
Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant, dated as of July 28, 2017.

*
*
8-K

4.1

8/1/2017

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 28, 2017, by and among
Emergent Capital, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association.

8-K

4.2

8/1/2017

Indenture, dated as of July 28, 2017, by and among Emergent Capital, Inc. and
Wilmington Trust, National Association, as indenture trustee.

8-K

4.3

8/1/2017

Amended and Restated Indenture, dated as of July 28, 2017, by and among
Emergent Capital, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association.

8-K

4.4
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Special Dividend Note, dated as of July 28, 2017, made by Lamington Road
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Master Transaction Agreement, dated as of March 15, 2017 by and among
Emergent Capital, Inc., PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited liability
company, and Bulldog Investors LLC.
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Amendment to Master Transaction Agreement, dated as of April 7, 2017 by and
among Emergent Capital, Inc., PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited liability
company, and Bulldog Investors LLC.
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Amendment No. 2 to Master Transaction Agreement, dated as of June 19, 2017
by and among Emergent Capital, Inc., PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited
liability company, and Bulldog Investors LLC.
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Master Transaction Agreement, dated as of March 15, 2017 by and among
Emergent Capital, Inc., PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited liability
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10.6

10.7†

10.8†

10.9

10.10†

Amendment to Master Transaction Agreement, dated as of April 7, 2017 by and
among Emergent Capital, Inc., PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited liability
company, and Rangeley Capital, LLC.
Amendment No. 2 to Master Transaction Agreement, dated as of June 19, 2017
by and among Emergent Capital, Inc., PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited
liability company, and Rangeley Capital, LLC.
Master Transaction Agreement, dated as of March 15, 2017 by and among
Emergent Capital, Inc., PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited liability
company, and NS Advisors, LLC.
Amendment to Master Transaction Agreement, dated as of April 7, 2017 by and
among Emergent Capital, Inc., PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited liability
company, and NS Advisors, LLC.
Amendment No. 2 to Master Transaction Agreement, dated as of June 19, 2017
by and among Emergent Capital, Inc., PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited
liability company, and NS Advisors, LLC.
Master Transaction Agreement, dated as of March 15, 2017 by and among
Emergent Capital, Inc., PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited liability
company, and Joel Lusman.

10.12

Amendment to Master Transaction Agreement, dated as of April 7, 2017 by and
among Emergent Capital, Inc., PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited liability
company, and Joel Lusman.
Amendment No. 2 to Master Transaction Agreement, dated as of June 19, 2017
by and among Emergent Capital, Inc., PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited
liability company, and Joel Lusman.

10.13†

Master Transaction Agreement, dated as of March 15, 2017, by and among
Emergent Capital, Inc., PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited liability
company, and each of Ironsides P Fund L.P., and Ironsides Partners Special
Situations Master Fund II L.P.

10.11†

10.14†

10.15

Amendment to Master Transaction Agreement, dated as of April 7, 2017 by and
among Emergent Capital, Inc., PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited liability
company, and each of Ironsides P Fund L.P. and Ironsides Partners Special
Situations Master Fund II L.P.
Amendment No. 2 to Master Transaction Agreement, dated as of June 19, 2017
by and among Emergent Capital, Inc., PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited
liability company, and each of Ironsides P Fund L.P. and Ironsides Partners
Special Situations Master Fund II L.P.
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Master Transaction Agreement, dated as of March 15, 2017, by and among
Emergent Capital, Inc., PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited liability
company, and each of Nantahala Capital Partners Limited Partnership,
Nantahala Capital Partners II Limited Partnership, Nantahala Capital Partners
SI, LP, Blackwell Partners LLC - Series A, Silver Creek CS SAV, L.L.C. and
Fort George Investments, LLC.
Amendment to Master Transaction Agreement, dated as of April 7, 2017, by
and among Emergent Capital, Inc., PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited
liability company, and each of Nantahala Capital Partners Limited Partnership,
Nantahala Capital Partners II Limited Partnership, Nantahala Capital Partners
SI, LP, Blackwell Partners LLC - Series A, Silver Creek CS SAV, L.L.C. and
Fort George Investments, LLC.
Amendment No. 2 to Master Transaction Agreement, dated as of June 19,
2017, by and among Emergent Capital, Inc., PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas
limited liability company, and each of Nantahala Capital Partners Limited
Partnership, Nantahala Capital Partners II Limited Partnership, Nantahala
Capital Partners SI, LP, Blackwell Partners LLC - Series A, Silver Creek CS
SAV, L.L.C. and Fort George Investments, LLC.
Master Transaction Agreement, dated as of May 12, 2017 by and among
Emergent Capital, Inc., PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited liability
company, and Integrated Core Strategies (US) LLC.
Amendment No. 1 to Master Transaction Agreement, dated as of June 19, 2017
by and among Emergent Capital, Inc., PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited
liability company, and Integrated Core Strategies (US) LLC.
Amendment to Amended & Restated Imperial Holdings 2010 Omnibus
Incentive Plan.
Consent and Forbearance Agreement, dated as of June 21, 2017 by and among
Emergent Capital, Inc., Wilmington Trust, National Association, as indenture
trustee, and holders of 100% of the aggregate principal amount of Emergent
Capital, Inc.’s 15.0% Senior Secured Notes.
Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 28, 2017, by and among
Emergent Capital, Inc., PJC Investments, LLC and the purchasers party
thereto.
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8-K

10.1

8/1/2017

8-K

10.2

8/1/2017

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of July 28, 2017, by and among
Emergent Capital, Inc., and the holders party thereto.

8-K

10.3

8/1/2017

Board Designation Agreement, dated as of July 28, 2017, by and between
Emergent Capital, Inc. and Evermore Global Advisors, LLC.

8-K

10.4

8/1/2017

Board Designation Agreement, dated as of July 28, 2017, by and among
Emergent Capital, Inc., PJC Investments, LLC and JSARCo, LLC.

8-K

10.5

8/1/2017

10.23
Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 28, 2017, by and among PJC
Investments, LLC, purchasers party thereto, and the holders of the Company’s
15.05% Senior Secured Notes due 2018.
10.24
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10.26

10.27
80

Board Designation Agreement, dated as of July 28, 2017, by and between
Emergent Capital, Inc. and Opal Sheppard Opportunities Fund I LP.

8-K

10.6

8/1/2017

8-K

10.7

8/1/2017

8-K

10.8

8/1/2017

10.28
Board Designation Agreement, dated as of July 28, 2017, by and among
Emergent Capital, Inc., Ironsides P Fund L.P. and Ironsides Partners Special
Situations Master Fund II L.P.
10.29
Board Designation Agreement, dated as of July 28, 2017, by and between
Emergent Capital, Inc. and Nantahala Capital Management, LLC.
10.30
Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 11, 2017, by and between
Emergent Capital, Inc. and Brennan Opportunities Fund I LP.
10.31

*
Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of August 11, 2017, by and between
Emergent Capital, Inc., and Brennan Opportunities Fund I LP.

10.32

*
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002.
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31.2

*
*

32.2

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002.

101
101.INS
101.SCH

Interactive Data Files
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

*
*
*

101.CAL
101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document

*
*

101.LAB
101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document 10.1 & 10.2
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

*
*

32.1

†
*
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**

Certain portions of the exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a confidential treatment order. An unredacted copy of the exhibit has been filed separately
with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the request for confidential treatment.
Filed herewith.
Furnished herewith.

81

EMERGENT CAPITAL, INC., as
Issuer and
WILMINGTON TRUST, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as
Indenture Trustee
Second Supplemental Indenture
Dated as of May 15, 2017 to
Indenture
Dated as of March 11, 2016

SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE, dated as of May 15, 2017 (the “Second Supplemental Indenture”), among
EMERGENT CAPITAL, INC., a corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Florida (herein called the
“Issuer”), having its principal office at 5355 Town Center Road, Suite 701, Boca Raton, Florida 33486, and WILMINGTON TRUST,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national banking association duly organized and existing under the laws of the United States of
America, as Indenture Trustee (solely in such capacity, the “Indenture Trustee”).
RECITALS OF THE ISSUER
The Issuer and the Indenture Trustee are parties to that certain Indenture dated as of March 11, 2016, as amended by
that certain First Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 8, 2017 (as amended, the “Indenture”), providing for the issuance of the
Issuer’s 15.0% senior secured notes due September 14, 2018.
Section 8.02(a) of the Indenture provides that, with the written consent of the Required Holders, the Issuer and the
Indenture Trustee may enter into an indenture supplemental to amend certain provisions of the Indenture.
All the conditions and requirements necessary to make this Second Supplemental Indenture, when duly executed and
delivered, a valid and binding agreement in accordance with its terms and for the purposes herein expressed, have been performed
and fulfilled.
NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the premises, it is mutually covenanted and agreed, for the equal and
proportionate benefit of all Holders, from time to time, of the Notes, as follows:
ARTICLE I
RELATION TO INDENTURE; DEFINITIONS
Section 1.1. Relation to Indenture. This Second Supplemental Indenture constitutes an integral part of the Indenture.
Section 1.2. Definitions. F o r a l l purposes o f this Second Supplemental Indenture, except as otherwise expressly
provided for or unless the context otherwise requires, capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the respective
meanings assigned to them in the Indenture; and all references herein to Articles and Sections, unless otherwise specified, refer to
the corresponding Articles and Sections of this Second Supplemental Indenture.

ARTICLE II
AMENDMENTS
Section 2.1. Definition of Permitted Indebtedness. The definition of “Permitted Indebtedness” set forth in Section 1.01 of
the Indenture is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
“Permitted Indebtedness” means
(i) the Notes;
(ii) Indebtedness existing on the Initial Issue Date;
(iii) Indebtedness now or hereafter incurred under the Credit Facilities; (iv) Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness;
(v) all 8.50% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes (the “Convertible Notes”) issued by the Issuer under the Indenture
dated February 21, 2014 between the Issuer, as issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Convertible Note
Indenture”), after February 14, 2017 in lieu of a cash payment of interest due to the holders of the Convertible Notes; and
(vi) Indebtedness created under the Promissory Note in the original principal amount of $1,500,000, dated May 15,
2017, made by the Issuer in favor of PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited liability company (the “Promissory Note”), but only
if the per annum interest rate applicable to the Promissory Note is less than or equal to 15% (or 17% upon an event of default
thereunder).
Section 2.2. Amendment to Section 4.07. Section 4.07 of the Indenture is hereby amended to add the following
additional paragraph to the end of Section 4.07:
(e) If at the time any payment of (a) principal or other amounts (other than scheduled interest then due and payable) is
made on the Notes or the Promissory Note, then the Issuer shall also make a corresponding payment on the outstanding principal
amount of the Notes or Promissory Note, as applicable, which payment the Issuer shall cause to be allocated pro rata among the
Notes and the Promissory Note, calculated by the Issuer on the outstanding principal amounts of the Notes and the Promissory Note
on a pro rata basis, and (b) interest on the outstanding principal balance of the Promissory Note is made and interest on the Notes is
due and has not been paid in full, then the Issuer shall also make a corresponding payment on any accrued but unpaid interest on the
outstanding principal balance of the Notes, which payments the Issuer shall cause to be allocated pro rata among the Promissory
Note and the Notes calculated by the Issuer on the outstanding principal amounts of the Promissory Note and the Notes on a pro rata
basis. Notwithstanding the foregoing, payments on the Notes made pursuant to this Section 4.07(e) shall be made only on Payment
Dates or as otherwise expressly provided by this Indenture. The Indenture Trustee shall have no duty or obligation to make any
determination, verification or calculation with respect to any payments, allocations or payees under or pursuant to this Section

4.07(e), and shall be entitled to rely exclusively and conclusively upon any Issuer Order provided by the Issuer with respect to any
such payments, allocations and payees.

ARTICLE III MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
Section 3.1. Ratification of Indenture. Except as expressly modified or amended hereby, the Indenture continues in
full force and effect and is in all respects confirmed and preserved.
Section 3.2.
Governing Law. This Second Supplemental Indenture shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of New York.
Section 3.3. Counterparts. This Second Supplemental Indenture may be executed in any number of counterparts, each
of which so executed shall be deemed to be an original, but all such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same
instrument.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Second Supplemental Indenture to be duly executed by
their respective officers hereunto duly authorized, all as of the day and year written above.
EMERGENT CAPITAL, INC.

Mitchell
Executive Officer

By: /s/ Antony Mitchell
Name: Antony
Title: Chief

WILMINGTON TRUST, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
solely as Indenture Trustee and not in its individual capacity

By: /s/ Robert J.
Donaldson

Donaldson
President

Name: Robert J.
Title: Vice

EMERGENT CAPITAL, INC., as
Issuer and
WILMINGTON TRUST, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as
Indenture Trustee
Third Supplemental Indenture
Dated as of June 28, 2017 to
Indenture
Dated as of March 11, 2016

THIRD SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE, dated as of June 28, 2017 (the “Third Supplemental Indenture”), among
EMERGENT CAPITAL, INC., a corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Florida (herein called the
“Issuer”), having its principal office at 5355 Town Center Road, Suite 701, Boca Raton, Florida 33486, and WILMINGTON TRUST,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national banking association duly organized and existing under the laws of the United States of
America, as Indenture Trustee (solely in such capacity, the “Indenture Trustee”).
RECITALS OF THE ISSUER
The Issuer and the Indenture Trustee are parties to that certain Indenture dated as of March 11, 2016, as amended by
that certain First Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 8, 2017 and that Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of May 15,
2017 (as amended, the “Indenture”), providing for the issuance of the Issuer’s 15.0% senior secured notes due September 14, 2018.
Section 8.02(a) of the Indenture provides that, with the written consent of the Required Holders, the Issuer and the
Indenture Trustee may enter into an indenture supplemental to amend certain provisions of the Indenture.
All the conditions and requirements necessary to make this Third Supplemental Indenture, when duly executed and
delivered, a valid and binding agreement in accordance with its terms and for the purposes herein expressed, have been performed
and fulfilled.
NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the premises, it is mutually covenanted and agreed, for the equal and
proportionate benefit of all Holders, from time to time, of the Notes, as follows:
ARTICLE I
RELATION TO INDENTURE; DEFINITIONS
Section 1.1. Relation to Indenture. This Third Supplemental Indenture constitutes an integral part of the Indenture.
Section 1.2. Definitions. For all purposes of this Third Supplemental Indenture, except as otherwise expressly provided
for or unless the context otherwise requires, capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the respective meanings
assigned to them in the Indenture; and all references herein to Articles and Sections, unless otherwise specified, refer t o the
corresponding Articles and Sections of this Third Supplemental Indenture.
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ARTICLE II
AMENDMENTS
Section 2.1. Definition of Payment Date and Permitted Indebtedness.
(a) The definition of “Payment Date” set forth in Section 1.01 of the Indenture is hereby amended and restated in its
entirety as follows:
“Payment Date” means each of (i) from the Initial Issue Date until and including June 15, 2017, the 15th day of March, June,
September and December of each calendar year, with the initial Payment Date being June 15, 2016, and (ii) after June 15, 2017, the
14th day of each calendar month beginning with and including July 14, 2017, it being understood that amounts payable on the June
15, 2017 Payment Date are subject to that certain Consent and Forbearance Agreement, dated as of June 15, 2017, by and among
the Issuer and the Holders.
(b)The definition of “Permitted Indebtedness” set forth in Section 1.01 of the Indenture is hereby amended and restated
in its entirety as follows:
“Permitted Indebtedness” means
(i) the Notes;
(ii) Indebtedness existing on the Initial Issue Date;
(iii) Indebtedness now or hereafter incurred under the Credit Facilities;
(iv) Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness;
(v) all 8.50% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes (the “Convertible Notes”) issued by the Issuer under the Indenture
dated February 21, 2014 between the Issuer, as issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Convertible Note
Indenture”), after February 14, 2017 in lieu of a cash payment of interest due to the holders of the Convertible Notes; and
(vi) Indebtedness created under the Amended and Restated Promissory Note in the principal amount of $3,300,000,
dated as of May 15, 2017, made by the Issuer in favor of PJC Investments, LLC, a Texas limited liability company (as amended
and restated, the “Promissory Note”), but only if the per annum interest applicable to the Promissory Note is less than or equal
to 15% (or 17% upon an event of default thereunder).
ARTICLE III MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
Section 3.1. Ratification of Indenture. Except as expressly modified or amended hereby, the Indenture continues in
full force and effect and is in all respects confirmed and preserved.
2

Section 3.2. Governing Law. This Third Supplemental Indenture shall be governed by and construed in accordance
with the laws of the State of New York.
Section 3.3. Counterparts. This Third Supplemental Indenture may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of
which so executed shall be deemed to be an original, but all such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same
instrument.
3

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Third Supplemental Indenture to be duly executed by
their respective officers hereunto duly authorized, all as of the day and year written above.
EMERGENT CAPITAL, INC.

Mitchell
Executive Officer

By: /s/ Antony Mitchell
Name: Antony
Title: Chief

WILMINGTON TRUST NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
solely as Indenture Trustee and not in its individual capacity

[Signature page to Third Supplemental Indenture]

By: /s/ Robert J.
Donaldson

Donaldson

Name: Robert J.
Title: Vice President
[Signature page to Third Supplemental Indenture]

EXECUTION VERSION
CONSENT AND FORBEARANCE AGREEMENT
This Consent and Forbearance Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of June 21, 2017 by and among Emergent
Capital, Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Company”), each of the holders listed on the signature pages hereto (each a N
“ oteholder,”
and collectively, the “Noteholders”), and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as indenture trustee (the “Trustee”), relating to the
Indenture, dated as of March 11, 2016 (as amended supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Indenture”), among
the Company and the Trustee.
W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS, the Company has heretofore issued its 15.0% Senior Secured Notes due 2018 (the “Securities”) pursuant to the
Indenture;
WHEREAS, the Noteholders beneficially own 100% of the outstanding aggregate principal amount of the Securities;
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 2.08 of the Indenture, accrued and unpaid interest in the amount of $1,152,089.58 is due to
the Noteholders (the “Interest Payment”) on June 15, 2017 (the “Interest Payment Date”);
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 5.01 of the Indenture, failure to pay the Interest Payment on the Interest Payment Date
constitutes an event of default (the “Specified Default”);
WHEREAS, in order to avoid the Specified Default, the Company requests that the Noteholders (i) consent to extend the
Interest Payment that would otherwise be due and payable on the Interest Payment Date until June 30, 2017 and (ii) forbear from
exercising their rights and remedies under the Transaction Documents solely with respect to the Specified Default, as more
particularly provided herein; and
WHEREAS, the Noteholders are willing to (i) consent to extend the Interest Payment that would otherwise be due and payable
on the Interest Payment Date until June 30, 2017 and (ii) forbear from exercising such rights and remedies solely with respect to the
Specified Default for a limited period of time, as more particularly provided herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants herein contained, and for other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the undersigned hereby acknowledge and agree as
follows:
1.

the Indenture.

Definitions. Unless otherwise defined in this Agreement, initial capitalized terms have the meanings given to them in

2. Consent. Each Noteholder hereby consents to extend the Interest Payment that would otherwise be due and payable on
the Interest Payment Date, but for this Agreement, until June 30, 2017.
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3. Forbearance. Each Noteholder hereby agrees to forbear from exercising their rights and remedies against the Issuer under
the Transaction Documents solely with respect to the Specified Default during the period commencing on June 15, 2017 and ending
on the date that is the earlier of (i) July 1, 2017 and (ii) the date on which any other breach of any Transaction Document by Issuer
occurs (the “Termination Date”). Each Noteholder’s forbearance, as provided herein, shall immediately and automatically cease
without notice or further action on the Termination Date. On and from the Termination Date, the Noteholders may, in their sole
discretion, exercise, or direct the Indenture Trustee to exercise, in accordance with the Indenture, any and all remedies available to
them under the Indenture as a result of, or related to, the Specified Default; provided that if the Issuer makes the Interest Payment in
full in accordance with the Indenture prior to the Termination Date, the Specified Default shall be waived.
4. Limitation of Forbearance. The forbearance and waiver set forth above shall be limited precisely as written and relates
solely to the Specified Default in the manner and to the extent described above and nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to:
(a)
Constitute a waiver of compliance by the Issuer with respect to any other term, provision or condition of the
Indenture or any other Transaction Document, or any other instrument or agreement referred to therein;
(b) Prejudice any right or remedy that the Indenture Trustee or the Noteholders may now have or may have in the
future with respect to the occurrence of any Default other than the Specified Default; or
(c) Prejudice any right or remedy that the Indenture Trustee or the Noteholders may now have or may have in the
future under or in connection with the Indenture or any other Transaction Document, or any other instrument or agreement
referred to therein.
5.
Representations, Warranties and Direction. Each Noteholder hereby represents and warrants to the Company and the
Trustee that on the date hereof, such Noteholder is the beneficial owner of the aggregate principal amount of Securities set forth on
such Noteholder’s signature hereto. Each Noteholder hereby authorizes and directs the Trustee to execute and deliver this
Agreement.
6. Effect on Indenture. The execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement shall not operate, except as expressly
provided herein, as a waiver of or, as an amendment of, any right, power, or remedy of the Noteholders under the Indenture, except
as expressly set forth in Sections 2 and 3 hereof. Except to the extent expressly amended hereby, the Indenture shall be unaffected
hereby, shall continue in full force and effect, is hereby in all respects ratified and confirmed, and shall constitute the legal, valid,
binding and enforceable obligations of the parties thereto. The foregoing consent and forbearance shall not constitute (x) a
modification or alteration of the terms, conditions or covenants of the Indenture or (y) a waiver, release or limitation upon the exercise
by the Noteholders of any of its rights, legal or equitable, thereunder, in each case other than as specifically set forth herein.
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7. Effectiveness of this Agreement. The effectiveness of this Agreement, and the respective obligations of the parties under
this Agreement, are conditioned upon the receipt by the Company of the signatures hereto of the Noteholders holding 100% of the
aggregate principal amount of outstanding Securities.
8.
Entire Agreement. There are no other understandings, express or implied, among the Company and the Noteholders
regarding the subject matter hereof.
9.
Choice of Law; Waiver of Trial by Jury. This Indenture and the Securities shall be governed by, and construed in
accordance with, the laws of the State of New York. Each party hereto hereby waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law,
any right it may have to a trial by jury in respect of any litigation directly or indirectly arising out of, under or in connection with this
Agreement.
10. Counterparts; Delivery by Facsimile or Electronic Mail. This Agreement may be executed by one or more of the parties
thereto on any number of separate counterparts (including by facsimile or other electronic transmission), and all of said counterparts
taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument. Any signature page delivered by telecopy machine or
transmitted electronically in Portable Document Format (.pdf) shall be valid and binding to the same extent as an original signature
page.

[Signature pages follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first above written.
COMPANY:
EMERGENT CAPITAL, INC.,
a Florida corporation

By: /s/ Antony Mitchell
Name: Antony Mitchell
Title:

Signature Page to Consent and Forbearance Agreement

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first above written.
NOTEHOLDER:
Name: /s/ NOTEHOLDER
It’s: ________________
Date: ________________
Principal Amount of
Securities

Signature Page to Consent and Forbearance Agreement

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first above written.
TRUSTEE:
Wilmington Trust, National Association,
solely as Indenture Trustee and not in its individual capacity

By: /s/ Robert Bockrath
Name: Robert Bockrath
Title: ________________

Signature Page to Consent and Forbearance Agreement
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SECURITIES PURCHASE AGREEMENT
This Securities Purchase Agreement (this “Agreement”) is dated as of August 11, 2017, by and between Emergent Capital,
Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Company”), and Brennan Opportunities Fund I LP (including its successors and assigns, the
“Purchaser”).
WHEREAS, the Company has authorized the sale and issuance of 12,500,000 shares of common stock of the Company, par
value $0.01 per share (the “Common Stock”); and
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Indenture (as defined below), the Company has issued $30,000,000 in aggregate principal amount
of 8.5% Senior Notes due 2021 (“Senior Notes”) and may issue up to an additional $10,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of
Senior Notes; and
WHEREAS, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, the Company desires to (i) issue and sell to the
Purchaser, and the Purchaser desires to purchase from the Company, the number of shares of Common Stock set forth opposite the
Purchaser’s name on Schedule 1 (collectively, the “Shares”) and (ii) issue and sell to the Purchaser, and the Purchaser desires to
purchase from the Company Senior Notes in the principal amounts set forth on Schedule 1 (collectively, the “Notes”).
NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION of the mutual covenants contained in this Agreement, and for other good and
valuable consideration the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the Company and the Purchaser agree as
follows:
4815-7181-3964v.5
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DEFINITIONS

1.1 Definitions. In addition to the terms defined elsewhere in this Agreement, for all purposes of this Agreement, the following
terms have the meanings indicated in this Section 1.1:
“Affiliate” ” means, in respect of any Person, any other Person that directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries Controls, is Controlled by, or is under common Control with, the first Person. With respect to the Purchaser, any
investment fund or managed account that is managed on a discretionary basis by the same investment manager as the
Purchaser will be deemed to be an Affiliate of the Purchaser.
“Applicable Law” means, with respect to any Person, all provisions of Law that apply to such Person and such Person’s
activities, assets and property.
“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.
“Claim” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 4.8(c).
“Claim Notice” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 4.8(c).
“Closing” means each closing of the purchase and sale of the Securities pursuant to Section 2.2.
“Closing Date” means, with respect to each Closing, the Trading Day when all of the Transaction Documents have been
executed and delivered by the applicable parties thereto, and all conditions precedent to the Purchaser’s obligations to pay the
Purchase Price and the Company’s obligations to deliver the Shares and a Note have been satisfied or waived.
“Code” means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
“Common Stock” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Recitals.
“Contract” means any written or oral contract, agreement, indenture, note, bond, mortgage, loan, instrument, lease,
commitment or other arrangement or agreement.
“Control” means, in relation to any Person, where a Person (or Persons acting in concert) has direct or indirect control
(a) of the affairs of another Person, (b) over more than 25% of the total voting rights conferred by all the issued shares in the
capital of another Person which are ordinarily exercisable in a general meeting or (c) of a majority of the board of directors of
another Person (in each case whether pursuant to relevant governance documents, Contract or otherwise) and “Controlled”
shall be construed accordingly.
“Equitable Exceptions” means, with respect to the enforceability of any obligation, that such obligation is subject to (a)
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium, receivership, assignment for the benefit of creditors or other similar state or
federal laws affecting the rights and remedies of creditors generally (including, without limitation,
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fraudulent conveyance or transfer laws) and judicially developed doctrines in this area, such as equitable subordination and
substantive consolidation of entities and (b) equitable principles (whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).
“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder.
“GAAP” means U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, as in effect from time to time.
“Governmental Authority” means any international, supranational or national government, any state, provincial, local or
other political subdivision thereof, any entity, authority or body exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or
administrative functions of or pertaining to government, including any government authority, agency, department, board,
commission or instrumentality of the United States or another nation or jurisdiction, any State of the United States or any
political subdivision of any thereof, any court, tribunal or arbitrator, or any self-regulatory organization.
“Indebtedness” means, without duplication, any of the following: (i) any indebtedness for borrowed money or that is
evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures or similar instruments; (ii) all capitalized leases (to the extent required to be capitalized
pursuant to GAAP), letters of credit, and surety or other bonds of the Company and its subsidiaries; (iii) all payment obligations
under any derivative or hedging agreements to which the Company or its subsidiaries are party, other than any currency
hedging agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business; (iv) any guarantees by the Company or its subsidiaries of
the Indebtedness of any other Person; (v) obligations issued or assumed as the deferred purchase price of property or
services; (vi) accrued but unpaid milestone payments; (vii) accrued but unpaid royalty obligations; (viii) asset retirement
obligations and similar obligations; (ix) obligations evidenced by any securitization or factoring arrangements; and (x) any
Indebtedness of the type described in the foregoing clauses secured by a Lien on any asset or group of assets of the Company
or its subsidiaries.
“Indenture” means that certain Amended and Restated Indenture, dated as of July 28, 2017 by and between Wilmington
Trust, National Association, as indenture trustee and the Company.
“Judicial Authority” means any court, arbitrator, special master, receiver, tribunal or similar body of any kind (including
any Governmental Authority exercising judicial powers or functions of any kind).
“Law” means any treaty, code, statute, law (including common law), rule, regulation, convention, ordinance, Order,
regulatory policy statement or similar guidance, binding directive or decree of any Governmental Authority or Judicial Authority.
“Legal Proceedings” means any judicial, administrative or arbitral claim, action, complaint, hearing, petition, suit,
mediation, litigation, investigation, examination,
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inspection or other proceeding, at law or in equity, in any case, by or before a Governmental Authority or Judicial Authority.
“Liabilities” means any and all Indebtedness, liabilities, obligations, deficiencies, penalties, assessments, fines, claims,
causes of action or other losses, fees, costs or expenses, whether accrued or fixed, absolute or contingent, matured or
unmatured, due or to become due and whether arising under any Order, Contract or otherwise.
“Liens” means a lien, charge, security interest, encumbrance, right of first refusal, or preemptive right.
“Material Adverse Effect” means any event, circumstance, change or effect that, individually or in the aggregate, has, or
is reasonably expected to have, a material adverse effect on the assets, Liabilities, results of operations, business or financial
condition of a Person and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or the ability of such Person to consummate the Transactions in a
timely manner; provided, however, that none of the following events, circumstances, changes or effects, in and of itself or
themselves, shall constitute (or be taken into account in determining the occurrence of) a Material Adverse Effect: (a) any
change in general economic conditions or effects resulting from factors generally affecting companies in the industry in which
such Person conducts business; (b) the announcement or performance of this Agreement or the Transactions; (c) any change
required by any change in law or accounting standards or any change in the interpretation or enforcement of any of the
foregoing; or (d) the failure of the financial or operating performance of such Person, such Person’s subsidiaries or such
Person’s business to meet internal or analyst projections, forecasts or budgets (or the projections, forecasts or budgets of
another Party hereto) for any period; provided, further, that with respect to each of the exclusions in clauses (a) or (c) above,
such exclusions shall only apply to the extent that the effect of such change is not materially more adverse with respect to such
Person and its subsidiaries than the effect on comparable businesses in the industry in which such Person and its subsidiaries
conduct business.
“Note” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Recitals.
“Order” means any judgment, writ, decree, directive, decision, injunction, ruling, award assessment, arbitration award, or
order (including any consent decree or cease and desist order) of any kind of any Governmental Authority or Judicial Authority.
“Permit” means any consent, franchise, license, approval, authorization, registration, certificate, certification or permit
issued or granted by any Governmental Authority.
“Person” means any individual, partnership, firm, corporation, association, trust, unincorporated organization, joint
venture, limited liability company or other entity
“Purchase Price” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 2.1.
“Purchaser Party” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 4.8.
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“Registration Rights Agreement” means that certain Registration Rights Agreement dated as of the date hereof by and
between the Company and the Purchaser.
“Resolutions” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 2.4(b)(iv).
“Rule 144” means Rule 144 promulgated by the SEC pursuant to the Securities Act, as such Rule may be amended
from time to time, or any similar rule or regulation hereafter adopted by the SEC having substantially the same effect as such
Rule.
“SEC” means the Securities and Exchange Commission.
“SEC Reports” means all registration statements, prospectuses, reports, schedules, forms, statements, and other
documents (including exhibits and all other information incorporated by reference) required to be filed or furnished by the
Company with or to the SEC since January 1, 2011.
“Securities” means collectively the Shares and the Notes.
“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
“Share Purchase Price” means the price per Share of $0.40.
“Short Sales” shall include all “short sales” as defined in Rule 200 of Regulation SHO under the Exchange Act.
“Third Party Notice” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 4.8(c).
“Trading Day” means a day on which the primary Trading Market of the Common Stock is open for trading.
“Trading Market” means the following markets or exchanges on which the Common Stock is listed or quoted for trading
on the date in question: the New York Stock Exchange, the NYSE MKT, the NASDAQ Global Market, the NASDAQ Global
Select Market, the NASDAQ Capital Market, the OTCQX and the OTCQB (or any of their respective successors).
“Transaction Documents” means this Agreement, each Note, the Registration Rights Agreement and the other
agreements, documents and instruments to be delivered in connection with the Transactions.
“Transactions” means each of the transactions and actions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction
Documents.
“Trustee” means Wilmington Trust, National Association, as indenture trustee under the Indenture.
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ARTICLE II PURCHASE AND SALE
2.1 Agreement to Sell and Purchase. At each Closing, (i) the Company will issue and sell to the Purchaser, and the Purchaser
will purchase from the Company, the number of Shares set forth opposite the Purchaser’s name on Schedule 1 at the Share Purchase
Price for the purchase price set forth opposite the Purchaser’s name on Schedule 1 and (ii) Purchaser will purchase from the
Company, and the Company will issue and sell to the Purchaser, the Notes for the purchase price equal to the face amount of such
Notes set forth opposite the Purchaser’s name on Schedule 1. The aggregate purchase price to be paid by the Purchaser under this
Section 2.1 is hereinafter referred to as the “Purchase Price”.
2.2 Closing. On each Closing Date, the Purchaser shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Company or its designee via
wire transfer to the account as specified in writing by the Company immediately available funds equal to the applicable Purchase
Price and the Company shall deliver to the Purchaser the number of Shares as set forth on Schedule 1 and the other items set forth in
Section 2.3 issuable at each Closing. Upon satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Sections 2.3 and 2.4, each Closing shall occur at
the offices of Kelley Drye & Warren LLP, 101 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10178, or such other location as the parties shall mutually
agree.
2.3 Deliveries.
(a) On the date of this Agreement, the Company shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Purchaser or other
applicable Person the Registration Rights Agreement, duly executed by the Company.
(b) On each Closing Date, the Company shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Purchaser or other applicable
Person the following:
(i) irrevocable instructions to the transfer agent for the Common Stock to issue the Shares being purchased by
the Purchaser in book entry form unless a physical certificate is requested by the Purchaser, registered in the name of
the Purchaser as set forth on the Purchaser’s signature page;
(ii) a secretary’s certificate, dated as of such Closing Date, certifying as to (A) the incorporation and active status
of the Company in the State of Florida based upon a certificate issued by the Secretary of State of the State of Florida
as of a date within thirty (30) days of such Closing Date, (B) the Resolutions, (C) the Articles of Incorporation of the
Company, as amended to date, certified as of a date within thirty (30) days of such Closing Date, and (D) the Amended
and Restated Bylaws of the Company, each as in effect as of such Closing Date;
(iii) a Note, duly executed by the Company; and
(iv) such other documents relating to the Transactions as the Purchaser or its counsel may reasonably request.
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(c)
On the date of this Agreement, the Purchaser shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Company the
Registration Rights Agreement, duly executed by the Purchaser.
(d) On each Closing Date, the Purchaser shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Company the following:
(i) the applicable Purchase Price by wire transfer to the account as specified in writing by the Company;
(ii) such other documents as the Trustee may require in connection with the issuance of such Notes; and
(iii) such other documents relating to the Transactions as the Company or its counsel may reasonably request.
2.4 Closing Conditions.
(a) The obligations of the Company hereunder in connection with each Closing are subject to the following conditions
being met:
(i)
the accuracy in all material respects when made and on such Closing Date of the representations and
warranties of the Purchaser contained herein;
(ii) all obligations, covenants and agreements of the Purchaser under this Agreement required to be performed
at or prior to such Closing Date shall have been performed; and
(iii) the delivery by the Purchaser of the items set forth in Section 2.3(b) of this Agreement.
(b) The obligations of the Purchaser hereunder in connection with each Closing are subject to the following conditions
being met:
(i)
the accuracy in all material respects on such Closing Date of the representations and warranties of the
Company contained herein;
(ii) all obligations, covenants and agreements of the Company under this Agreement required to be performed at
or prior to such Closing Date shall have been performed;
(iii) the delivery by the Company of the items required to be delivered to the Purchaser set forth in Section 2.3(a)
of this Agreement;
(iv) the Board shall have approved the Transactions and shall have adopted resolutions consistent therewith
(the “Resolutions”); and
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(v) there shall have been no Material Adverse Effect with respect to the Company since the date hereof.
ARTICLE III REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
3.1 Representations and Warranties of the Company. The Company hereby represents and warrants as of the date hereof
and as of each Closing Date to the Purchaser as follows:
(a)
Existence; Good Standing. It is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the
jurisdiction of its organization and has all requisite power and authority to own and operate its properties and to conduct its
business, as conducted and planned to be conducted as of the date hereof. The state of residence or principal place of
business of the Company is Florida.
(b) Authority; Enforceability. It has the requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement
and the other Transaction Documents to which it is or shall be a party and to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder,
and to consummate the transactions contemplated herein and therein. The execution and delivery by it of this Agreement and
the other Transaction Documents to which it is or shall be a party, the performance of its obligations hereunder and thereunder,
and the consummation by it of the Transactions have been duly authorized by all requisite corporate action on its part and no
other corporate authorization or proceedings on its part is required therefor. This Agreement and the other Transaction
Documents to which it is or shall be a party has been or shall be duly executed and delivered by it, as the case may be, and,
assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Purchaser, constitutes the legal, valid and
binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, except for the Equitable Exceptions.
(c) Approvals. No notices are required to be delivered to, and, other than the Resolutions, no approvals and consents
are required to be obtained from, the Board under: (i) Applicable Law; (ii) the organizational documents of the Company; or (iii)
any Contract to which the Company is a party in connection with the execution and delivery by it of this Agreement and the
other Transaction Documents to which it is or shall be a party and the consummation of the Transactions.
(d) No Conflicts. Neither the execution, delivery or performance by the Company of the Transaction Documents to
which it is or shall be a party, nor the consummation by the Company of the Transactions, does or shall violate, conflict with,
breach or constitute a default under, or shall violate, conflict with, breach or constitute a default under (in each case, with or
without the giving of notice, the lapse of time or both) any of the provisions of: (i) any of the organizational documents of the
Company; (ii) any Contract; (iii) any Applicable Law; or (iv) any Permit or Order or judgment applicable to the Company.
(e) All Necessary Consents. Neither the execution, delivery or performance by the Company of this Agreement and the
other Transaction Documents to which it is or shall
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be a party, nor the consummation by the Company of the Transactions, does or will: (i) require the Company to obtain or make
any consent, waiver, approval, authorization, Order or Permit of, declaration, filing or registration with, other action by, or
notification to, any Governmental Authority or other authority of any kind other than the written approval of the Florida Office of
Insurance Regulation; or (ii) require the consent, waiver, approval, authorization, notification or action of, by or to (as
applicable) any other Person pursuant to the terms and conditions of any Contract in order to avoid any breach, default,
violation, termination, modification or prepayment thereunder.
(f) SEC Filings; Investment Company. The Company has timely filed with or furnished to, as applicable, the SEC the
SEC Reports. True, correct, and complete copies of all SEC Documents are publicly available in the Electronic Data Gathering,
Analysis and Retrieval database of the SEC. The Company is not an "investment company," as such term is defined in the
Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.
(g) Issuance of the Shares. The Shares to be issued to the Purchaser, when issued in accordance with the terms of the
Transaction Documents, will be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable, free and clear of all Liens imposed by the
Company.
(h)
Private Placement. Assuming the accuracy of the Purchaser’s representations and warranties set forth in
Section 3.2, no registration under the Securities Act is required for the offer and sale of the Shares by the Company to the
Purchaser as contemplated hereby. The issuance and sale of the Shares hereunder does not contravene the rules and
regulations of the Trading Market.
(i) Listing and Maintenance Requirements. The Company’s Common Stock is registered pursuant to Section 12(b) or
12(g) of the Exchange Act, and the Company has taken no action designed to, or which to its knowledge is likely to have the
effect of, terminating the registration of the Common Stock under the Exchange Act nor has the Company received any
notification that the SEC is contemplating terminating such registration. Other than as disclosed in the SEC Reports, the
Company has not, in the 12 months preceding the date hereof, received notice from any Trading Market on which the
Common Stock is quoted to the effect that the Company is not in compliance with the listing or maintenance requirements of
such Trading Market.
(j) Disclosure. All disclosure provided to the Purchaser regarding the Company, its business and the Transactions
furnished by or on behalf of the Company with respect to the representations and warranties made herein are true and correct
in all material respects with respect to such representations and warranties and do not contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements made therein, in light of the
circumstances under which they were made, and when taken as a whole, not misleading.
(k)
No Integrated Offering. Assuming the accuracy of the Purchaser’s representations and warranties set forth in
Section 3.2, neither the Company, nor any of its affiliates, nor any Person acting on its or their behalf has, directly or indirectly,
made any
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offers or sales of any security or solicited any offers to buy any security, under circumstances that would cause this offering of
the Shares to be integrated with prior offerings by the Company for purposes of the Securities Act or any applicable
shareholder approval provisions, including, without limitation, under the rules and regulations of any Trading Market on which
any of the securities of the Company are listed or quoted.
(l) No General Solicitation. Neither the Company nor any person acting on behalf of the Company has offered or sold
any of the Shares by any form of general solicitation or general advertising. The Company has offered the Shares for sale only
to the Purchaser and certain other “accredited investors” within the meaning of Rule 501 under the Securities Act.
(m) Acknowledgment Regarding Purchaser’s Purchase of Securities. The Company acknowledges and agrees that the
Purchaser is acting solely in the capacity of an arm’s length purchaser with respect to the Transaction Documents and the
Transactions. The Company further acknowledges that the Purchaser is not acting as a financial advisor or fiduciary of the
Company (or in any similar capacity) with respect to this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents and any advice given
by the Purchaser or any of its respective representatives or agents in connection with this Agreement or the other Transaction
Documents is merely incidental to the Purchaser’s purchase of the Securities. The Company further represents to the
Purchaser that the Company’s decision to enter into this Agreement has been based solely on the independent evaluation of
the Transactions by the Company and its representatives.
(n) Manipulation of Price. The Company has not, and to its knowledge no one acting on its behalf has, (i) taken, directly
or indirectly, any action designed to cause or to result in the stabilization or manipulation of the price of any security of the
Company to facilitate the sale or resale of any of the Securities, (ii) sold, bid for, purchased, or paid any compensation for
soliciting purchases of, any of the Securities, or (iii) paid or agreed to pay to any Person any compensation for soliciting
another to purchase any other securities of the Company.
3.2 Representations and Warranties of the Purchaser. The Purchaser hereby represents and warrants as of the date hereof
and as of each Closing Date to the Company as follows:
(a) Existence; Good Standing. It is duly formed, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction
of its formation and has all requisite power and authority to own and operate its properties and to conduct its business, as
conducted and planned to be conducted as of the date hereof. The state of residence or principal place of business of the
Purchaser is set forth on Schedule 1.
(b) Authority; Enforceability. It has the requisite limited partnership power and authority to execute and deliver this
Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is or shall be a party, to perform its obligations hereunder and
thereunder, and to consummate the Transactions. The execution and delivery by it of this Agreement and the other Transaction
Documents to which it is or shall be a party, the performance of its
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obligations hereunder and thereunder, and the consummation by it of the Transactions have been duly authorized by all
requisite action on its part and no other limited partnership authorization or proceedings on its part is required therefor. This
Agreement and each other Transaction Document to which it is or shall be a party has been or shall be duly executed and
delivered by it, as the case may be, and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery of this Agreement and such
other Transaction Documents by the other parties hereto and thereto, each constitutes or shall constitute the legal, valid and
binding obligation of the Purchaser, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, except for the Equitable Exceptions.
(c) Approvals. No notices are required to be delivered to, and no approvals and consents are required to be obtained
from, the board of directors (or similar governing body, as applicable) or partners or equity holders of the Purchaser under: (i)
Applicable Law; (ii) the organizational documents of the Purchaser; or (iii) any Contract to which the Purchaser is a party in
connection with the execution and delivery by it of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is or shall
become a party and the consummation of the Transactions.
(d) No Conflicts. Neither the execution, delivery or performance by the Purchaser of the Transaction Documents to
which it is or shall be a party, nor the consummation by the Purchaser of the Transactions, does or shall violate, conflict with,
breach or constitute a default under, or shall violate, conflict with, breach or constitute a default under (in each case, with or
without the giving of notice, the lapse of time or both) any of the provisions of: (i) any of the organizational documents of the
Purchaser; (ii) any Contract; (iii) any Applicable Law; or (iv) any Permit or Order or judgment applicable to the Purchaser.
(e) All Necessary Consents. Neither the execution, delivery or performance by the Purchaser of this Agreement and
the other Transaction Documents to which it is or shall be a party, nor the consummation by the Purchaser of the Transactions,
does or will: (i) require the Purchaser to obtain or make any consent, waiver, approval, authorization, Order or Permit of,
declaration, filing or registration with, other action by, or notification to, any Governmental Authority or other authority of any
kind other than the written approval of the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation; or (ii) require the consent, waiver, approval,
authorization, notification or action of, by or to (as applicable) any other Person pursuant to the terms and conditions of any
Contract in order to avoid any breach, default, violation, termination, modification or prepayment thereunder and to avoid the
acceleration or cancellation of any rights or obligations thereunder.
(f)
Own Account. The Purchaser understands that the Securities are “restricted securities” and have not been
registered under the Securities Act or any applicable state securities law and is acquiring the Securities for its own account and
not with a view to or for distributing or reselling such Securities or any part thereof in violation of the Securities Act or any
applicable state securities law, has no present intention of distributing any of such Shares in violation of the Securities Act or
any applicable state securities law and has
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no arrangement or understanding with any other persons regarding the distribution of such Shares (this representation and
warranty not limiting the Purchaser’s right to sell the Shares in compliance with applicable federal and state securities laws) in
violation of the Securities Act or any applicable state securities law. The Purchaser is acquiring the Shares hereunder in the
ordinary course of its business. The Purchaser does not have any agreement or understanding, directly or indirectly, with any
Person to distribute any of the Securities.
(g) Purchaser Status. At the time the Purchaser was offered the Securities, it was, and at the date hereof it is, and on
each date on which it receives the Securities it will be, either: (i) an “accredited investor” as defined in Rule 501(a)(1), (a)(2),
(a)(3), (a)(7) or (a)(8) under the Securities Act or (ii) a “qualified institutional buyer” as defined in Rule 144A(a) under the
Securities Act. The Purchaser was not organized for the purpose of acquiring the Securities and is not required to be registered
as a broker-dealer under Section 15 of the Exchange Act.
(h) Experience of the Purchaser. The Purchaser, either alone or together with its representatives, has such knowledge,
sophistication and experience in business and financial matters so as to be capable of evaluating the merits and risks of the
prospective investment in the Securities, and has so evaluated the merits and risks of such investment. Such Purchaser is able
to bear the economic risk of an investment in the Securities and, at the present time, is able to afford a complete loss of such
investment.
(i) General Solicitation. The Purchaser is not purchasing the Securities as a result of any advertisement, article, notice
or other communication regarding the Securities published in any newspaper, magazine or similar media or broadcast over
television or radio or presented at any seminar or any other general solicitation or general advertisement. The Purchaser
further acknowledges that it, or its Affiliate, has a pre-existing relationship with the Company such as (i) as a holder of currently
outstanding securities of the Company or (ii) another affiliation with the Company.
(j) Brokers. No broker, finder, investment banker or other Person has been engaged by the Purchaser that is entitled to
any brokerage, finder’s or other fee or commission from the Purchaser in connection with the transactions contemplated
herein.
(k) Certain Trading Activities. The Purchaser has not, directly or indirectly, nor has any Person acting on behalf of or
pursuant to any understanding with the Purchaser, engaged in any direct or indirect purchases or sales in the securities of the
Company (including, without limitation, any Short Sales involving the Company’s securities) since the time that the Purchaser
was first contacted by the Company or any other Person regarding the transactions contemplated hereunder, including the
purchase of Securities pursuant to this Agreement. The Purchaser covenants that neither it nor any Person acting on its behalf
or pursuant to any understanding with it will engage in any direct or indirect purchases or sales in the securities of the
Company (including, without limitation, Short Sales) prior to the time that the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are
publicly disclosed by the Company in the manner set forth in Section 4.4. The Purchaser has maintained, and covenants that
until such time as the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are
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publicly disclosed by the Company in the manner set forth in Section 4.4 the Purchaser will maintain, the confidentiality of all
disclosures made to it in connection with the transactions contemplated hereunder (including the existence and terms of such
transactions). Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Purchaser is a multi-managed investment vehicle whereby separate portfolio
managers manage separate portions of the Purchaser’s assets and the portfolio managers have no direct knowledge of the
investment decisions made by the portfolio managers managing other portions of the Purchaser’s assets, the representation
set forth above shall only apply with respect to the portion of assets managed by the portfolio manager that made the
investment decision to purchase the Securities covered by this Agreement. The Purchaser has maintained the confidentiality of
all disclosures made to it in connection with the transactions contemplated hereunder (including the existence and terms of
such transactions).
(l) Access to Information. The Purchaser acknowledges that it has reviewed the SEC Reports and the Transaction
Documents and has been afforded (i) the opportunity to ask such questions as it has deemed necessary of, and to receive
answers from, representatives of the Company concerning the terms and conditions of the offering of the Securities and the
merits and risks of investing in the Securities; (ii) access to information about the Company and its subsidiaries and their
respective financial condition, results of operations, business, properties, management and prospectus sufficient to enable it to
evaluate its investment; and (iii) the opportunity to obtain such additional information that the Company possesses or can
acquire without unreasonable effort or expense that is necessary to make an informed investment decision with respect to the
Securities. Neither such inquiries nor any other investigation conducted by or on behalf of the Purchaser or its representatives
or counsel shall modify, amend or affect the Purchaser’s right to rely on the truth, accuracy and completeness of the SEC
Reports and the Transaction Documents, and the Company’s representations and warranties contained in the Transaction
Documents.
The Company acknowledges and agrees that the Purchaser does not make or has not made any representations or warranties
with respect to the transactions contemplated hereunder other than those specifically set forth in this Section 3.2.
ARTICLE IV OTHER AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES
4.1 Transfer Restrictions. The Purchaser acknowledges and understands that (i) the Securities may only be disposed of in
compliance with state and federal securities laws and (ii) in connection with any transfer of Securities other than pursuant to an
effective registration statement or pursuant to an available exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act
(including Rule 144), to the Company or to an Affiliate of the Purchaser or in connection with a pledge as contemplated in this
Section 4.1, the Company may require the transferor thereof to provide to the Company an opinion of counsel selected by the
transferor and reasonably acceptable to the Company, the form and substance of which opinion shall be reasonably satisfactory to the
Company, to the effect that such transfer does not require registration of such transferred Securities under the Securities Act. As a
condition of transfer, any such transferee shall agree in writing to be bound by the terms of this Agreement and shall have the rights of
the Purchaser under this
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Agreement. Any transfer or purported transfer of the Securities in violation of this Section 4.1 shall be void.
The Purchaser agrees to the imprinting or notating, so long as is required by this Section 4.1, of a legend on or to any of the
Securities (and any certificates or instruments representing the Securities) substantially as set forth on Exhibit A hereto.
The Company acknowledges and agrees that the Purchaser may from time to time pledge pursuant to a bona fide margin
agreement with a registered broker-dealer or grant a security interest in some or all of the Shares to a financial institution that is an
“accredited investor” as defined in Rule 501(a) under the Securities Act and who agrees to be bound by the provisions of this
Agreement and, if required under the terms of such arrangement, the Purchaser may transfer pledged or secured Shares to the
pledgees or secured parties. Such a pledge or transfer would not be subject to approval of the Company and no legal opinion of legal
counsel of the pledgee, secured party or pledgor shall be required in connection therewith. Further, no notice shall be required of such
pledge. At the Purchaser’s expense, the Company will execute and deliver such reasonable documentation as a pledgee or secured
party of Shares may reasonably request in connection with a pledge or transfer of the Shares.
4.2 Furnishing of Information. As long as the Purchaser beneficially or legally owns Securities, the Company covenants to
timely file (or obtain extensions in respect thereof and file within the applicable grace period) all reports required to be filed by the
Company after the date hereof pursuant to the Exchange Act. As long as the Purchaser owns Securities, but only until all such
Securities may be sold under Rule 144(b)(i) without regard to meeting the requirements of Rule 144(c), if the Company is not required
to file reports pursuant to the Exchange Act, it will prepare and furnish to the Purchaser and make publicly available in accordance
with Rule 144(c) such information as is required for the Purchaser to sell the Securities under Rule 144. The Company will be deemed
to have furnished such reports to the Purchaser if the Company has filed such reports with the SEC using the SEC’s Electronic Data
Gathering, Analysis and Retrieval system and such reports are publicly available. The Company further covenants that it will take
such further action as the Purchaser may reasonably request, all to the extent required from time to time to enable the Purchaser to
sell such Securities without registration under the Securities Act within the limitation of the exemptions provided by Rule 144.
4.3 Integration. The Company shall not sell, offer for sale or solicit offers to buy or otherwise negotiate in respect of any
security (as defined in Section 2 of the Securities Act) that would be integrated with the offer or sale of the Securities in a manner that
would require the registration under the Securities Act of the sale of the Shares to the Purchaser or that would be integrated with the
offer or sale of the Shares for purposes of the rules and regulations of any Trading Market such that it would require shareholder
approval prior to the closing of such other transaction unless shareholder approval is obtained before the closing of such subsequent
transaction.
4.4
Securities Laws Disclosure; Publicity; Confidentiality. In accordance with the requirements of the Exchange Act, the
Company shall cause a Current Report on Form 8-K relating to the sale of the Securities under this Agreement to be transmitted to the
SEC for filing, which Form 8-K shall be reasonably acceptable to each Purchaser, disclose the material terms of the
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transactions contemplated hereby, and attach forms of the Transaction Documents thereto. The Company and the Purchaser shall
consult with each other in issuing any other press releases with respect to the transactions contemplated hereunder, and the
Purchaser shall not issue any such press release or otherwise make any such public statement without the prior written consent of
the Company, except if such disclosure is required by Applicable Law, in which case the Purchaser shall promptly provide the
Company with prior notice of such public statement or communication.
4.5 Form D; Blue Sky Filings. The Company agrees to timely file a Form D with respect to the Securities as required under
Regulation D. The Company shall, on or before each Closing Date, take such action as the Company shall reasonably determine is
necessary in order to obtain an exemption for, or to qualify the Securities for, sale to the Purchaser at such Closing and issuance to
the Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement under applicable securities or “Blue Sky” laws of the states of the United States, and shall
provide evidence of any such action so taken to the Purchaser on or prior to such Closing Date. The Company shall make all filings
and reports relating to the offer and sale of the Securities required under applicable securities or “Blue Sky” laws of the states of the
United States following each Closing Date.
4.6 Shareholder Rights Plan. No shareholder rights plan or similar plan or arrangement is in effect.
4.7 Use of Proceeds. The Company shall use the net proceeds from the sale of the Securities hereunder for working capital
and general corporate purposes.
4.8 Indemnification of Purchaser.
(a) Indemnification. Subject to the provisions of this Section 4.8, the Company will indemnify and hold the Purchaser
and its respective officers, directors, Affiliates, agents and employees (each, a “Purchaser Party”) harmless from any and all
out-of-pocket loss, Liability, claim, charge, assessed interest, judgment, fine, penalty, damage, fee or expense (including
reasonable legal, consultant, accounting and other professional fees and expenses and including any mitigation cost and any
cost of determining that there has been a breach under this Agreement or any other Transaction Document) (collectively,
“Losses”) incurred by such Purchaser Party resulting from (a) any breach of any representation and warranty of the Company
contained in this Agreement or in any other Transaction Document or (b) any failure by the Company to perform any covenant
or agreement hereunder, under any other Transaction Document or under any agreement contemplated hereby or thereby
(unless such action is based upon a breach of the Purchaser’s representations, warranties or covenants under the Transaction
Documents or any agreements or any violations by the Purchaser of state or federal securities laws or any conduct by the
Purchaser which constitutes fraud, gross negligence, willful misconduct or malfeasance). For purposes of determining the
amount of Losses incurred with respect to a breach of any representation or warranty contained in this Agreement, any other
Transaction Document or any certificate delivered pursuant to this Agreement or any other Transaction Document, each such
representation or warranty shall be read without reference to “materiality” or a “Material Adverse Effect” qualifier. The
Purchaser Parties shall be third party beneficiaries of this Section 4.8, each of whom may enforce the provisions of this Section
4.8.
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(b) Limitations on Indemnification. In no event shall any Purchaser Party be entitled to double recovery hereunder. If
any circumstance constitutes a breach of more than one representation, warranty or covenant, the Purchaser Party(ies) shall
only be entitled to recover once in respect of such circumstance. The right to indemnification, recovery of Losses or any other
remedy shall not be affected by any investigation conducted with respect to, or any knowledge acquired (or capable of being
acquired) at any time, whether before or after the execution and delivery of this Agreement or any other Transaction Document
or each Closing Date, with respect to the accuracy or inaccuracy of or compliance with any representation, warranty, covenant
or agreement made by the Company, or any other matter. The waiver of any condition based on the accuracy of any such
representation or warranty, or on the performance of or compliance with any such covenant or agreement, shall not affect the
right to indemnification, recovery of Losses or any other remedy based on any such representation, warranty, covenant or
agreement. In no event shall the Company (and/or its Affiliates, or any of its respective, members, directors, officers,
employees, servants, agents or attorneys) be liable to the Purchaser Parties for any consequential damages whatsoever
including without limitation, damages for loss of profits, loss of business, loss of savings, business interruption, work
stoppages, or other indirect, special, consequential, punitive, or incidental damages arising out of this Agreement, and on any
theory of liability, even if it has been advised of the possibility of such damages.
(c)
Procedures. If any action shall be brought against any Purchaser Party in respect of which indemnity may be
sought pursuant to this Agreement, the Purchaser Party shall promptly cause written notice (the “Third Party Notice”) of the
assertion of such Legal Proceeding to be forwarded to the Company. The Company shall have the right, at its sole option and
expense, by providing written notice to the Purchaser Party, to (i) take control of the defense and investigation of such Legal
Proceeding, (ii) employ and engage attorneys of its own choice (subject to the prior written approval of the Purchaser Party,
such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) to handle and defend the same, at the Company’s sole
cost, risk and expense and (iii) compromise or settle such Legal Proceeding, which compromise or settlement shall be made
only with the prior written consent of the Purchaser Party; provided, that such consent shall not be required if such settlement
(w) includes an unconditional release of the Purchaser Party, (x) otherwise provides solely for payment of monetary damages
for which the Company shall be responsible and no other form of relief or penalty, (y) shall not increase the tax liability of the
Purchaser Party for any taxable year or other taxable period and (z) does not involve the admission of liability or wrongdoing on
the part of the Purchaser Party. The Purchaser Party shall, at the Company’s expense, cooperate in all reasonable respects
with the Company and its attorneys in the investigation, trial and defense of such Legal Proceeding and any appeal arising
therefrom, and the Purchaser Party may, at its own cost, monitor and further participate in the investigation, trial and defense of
such Legal Proceeding and any appeal arising therefrom. Notwithstanding the Company’s election to assume the defense of
such Legal Proceeding, the Purchaser Party shall have, upon giving prior written notice to the Company, the right to employ
one separate counsel and to participate in the defense of such Legal Proceeding, and the Company shall bear the reasonable
fees, costs and expenses of such separate counsel for the Purchaser Party if, but only if, the Purchaser Party shall have
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reasonably concluded in good faith that (x) an actual or potential conflict of interest (including one or more legal defenses or
counterclaims available to it or to other Purchaser Parties that are different from or additional to those available to the
Company) makes it inappropriate in the reasonable judgment of the Company (upon and in conformity with the advice of
counsel) for the same counsel to represent both the Purchaser Party and the Company or (y) the claim seeks nonmonetary
relief which, if granted, could materially and adversely affect the Purchaser Party or its Affiliates. If the Company elects not to
defend against such Legal Proceeding, does not, within fifteen (15) days after receipt of the Third Party Notice (or such earlier
date, if the failure to assume the defense by such earlier date would materially impair the ability of the indemnified party to
defend such Legal Proceeding), acknowledge in writing its intent to assume the defense of such Legal Proceeding pursuant to
this Section 4.8(c), contests its obligation to indemnify the Purchaser Party in connection with such Legal Proceeding, or fails to
defend against such Legal Proceeding with reasonable diligence, the Purchaser Party may defend against such Legal
Proceeding, in which cases the costs of defending such Legal Proceeding shall constitute indemnifiable Losses under this
Section 4.8, and the Company shall have the right to participate therein at its own cost. If the Purchaser Party defends any
Legal Proceeding, then it shall keep the Company regularly apprised of the status of the Legal Proceeding and the Company
shall reimburse the Purchaser Party for the reasonable expenses of counsel engaged by the Purchaser Party to defend such
Legal Proceeding upon submission of periodic bills unless (A) the Company is asserting in good faith a bona fide contest to its
obligation to indemnify the Purchaser Party and (B) the Company deposits in escrow in a manner and with and an escrow
agent reasonably satisfactory to such Purchaser Party all amounts that would have been payable to such Purchaser Party
under this sentence in the absence of such a contest as and when such amounts would have been payable. In no event shall
the Purchaser Party be entitled to compromise or settle any Legal Proceeding without the prior written consent of the
Company, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. If a claim for Losses (a “Claim”) is to be
made by any Purchaser Party not in connection with a Legal Proceeding instituted by a third party, such Purchaser Party shall
give written notice (a “Claim Notice”) to the Company reasonably promptly after such Purchaser Party becomes aware of any
fact, condition or event giving rise to Losses for which indemnification may be sought under this Section 4.8(c). If the Company
notifies the Purchaser Party that it does not dispute the Claim described in such Claim Notice, the Losses identified in the
Claim Notice shall be conclusively deemed a liability of the Company. After any final judgment or award shall have been
rendered by a court, arbitration board or administrative agency of competent jurisdiction, and the time in which to appeal
therefrom has expired, or a settlement shall have been consummated, or the Purchaser Party and the Company shall have
arrived at a mutually binding agreement with respect to a Legal Proceeding hereunder, the Purchaser Party shall forward to the
Company notice of any sums due and owing by the Company pursuant to this Agreement with respect to such matter and,
unless the Company in good faith disputes any such amounts, the Company shall promptly pay such amounts.
4.9 Listing of Common Stock. The Company hereby agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain the listing of
the Common Stock on a Trading Market, and to list, if
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applicable, effective upon each Closing, all of the Shares on such Trading Market. The Company further agrees, if the Company
applies to have the Common Stock traded on any other Trading Market, it will include in such application all of the Shares, and will
take such other action as is necessary to cause all of the Shares to be listed on such other Trading Market as promptly as possible.
The Company will take all action reasonably necessary to continue the listing and trading of its Common Stock on a Trading Market
and will comply in all respects with the Company’s reporting, filing and other obligations under the bylaws or rules of the Trading
Market. The Company further agrees that if the Common Stock is quoted on the OTCQX or OTCQB, it will use commercially
reasonable efforts to transfer the listing of the Common Stock to a national securities exchange, as such term is recognized by the
SEC, promptly after eligibility requirements for such national securities exchange are met.
4.10 Short Sales and Confidentiality After the Date Hereof. The Purchaser covenants that neither it nor any Affiliates acting
on its behalf or pursuant to any understanding with it has executed or will execute any Short Sales during the period after the time the
Purchaser and/or the Company started discussing the transactions contemplated in this Agreement and ending at the time that the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement are first publicly announced as described in Section 4.4. The Purchaser covenants that
until such time as the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are publicly disclosed by the Company as described in
Section 4.4, the Purchaser will maintain, the confidentiality of all disclosures made to it in connection with the transactions
contemplated hereunder (including the existence and terms of such transactions). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Purchaser does
not make any representation, warranty or covenant hereby that it will not engage in Short Sales in the securities of the Company after
the time that the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are first publicly announced as described in Section 4.4.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Purchaser is a multi-managed investment vehicle whereby separate portfolio managers manage
separate portions of the Purchaser’s assets and the portfolio managers have no direct knowledge of the investment decisions made
by the portfolio managers managing other portions of the Purchaser’s assets, the covenant set forth above shall only apply with
respect to the portion of assets managed by the portfolio manager that made the investment decision to purchase the Shares covered
by this Agreement.
ARTICLE V MISCELLANEOUS
5.1 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated by the Purchaser by written notice to the Company, if the first Closing
has not been consummated on or before August 18, 2017; provided, however, that no such termination will affect the right of any
party to sue for any breach by the other party.
5.2 Fees and Expenses. Each party shall pay the fees and expenses of its advisers, counsel, accountants and other experts,
if any, and all other expenses incurred by such party incident to the negotiation, preparation, execution, delivery and performance of
this Agreement. The Company shall pay all transfer agent fees, stamp taxes and other taxes and duties levied in connection with the
delivery of any Shares.
5.3
Entire Agreement. The Transaction Documents, together with the exhibits and schedules thereto, contain the entire
understanding of the parties with respect to the subject matter
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hereof and supersede all prior agreements and understandings, oral or written, with respect to such matters, which the parties
acknowledge have been merged into such documents, exhibits and schedules.
5.4
Notices. Any and all notices, requests, consents, or other communications or deliveries required or permitted to be
provided hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed given and effective on the earliest of (a) the date of transmission, if such
notice or communication is delivered by hand or via facsimile by 5:30 p.m. (Eastern time) on a Trading Day, (b) the next Trading Day
after the date of transmission, if such notice or communication is delivered by hand or via facsimile on a day that is not a Trading Day
or later than 5:30 p.m. (Eastern time) on any Trading Day, (c) the 2nd Trading Day following the date of mailing, if sent by U.S.
nationally recognized overnight courier service, or (d) upon actual receipt by the party to whom such notice is required to be given, if
addressed as follows, or to such other address or addresses as may have been furnished in writing by a party to another party
pursuant to this paragraph:
if to the Company, to:
Emergent Capital, Inc.
5355 Town Center Road, Suite 701
Boca Raton, FL 33486
Attention: Christopher O’Reilly
Facsimile: (561) 995-4201
Email: coreilly@emergentcapital.com
with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
Kelley Drye & Warren LLP
101 Park Avenue
New York, New York 10178
Attention: Jack Miles, Esq.
Facsimile: (212) 808-7897
Email: Jmiles@kelleydrye.com
if to the Purchaser, at its address as set forth on its signature page.
5.5 Amendments; Waivers. No provision of this Agreement may be waived, modified, supplemented or amended except in a
written instrument signed, in the case of an amendment, by the Company and the Purchaser or, in the case of a waiver, by the party
against whom enforcement of any such waiver is sought. No waiver of any default with respect to any provision, condition or
requirement of this Agreement shall be deemed to be a continuing waiver in the future or a waiver of any subsequent default or a
waiver of any other provision, condition or requirement hereof, nor shall any delay or omission of either party to exercise any right
hereunder in any manner impair the exercise of any such right.
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5.6 Headings. The headings herein are for convenience only, do not constitute a part of this Agreement and shall not be
deemed to limit or affect any of the provisions hereof. The language used in this Agreement will be deemed to be the language
chosen by the parties to express their mutual intent, and no rules of strict construction will be applied against any party. All references
in this Agreement to Sections, Schedules or Exhibits, unless otherwise expressed or indicated are to the Sections, Schedules or
Exhibits of this Agreement.
5.7
Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their
successors and permitted assigns. The Purchaser may assign any or all of its rights under this Agreement to any Person to whom the
Purchaser assigns or transfers any Securities, provided such transferee agrees in a writing reasonably satisfactory to the Company to
be bound, with respect to the transferred Securities, by the provisions hereof that apply to the “Purchaser”.
5.8
No Third-Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement is intended for the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective
successors and permitted assigns and is not for the benefit of, nor may any provision hereof be enforced by, any other Person, except
as otherwise expressly set forth in Section 4.8.
5.9 Governing Law. All questions concerning the construction, validity, enforcement and interpretation of the Transaction
Documents shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the internal laws of the State of New York, without
regard to the principles of conflicts of law thereof that would require the application of the Laws of any other jurisdiction. Each party
agrees that all Legal Proceedings concerning the interpretations, enforcement and defense of the Transactions (whether brought
against a party hereto or its respective affiliates, directors, officers, shareholders, employees or agents) shall be commenced
exclusively in the state and federal courts sitting in the City of New York. Each party hereby irrevocably submits to the exclusive
jurisdiction of the state and federal courts sitting in the City of New York, borough of Manhattan for the adjudication of any dispute
hereunder or in connection herewith or with any transaction contemplated hereby or discussed herein (including with respect to the
enforcement of any of the Transaction Documents), and hereby irrevocably waives, and agrees not to assert in any suit, action or
proceeding, any claim that it is not personally subject to the jurisdiction of any such court, or that such suit, action or proceeding is an
improper or inconvenient venue for such proceeding. Each party hereby irrevocably waives personal service of process and consents
to process being served in any such suit, action or proceeding by mailing a copy thereof via registered or certified mail or overnight
delivery (with evidence of delivery) to such party at the address in effect for notices to it under this Agreement and agrees that such
service shall constitute good and sufficient service of process and notice thereof. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to limit in
any way any right to serve process in any manner permitted by law. EACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT
IT MAY HAVE, AND AGREES NOT TO REQUEST, A JURY TRIAL FOR THE ADJUDICATION OF ANY DISPUTE HEREUNDER OR
IN CONNECTION HEREWITH OR ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT, THE OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS OR ANY
TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY. If either party shall commence an action or proceeding to enforce any
provisions of the Transaction Documents, then the prevailing party in such action or proceeding shall be reimbursed by the other
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party for its attorneys’ fees and other costs and expenses incurred with the investigation, preparation and prosecution of such action
or proceeding.
5.10 Survival. The representations, warranties, covenants and other agreements contained herein shall survive the Closing
and the delivery of the Securities as applicable for the applicable statute of limitations.
5.11 Execution. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, all of which when taken together shall be considered one
and the same agreement and shall become effective when counterparts have been signed by each party and delivered to the other
party, it being understood that both parties need not sign the same counterpart. In the event that any signature is delivered by
facsimile transmission, such signature shall create a valid and binding obligation of the party executing (or on whose behalf such
signature is executed) with the same force and effect as if such facsimile signature page were an original thereof.
5.12 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid or unenforceable in any respect, the validity and
enforceability of the remaining terms and provisions of this Agreement shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby and the
parties will attempt to agree upon a valid and enforceable provision that is a reasonable substitute therefor, and upon so agreeing,
shall incorporate such substitute provision in this Agreement.
5.13
Replacement of Shares. If any certificate, note or instrument evidencing any Securities is mutilated, lost, stolen or
destroyed, the Company shall issue or cause to be issued in exchange and substitution for and upon cancellation thereof, or in lieu of
and substitution therefor, a new certificate, note or instrument, but only upon receipt of evidence reasonably satisfactory to the
Company of such loss, theft or destruction and customary and reasonable indemnity, if requested. The applicants for a new certificate,
note or instrument under such circumstances shall also pay any reasonable third-party costs associated with the issuance of such
replacement Securities.
5.14 Remedies. In addition to being entitled to exercise all rights and remedies provided herein or granted by Law, including
recovery of damages, the Purchaser and the Company will be entitled to specific performance under the Transaction Documents. The
parties agree that monetary damages may not be adequate compensation for any loss incurred by reason of any breach of
obligations described in the foregoing sentence and hereby agrees to waive in any action for specific performance of any such
obligation the defense that a remedy at law would be adequate.
5.15 Construction. The parties agree that each of them and/or their respective counsel has reviewed and had an opportunity
to revise the Transaction Documents and, therefore, the normal rule of construction to the effect that any ambiguities are to be
resolved against the drafting party shall not be employed in the interpretation of the Transaction Documents or any amendments
hereto.
(Signature Pages Follow)
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Securities Purchase Agreement to be duly executed by their
respective authorized signatories as of the date first indicated above.
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COMPANY:EMERGENT CAPITAL, INC.

By: /s/ Antony Mitchell
Name: Antony Mitchell
Title: Chief Executive Officer

[Signature Page to Securities Purchase Agreement]
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PURCHASER:BRENNAN OPPORTUNITIES FUND I LP

By: /s/ Patrick T. Brennan
Name: Patrick T. Brennan
Title: GP
Registered Name:
Address:

Brennan Opportunities Fund I LP

1 Sea Breeze Court
Napa, CA 94559
Attention: _______________
Facsimile: (___) ___-____
Email: __________________

Federal Tax ID:

82-2007132

Copies of notices to be sent to:
________________________
________________________
________________________
Attention: _______________
Facsimile: (___) ___-____
Email: __________________

[Signature Page to Securities Purchase Agreement]
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SCHEDULE 1
Purchase and Sale of Securities

1. Closing: August 11, 2017
A. Common Stock
Name and Address of Purchaser

Number of Shares

Per Share Purchase
Price

Share Purchase Price

8,750,000

$0.40

$3,500,000.00

BRENNAN OPPORTUNITIES FUND I LP
1 Sea Breeze Court
Napa, CA 94559

B. Note
Investor
BRENNAN OPPORTUNITIES FUND I LP
1 Sea Breeze Court
Napa, CA 94559
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Principal Amount of Note Note Purchase Price
$3,500,000

$3,500,000

2. Closing on or before August 14,
2017
A. Common Stock
Name and Address of Purchaser

Number of Shares

Per Share Purchase
Price

Share Purchase Price

3,750,000

$0.40

1,500,0000

BRENNAN OPPORTUNITIES FUND I LP
1 Sea Breeze Court
Napa, CA 94559

B. Note
Investor

BRENNAN OPPORTUNITIES FUND I LP
1 Sea Breeze Court
Napa, CA 94559
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Principal Amount of Note

$1,500,000

Note Purchase Price

$1,500,000

EXHIBIT A
LEGEND
THIS SECURITY HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES
ACT”), OR ANY OTHER SECURITIES LAWS. THE HOLDER AGREES NOT TO OFFER, SELL OR OTHERWISE TRANSFER THIS
SECURITY PRIOR TO THE DATE PERMITTED BY RULE 144 UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR ANY SUCCESSOR PROVISION
THERETO (THE “RESALE RESTRICTION TERMINATION DATE”), EXCEPT (A) TO EMERGENT CAPITAL, INC. (THE
“COMPANY”) OR ANY SUBSIDIARY THEREOF, (B) OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 904 OF
REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, (C) PURSUANT TO RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT TO A PERSON
THE SELLER REASONABLY BELIEVES IS A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER AS DEFINED IN RULE 144A THAT
PURCHASES FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OF A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER TO WHOM NOTICE
IS GIVEN THAT THE TRANSFER IS BEING MADE IN RELIANCE ON RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, OR (D)
PURSUANT TO ANY OTHER AVAILABLE EXEMPTION FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES
ACT, SUBJECT TO THE COMPANY’S AND THE TRUSTEE’S RIGHT PRIOR TO ANY SUCH OFFER, SALE OR TRANSFER
PURSUANT TO CLAUSE (B) OR (D) TO REQUIRE THE DELIVERY OF AN OPINION OF COUNSEL, CERTIFICATIONS AND/OR
OTHER INFORMATION SATISFACTORY TO EACH OF THEM.

4815-7181-3964v.5

Execution Version

REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT
This Registration Rights Agreement (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of August 11, 2017, by and between
Emergent Capital, Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Company”), and Brennan Opportunities Fund I LP, a Delaware limited partnership
(the “Purchaser”, and together with the Company, the “Parties”).
WHEREAS, the Company and the Purchaser are parties to that certain Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of date
hereof (the “Securities Purchase Agreement”) pursuant to which, among other things, the Company shall issue and sell to the
Purchaser 12,500,000 shares of Common Stock (as defined below);
WHEREAS, it is a condition under the Securities Purchase Agreement that this Agreement be executed by the Parties,
and the Parties are willing to execute this Agreement and to be bound by the provisions hereof.
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth herein and for good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:
1.

Definitions.

As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings indicated below. Capitalized terms not otherwise
defined in this Agreement shall have the meanings assigned to them in Securities Purchase Agreement.
“Affiliate” means, in respect of any Person, any other Person that directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries Controls, is Controlled by, or is under common Control with, the first Person.
“Business Day” means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in Boca Raton,
Florida or Waco, Texas, are authorized or required to close.
“Closing Date” means July 28, 2017.
“Common Stock” means the common stock of the Company, par value $.01 per share.
“Demand Notice” has the meaning given such term in Section 2(b).
“Demand Party” has the meaning given such term in Section 2(b).
“Effectiveness Period” has the meaning given such term in Section 2(d)(i).
“Holder” means each and/or any of, (i) the Purchaser and (ii) any holder of Registrable Securities to whom registration
rights conferred by this Agreement have been transferred in compliance with Section 7(c) hereof.
“Holder Indemnified Person” has the meaning given such term in Section 4(a).
“Holder Underwriter Registration Statement” has the meaning given such term in Section 2(d)(xii).
1

“July Registration Rights Agreement” means that certain Registration Rights Agreement dated as of July 28, 2017, by
and among the Company and the parties listed on Schedule A, Schedule B and Schedule C attached thereto, as same may be
amended and supplemented from time to time.
“Losses” has the meaning given such term in Section 4(a).
“Opt Out Notice” has the meaning given such term in Section 2(c).
“Other Holder” has the meaning given such term in Section 2(b).
“Other Notice” has the meaning given such term in Section 2(b).
“Party” has the meaning given such term in the preamble.
“Person” means any individual, partnership, firm, corporation, association, trust, unincorporated organization, joint
venture, limited liability company or other entity.
“Piggyback Offering Notice” has the meaning given such term in Section 2(c).
“Prospectus” means the prospectus included in the Registration Statement (including a prospectus that includes any
information previously omitted from a prospectus filed as part of an effective Registration Statement in reliance upon Rule 430A,
Rule 430B or Rule 430C promulgated under the Securities Act), as amended or supplemented by any Prospectus supplement, with
respect to the terms of the offering of any portion of the Registrable Securities covered by such Registration Statement and all other
amendments and supplements to the Prospectus, including post-effective amendments, and all material incorporated by reference or
deemed to be incorporated by reference in such Prospectus.
“Registrable Securities” means (a) the Shares and (b) any securities issued in exchange for or in replacement of
Registrable Securities; provided, however, that Registrable Securities shall not include: (i) any Shares that have been registered
under the Securities Act and disposed of pursuant to an effective Registration Statement or otherwise transferred to a Person who is
not entitled to the registration and other rights hereunder; (ii) any Shares that have been sold or transferred by the Holder thereof
pursuant to Rule 144 such that the transferee thereof does not receive “restricted securities” as defined in Rule 144; and (iii) any
Shares that cease to be outstanding.
“Registration Expenses” has the meaning given such term in Section 3.
“Registration Statement” has the meaning given such term in Section 2(a).
“Securities Purchase Agreement” has the meaning given such term in the recitals.
“S-3 Shelf Registration Statement” has the meaning given such term in Section 2(a).
“Shares” means shares of Common Stock to be issued and sold pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement and
any other equity interests of the Company or equity interests in any successor of the Company issued in respect of such Shares by
reason of or in connection with any stock dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, combination, reclassification, merger, consolidation,
reorganization, recapitalization, conversion to another type of entity or similar event involving a change in the capital structure of the
Company.
“Suspension Notice” has the meaning given such term in Section 2(f).
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“Suspension Period” has the meaning given such term in Section 2(f).
“Underwritten Shelf Take-Down” has the meaning given such term in Section 2(b).
Unless the context requires otherwise: (a) references to Sections refer to Sections of this Agreement; (b) the terms
“include,” “includes,” “including” and words of like import shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation”; (c) the term
“or” is not exclusive and shall have the inclusive meaning of “and/or”; (d) defined terms herein will apply equally to both the singular
and plural forms and derivative forms of defined terms will have correlative meanings; (e) references to any law or statute shall include
all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and references to any law or statute shall be construed as including any legal and
statutory provisions consolidating, amending, succeeding or replacing the applicable law or statute; (f) references to any Person
include such Person’s successors and permitted assigns; and (g) references to “days” are to calendar days unless otherwise
indicated.
2. Registration Procedures; Transfer of Shares After Registration; Suspension Period.
(a) As soon as reasonably practicable after the date of this Agreement, and in any event within 60 days following the
Closing Date, the Company shall prepare and file with the SEC a shelf registration statement on an appropriate form under the
Securities Act covering the resale of the Registrable Securities (the “Registration Statement”) and the Company shall use its best
efforts to cause the Registration Statement to be declared effective upon the earliest to occur of (i) the date that is 120 days after the
Closing Date, (ii) the date that is two (2) Business Days after the date that the SEC communicates to the Company that it has no
comments to the Registration Statement, and (iii) the date that is two (2) Business Days after the date that the SEC communicates to
the Company that all comments with respect to the Registration Statement have been resolved. The Registration Statement when
declared effective will comply as to form in all material respects with all applicable requirements of the Securities Act and the
Exchange Act and will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein
or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading (and, in the case of the Prospectus, in the light of the circumstances
under which a statement is made). If the Company subsequently becomes eligible to use Form S-3 or such other short-form
registration statement form under the Securities Act, the Company shall promptly give notice of such eligibility to the Holders and may
(unless the Holders reasonably object) or shall, at the request of the Holders, promptly convert the Registration Statement to a
registration statement on Form S-3 or such other short-form registration statement by means of a post-effective amendment or
otherwise (the “S-3 Shelf Registration Statement”) for the resale of any then existing Registrable Securities unless any Holder with
Registrable Securities registered under the Registration Statement notifies the Company within ten (10) Business Days of receipt of
the Company’s notice that such conversion would interfere with its distribution of Registrable Securities already in progress and
provides a reasonable explanation therefor, in which case the Company will delay the conversion of the Registration Statement for a
reasonable time after receipt of the first such notice, not to exceed 30 days in the aggregate, for all Holders requesting such
suspension (unless the Company, at such time as the conversion to Form S-3 or such other short-form registration statement may
occur, would otherwise be required to amend the Registration Statement and require that Holders suspend sales). Upon the
effectiveness of the S-3 Shelf Registration Statement, all references to the Registration Statement in this Agreement shall then
automatically be deemed to be a reference to the S-3 Shelf Registration Statement.
(b) Notwithstanding Section 2(a), Holders (i) holding at least 45% of the aggregate Registrable Securities outstanding
as of the date hereof then held by the Holders or (ii) who wish to dispose of Registrable Securities and who reasonably anticipate
gross proceeds from an underwritten
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offering and sale of such Registrable Securities would be at least $3 million (in either case, each such Holder, a Demand
“
Party” and
collectively, the “Demand Parties”) by written request (a “Demand Notice”) to the Company may notify the Company of their intention
to have the Company initiate an underwritten offering and sale of Registrable Securities pursuant to the Registration Statement (an
“Underwritten Shelf Take-Down”). Within three (3) Business Days after receipt of a Demand Notice, the Company shall give written
notice (the “Other Notice”) to the Holders other than the Demand Parties (each, an Other
“
Holder”) regarding such Demand Notice,
and any Other Holder that wishes to have its Registrable Securities included in such Underwritten Shelf Take-Down must, within ten
(10) Business Days of receiving the Other Notice, notify the Company in writing of the amount of such Other Holder’s Registrable
Securities to be included in such Underwritten Shelf Take-Down. Upon such request and notice(s), the Company shall file and use its
best efforts to have declared effective, if applicable, an amendment or supplement to the Registration Statement for such purpose as
soon as practicable.
(i) In the event of an Underwritten Shelf Take-Down, the right of any Holder to include its Registrable Securities
in such registration shall be conditioned upon such Holder’s participation in such underwriting and the inclusion of such Holder’s
Registrable Securities in such underwriting (unless otherwise mutually agreed by a majority in interest, based on the number of
Shares to be included in the Underwritten Shelf Take-Down, of the Demand Party(ies) and such Holder) to the extent provided herein.
The Company and all the Holders proposing to include Registrable Securities in such Underwritten Shelf Take-Down shall enter into
an underwriting agreement in customary form with a managing underwriter or underwriters selected for such Underwritten Shelf TakeDown by the Demand Parties and reasonably acceptable to the Company. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section 2(b), if
the underwriter(s) advise(s) the Company in writing that marketing factors require a limitation on the number of securities to be
underwritten, or if counsel to the Company or the underwriter(s) advise in writing that the rules or regulations of the Securities Act
require such a limitation on the number of securities to be underwritten, then the Company shall so advise all the Holders of
Registrable Securities which would otherwise be registered and underwritten pursuant hereto, and the number of Registrable
Securities that may be included in the underwriting shall be reduced as required by the underwriter(s) and allocated among such
Holders of Registrable Securities pro rata based on the ratio that the number of Registrable Securities that each such Holder
requesting registration (including the Demand Party or Demand Parties, as applicable) requested to be included in such Underwritten
Shelf Take-Down bears to the total number of Registrable Securities that all Demand Parties and Other Holders requested to be
included in such Underwritten Shelf Take-Down; provided, that if, as a result of such pro-ration, any Demand Party or Other Holder
shall not be entitled to include in a registration all Registrable Securities of the class that such Holder had requested be included,
such Holder may elect to withdraw its request to include such Registrable Securities in such registration or may reduce the number
requested to be included, whereupon only the Registrable Securities, if any, it desires to have included will be so included and the
Holders not so reducing shall be entitled to have a corresponding increase in the amount of Registrable Securities to be included in
such Underwritten Shelf Take-Down; provided, however, that such withdrawal or reduction (x) must be made in writing by the Holder
desiring to effect such withdrawal or reduction prior to the earlier of the execution of the underwriting agreement and the execution of
the custody agreement with respect to such registration and (y) shall be irrevocable; provided, however, that in any underwritten
offering of securities in connection with an Underwritten Shelf Take-Down, the right of the underwriter(s) to exclude securities
(including Registrable Securities) from the registration and underwriting as described above shall be restricted so that all originally
issued securities by the Company and all securities that are not Registrable Securities and are held by any Person other than the
Holder, including, without limitation, any Person who is an employee, officer or director of the Company (or any subsidiary of the
Company) shall first be excluded from such registration and underwriting before any Registrable Securities are so excluded. If any
Holder disapproves of the
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terms of any such underwriting with respect to an Underwritten Shelf Take-Down, such Holder may elect to withdraw therefrom by
written notice to the Company and the underwriter(s), which notice shall be delivered at least ten (10) Business Days prior to the
effective date of the registration statement. Any Registrable Securities excluded or withdrawn from such underwriting shall be
excluded and withdrawn from the registration.
(ii)
The Company shall be obligated to effect only two (2) such registrations pursuant to this Section 2(b);
provided, that a registration requested pursuant to this Section 2(b) shall not be deemed to have been effected unless the relevant
amendment or supplement to the Registration Statement (i) has been filed with the SEC and, if required, been declared effective by
the SEC, (ii) has remained effective for the period set forth below and (iii) is not subject to any stop order, injunction or other order or
requirement of the SEC (other than any such stop order, injunction, or other requirement of the SEC prompted by act or omission of
the Holders of Registrable Securities) that has not been withdrawn; provided, however, that if, after a registration statement has
become effective, an offering of Registrable Securities pursuant to such registration statement is terminated by any stop order,
injunction, or other order of the SEC or other Governmental Authority or Judicial Authority, such registration pursuant thereto will be
deemed not to have been effected and will not count as a registration pursuant to this Section 2(b) for purposes of the limitations set
forth in this paragraph. In addition, a registration will not count as a registration pursuant to this Section 2(b) for purposes of the
limitations set forth in this paragraph if, (A) the registration statement amendment and/or supplement, as applicable, relating to such
registration pursuant to this Section 2(b) is not declared effective within forty-five (45) days (in any case where the SEC has no
comments on the registration statement amendment and/or supplement, as applicable) or ninety (90) days (in any case where the
SEC has comments on the registration statement amendment and/or supplement, as applicable) of the date such registration
statement amendment and/or supplement, as applicable, is first filed with the SEC (so long as the Demand Parties withdraw their
request prior to the effective date of the registration statement amendment and/or supplement, as applicable), (B) more than ten
percent (10%) of the Registrable Securities requested by the Demand Parties to be included in such Underwritten Shelf Take-Down
are not so included pursuant to Section 2(b), or (C) the conditions to closing specified in the underwriting agreement or purchase
agreement entered into in connection with the registration relating to such request are not satisfied. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
the Company will pay all Registration Expenses in connection with any Underwritten Shelf Take-Down, regardless of whether or not
such Underwritten Shelf Take-Down counts as one of the permitted Underwritten Shelf Take-Downs under Section 2(a).
(iii) The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to keep effective any registration effected pursuant
to this Section 2(b) until the earlier of (i) the date that all of the Registrable Securities registered thereon have been sold and (ii) the
date that all Holders whose Registrable Securities are included in such registration notify the Company in writing that they will not
make any further sales thereunder.
(iv) The Company may, by notice to the Holders, suspend for up to ninety (90) days the filing or effectiveness of
a registration statement and the use of the related Prospectus for any such Underwritten Shelf Take-Down if the Company
determines in good faith that such Underwritten Shelf Take-Down would (i) materially interfere with a significant acquisition, corporate
reorganization, financing, securities offering or other similar transaction involving the Company; (ii) require disclosure of material nonpublic information concerning the Company, the disclosure of which at that time, in the good faith judgment of the Company, would
not be in the best interests of the Company; or (iii) render the Company unable to comply with requirements under the Securities Act
or Exchange Act. The Company may delay an Underwritten Shelf Take-Down pursuant to this Section 2(b)(iv) only once in any period
of 12 consecutive months.
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(c) If the Company proposes to register Common Stock under the Securities Act (other than a registration on Form S-4
or Form S-8, or any successor or other forms promulgated for similar purposes, and other than registrations pursuant to Section 2(a)
or Section 2(b)), whether or not for sale for its own account, in a manner which would permit registration of Registrable Securities for
sale to the public under the Securities Act, it will, at each such time, give prompt (and, in any event, at least ten (10) Business Days
prior to the filing of a registration statement with respect thereto with the SEC) written notice (a “Piggyback Offering Notice”) to the
Holders of its intention to do so, the anticipated filing date with the SEC of such registration statement, the anticipated date that the
registration statement will be declared or otherwise become effective, whether the offering is to be underwritten and the anticipated
date and time that the offering will be made. The registration rights provided for in this Section 2(c) are in addition to, and not in lieu
of, the registration rights set forth in Section 2(a) and Section 2(b).
( i ) If the Company delivers a Piggyback Offering Notice, upon the written request of any Holder (which request
shall specify the Registrable Securities intended to be included in such registration), made within ten (10) Business Days after the
receipt of any such Piggyback Offering Notice, the Company will, subject to the conditions set forth in Section 6, use all commercially
reasonable efforts to effect the registration under the Securities Act of all Registrable Securities which the Company has been so
requested to register by the Holders thereof.
(ii) If a registration pursuant to this Section 2(c) involves an underwritten offering, any Holder may, in writing (i)
request to include some or all of its Registrable Securities, subject to the conditions set forth in Section 6, and (ii) elect, prior to the
effective date of the registration statement filed in connection with such registration, not to register all or any part of such Holder’s
Registrable Securities in connection with such registration.
(iii)

[Intentionally omitted].

(iv) Any Holder may deliver written notice (an “Opt Out Notice”) to the Company requesting that such Holder not
receive from the Company any notice of any underwritten offering or any blackout periods contemplated by Section 2(b)(iv). Such Opt
Out Notice shall contain a covenant that the Holder will not attempt to effect any sales under the Registration Statement while the Opt
Out Notice is in effect; however such Holder may make sales under Rule 144. Any Holder that delivers an Opt Out Notice may later
revoke any such notice.

(d)
In connection with its obligations contained in Section 2(a), Section 2(b) and Section 2(c) and during the
Effectiveness Period (as defined below), the Company shall use all commercially reasonable efforts to:
( i ) prepare and file with the SEC such amendments and supplements to the Registration Statement and the
Prospectus used in connection therewith as may be necessary or advisable to keep the Registration Statement current and effective
for the Registrable Securities held by the Holders for a period ending on such time as all Registrable Securities covered by such
Registration Statement, as amended from time to time, have been sold (collectively, the “Effectiveness Period”). The Company shall
notify the Holder promptly upon the Registration Statement and each post-effective amendment thereto being declared effective by
the SEC and advise the Holder that the form of Prospectus contained in the Registration Statement or post-effective amendment
thereto, as the case may be, at the time of effectiveness meets the requirements of Section 10(a) of the Securities Act or that it
intends to file a Prospectus pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act that meets the requirements of Section 10(a) of the
Securities Act;
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(ii) furnish, upon reasonable request, to each applicable Holder (x) as far in advance as reasonably practicable
before filing the Registration Statement or any other registration statement contemplated by this Agreement or any supplement or
amendment thereto, copies of reasonably complete drafts of all such documents proposed to be filed (including exhibits and each
document incorporated by reference into such registration statement or any supplement or amendment thereto), and provide each
such applicable Holder the opportunity to object to any information pertaining to such Holder and its plan of distribution that is
contained therein and make the corrections reasonably requested by such Holder with respect to such information prior to filing such
registration statement and the prospectus included therein or any supplement or amendment thereto and (y) copies of any and all
transmittal letters or other correspondence with the SEC or any other Governmental Authority or self-regulatory organization or other
Person having jurisdiction (including any domestic or foreign securities exchange) relating to such offering of Registrable Securities;
(iii) furnish to the Holder with respect to the Registrable Securities registered under the Registration Statement
such number of copies of the Registration Statement and the Prospectus (including supplemental prospectuses) filed with the SEC in
conformance with the requirements of the Securities Act and such other documents as each such Holder may reasonably request, in
order to facilitate the public sale or other disposition of all or any of the Registrable Securities by such Holder;
(iv)

make any necessary blue sky filings;

(v) advise the Holder and any applicable underwriters, promptly after it shall receive notice or obtain knowledge
of the issuance or threat of issuance of any stop order by the SEC delaying or suspending the effectiveness of the Registration
Statement or of the initiation of any Legal Proceeding for that purpose; and the Company will promptly use all commercially
reasonable efforts to prevent the issuance of any stop order or to obtain its withdrawal at the earliest possible moment if such stop
order should be issued;
(vi) with a view to making available to the Holder the benefits of Rule 144 and any other rule or regulation of the
SEC that may at any time permit the Holder to sell Registrable Securities to the public without registration, the Company covenants
and agrees to: (i) make and keep public information available, as such term is understood and defined in Rule 144, until the earlier of
(A) such date as all of the Registrable Securities qualify to be resold immediately pursuant to Rule 144 or any other rule of similar
effect during any three-month period without the requirement for the Company to be in compliance with the current public information
required under Rule 144(c)(1) and without regard to volume or manner of sale restrictions, and (B) such date as all of the Registrable
Securities shall have been resold pursuant to Rule 144 (and may be further resold without restriction, including, without regard to
volume or manner of sale restrictions); (ii) file with the SEC in a timely manner all reports and other documents required of the
Company under the Securities Act and under the Exchange Act; and (iii) furnish to the Holder upon request, as long as such Holder
owns any Registrable Securities, (A) a written statement by the Company as to whether it has complied with the reporting
requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, (B) a copy of the Company’s most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K or
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, and (C) such other information as may be reasonably requested in order to avail such Holder of any
rule or regulation of the SEC that permits the selling of any such Registrable Securities without registration;
(vii) immediately notify each applicable Holder and each applicable underwriter, at any time when a prospectus
relating thereto is required to be delivered under the Securities Act, of (x) the happening of any event as a result of which the
prospectus or prospectus supplement contained in any registration statement contemplated by this Agreement, as then in effect,
includes an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make
the statements therein not misleading in the light of the circumstances then existing;
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(y) the receipt by the SEC of any notification with respect to the suspension of the qualification of any Registrable Securities for sale
under the applicable securities or blue sky laws of any jurisdiction; or (z) any SEC request that a registration statement contemplated
by the Agreement be amended or supplemented. Following the provision of such notice, the Company agrees as promptly as
reasonably practicable to amend or supplement the prospectus or prospectus supplement or take other appropriate action so that the
prospectus or prospectus supplement does not include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required
to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading in the light of the circumstances then existing;
(viii) in the case of an underwritten offering, use commercially reasonable efforts to furnish upon request, (i) an
opinion of counsel for the Company in customary form dated the date of the closing of the underwritten offering, and (ii) a “cold
comfort” letter or letters, dated the date of execution of the underwriting agreement and a letter or letters of like kind dated the date of
the closing of the underwritten offering, in each case, signed by the independent public accountants who have certified the financial
statements included or incorporated by reference into the applicable registration statement, and each of the opinion and the “cold
comfort” letter or letters shall be in customary form and covering substantially the same matters with respect to such registration
statement (and the prospectus and any prospectus supplement included therein) and as are customarily covered in opinions of
issuer’s counsel and in accountants’ letters delivered to the underwriters in an underwritten offering of securities of the Company and
such other matters as such underwriters may reasonably request;
( i x ) otherwise use its commercially reasonable efforts to comply with all applicable rules and regulations of the
SEC, and make generally available to its security holders (or otherwise provide in accordance with Section 11(a) of the Securities
Act) an earnings statement satisfying the provisions of Section 11(a) of the Securities Act in accordance with Rule 158 thereunder (or
any similar rule promulgated under the Securities Act) or otherwise;
( x ) make available to the appropriate representatives of the managing underwriter and each applicable Holder
who is an Affiliate of the Company access to such information and personnel as is reasonable and customary to enable such parties
to establish a due diligence defense under the Securities Act; provided that the Company need not disclose any information to any
such representative unless and until such representative has entered into a confidentiality agreement with the Company;
( x i ) provide a transfer agent and registrar or perform the functions thereof, as applicable, for all Registrable
Securities covered by such registration statement not later than the effective date of such registration statement;
( x i i ) if any Holder could reasonably be deemed to be an “underwriter,” as defined in Section 2(a)(11) of the
Securities Act or a “controlling person” within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act, in
connection with the registration statement in respect of any registration of Registrable Securities of such Holder pursuant to this
Agreement, and any amendment or supplement thereof (any such registration statement or amendment or supplement, a “Holder
Underwriter Registration Statement”), then the Company will cooperate with such Holder in allowing such Holder to conduct
customary “underwriter’s due diligence” with respect to the Company and satisfy its obligations in respect thereof. In addition, at any
Holder’s request, the Company will furnish to such Holder, on the date of the effectiveness of any Holder Underwriter Registration
Statement and thereafter from time to time on such dates as such Holder may reasonably request, (i) a letter, dated such date, from
the Company’s independent certified public accountants in form and substance as is customarily given by independent certified public
accountants to underwriters in an underwritten public offering, addressed to such Holder, (ii) an opinion, dated as of such date, of
counsel representing the Company for purposes of such Holder Underwriter Registration Statement, in form, scope and substance
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as is customarily given in an underwritten public offering, including a standard “10b-5” negative assurance for such offering,
addressed to such Holder and (iii) a standard officer’s certificate from the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the
Company addressed to such Holder. The Company will also permit one legal counsel to such Holder(s) to review and comment upon
any such Holder Underwriter Registration Statement at least five (5) Business Days prior to its filing with the SEC and all amendments
and supplements to any such Holder Underwriter Registration Statement within a reasonable number of days prior to their filing with
the SEC and not file any Holder Underwriter Registration Statement or amendment or supplement thereto in a form to which such
Holder’s legal counsel reasonably objects;
(xiii) take no direct or indirect action prohibited by Regulation M under the Exchange Act, provided, that, to the
extent that any prohibition is applicable to the Company, the Company will take all reasonable steps to make any such prohibition
inapplicable; and
(xiv) cause all such Registrable Securities that consist of shares of Common Stock covered by each Registration
Statement to be listed on the Trading Market.

The Company understands that the Holder may disclaim being an underwriter, but acknowledges that a determination by the
SEC that such Holder is deemed an underwriter shall not relieve the Company of any obligations it has hereunder.
(e) Except in the event that Section 2(f) below applies, the Company shall during the Effectiveness Period: (i) prepare
and file from time to time with the SEC a post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement or a supplement to the related
Prospectus or a supplement or amendment to any document incorporated therein by reference or file any other required document so
that such Registration Statement will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be
stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, and so that, as thereafter delivered to purchasers of the
Registrable Securities being sold thereunder, such Prospectus will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which
they were made, not misleading; (ii) provide the Holder copies of any documents filed pursuant to clause (i) above; and (iii) upon
request, inform the Holder who so requests that the Company has complied with its obligations in Section 2(f)(i) below (or that, if the
Company has filed a post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement which has not yet been declared effective, the Company
will notify the Holder to that effect, will use all commercially reasonable efforts to secure the effectiveness of such post-effective
amendment as promptly as possible and will promptly notify the Holder pursuant to Section 2(f)(i) when the amendment has become
effective).
(f) In the event: (i) of any request by the SEC or any other Governmental Authority during the Effectiveness Period for
amendments or supplements to the Registration Statement or related Prospectus or for additional information; (ii) of the issuance by
the SEC or any other Governmental Authority of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement or the
initiation of any Legal Proceedings for that purpose; (iii) of the receipt by the Company of any notification with respect to the
suspension of the qualification or exemption from qualification of any of the Registrable Securities for sale in any jurisdiction or the
initiation of any Legal Proceeding for such purpose; or (iv) of any event or circumstance which necessitates the making of any
changes in the Registration Statement or Prospectus, or any document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated therein by
reference, so that, in the case of the Registration Statement, it will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, and that in the case of the
Prospectus, it will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or
necessary to make the statements
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therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; then the Company shall promptly deliver a
certificate in writing to the Holder (the “Suspension Notice”) to the effect of the foregoing and, upon receipt of such Suspension Notice,
the Holder will refrain from selling any Registrable Securities pursuant to the Registration Statement until such Holder is advised in
writing by the Company that the current Prospectus may be used, and have received copies from the Company of any additional or
supplemental filings that are incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference in any such Prospectus (each such period, a
“Suspension Period”). In the event of any Suspension Period, the Company will use all commercially reasonable efforts to cause the
use of the Prospectus so suspended to be resumed as soon as reasonably practicable after delivery of a Suspension Notice to the
Holders. In addition to and without limiting any other remedies (including, without limitation, at law or at equity) available to the
Company and the Holder, the Company and the Holder shall be entitled to specific performance in the event that the other Party fails
to comply with the provisions of this Section 2(f).
(g) Notwithstanding the foregoing paragraphs of this Section 2, the Company shall use all commercially reasonable
efforts to ensure that (i) a Suspension Period shall not exceed thirty (30) days individually, (ii) Suspension Periods shall not cover
more than forty five (45) days, in the aggregate, during any consecutive twelve (12) month period, and (iii) each Suspension Period
shall be separated by a period of at least thirty (30) days from a prior Suspension Period. Any suspension of the right to use any
registration statement shall result in an extension of the registration period equal to the number of days of the suspension.
(h)
The Company shall cause certificates evidencing the Registrable Securities not to contain any Securities Act
legend: (i) upon the effectiveness of a registration statement (including the Registration Statement) covering such Registrable
Securities, or (ii) following a sale of such Registrable Securities pursuant to Rule 144, or (iii) upon such Registrable Securities
becoming eligible for sale under Rule 144, or (iv) if such legend is not required under applicable requirements of the Securities Act
(including judicial interpretations and pronouncements issued by the Staff of the SEC). Following such time as restrictive legends are
not required to be placed on certificates representing Shares, the Company will, no later than five (5) Trading Days following the
delivery by the Holder to the Company or the Company’s transfer agent of a certificate representing Shares that are Registrable
Securities containing a restrictive legend, deliver or cause to be delivered to such Holder a certificate representing such Registrable
Securities that is free from all restrictive and other legends. The Company shall, immediately following the Registration Statement
being declared effective, cause its counsel to issue a legal opinion to the Company’s transfer agent with respect to the Registrable
Securities to effect the removal of the restrictive legend contemplated by this Agreement. The Company may not make any notation
on its records or give instructions to any transfer agent for the Registrable Securities that enlarge the restrictions on transfer set forth
in this Agreement. Certificates for Shares that are Registrable Securities subject to legend removal hereunder shall be transmitted by
the Company’s transfer agent with respect to the Registrable Securities to the Holder by crediting the account of the Holder’s prime
broker with the Depository Trust Company system.
(i) In the event of any underwritten offering, the Company shall (A) enter into and perform its obligations under an
underwriting agreement in usual and customary form, with the managing underwriter(s) of such offering and (B) furnish, in connection
with any underwritten registration, on the date that such Registrable Securities are delivered to the underwriters for sale, (1) an
opinion, dated as of such date, of the counsel representing the Company for the purposes of such registration, in form and substance
as is customarily given to underwriters in an underwritten public offering addressed to the underwriters, and (2) a “comfort” letter dated
as of such date, from the independent auditors of the
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Company, in form and substance as is customarily given by independent auditors to underwriters in an underwritten public offering
addressed to the underwriters.
(j) The Company shall use reasonable efforts to procure the cooperation of the Company’s transfer agent in settling
any offering or sale of Registrable Securities, including with respect to the transfer of physical stock certificates into book-entry form in
accordance with any procedures reasonably requested by the Holders or any underwriter.
(k) In the event of an underwritten offering of Registrable Securities in connection with an Underwritten Shelf TakeDown pursuant to Section 2(b), the Company and the Holders agree not to effect, without the prior written consent of a majority of the
Holders, based on the number of Registrable Securities then held by the Holders, any public sale or public distribution of any
securities that are the same as, or similar to, the Registrable Securities, or any securities convertible into, or exchangeable or
exercisable for, any securities of the Company that are the same as, or similar to, the Registrable Securities (other than a registration
on Form S-4 or Form S-8, or any successor or other forms promulgated for similar purposes), during the period commencing fifteen
(15) days prior to the effective date of the registration statement relating to such underwritten offering and ending on the ninetieth
(90th) day after the effective date of such registration statement.
(l) The Company shall take all such other reasonable actions as are necessary to effect the registration or facilitate the
disposition of the Registrable Securities in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
3. Registration Expenses. The Company will pay all Registration Expenses associated with each registration of Registrable
Securities pursuant to this Agreement. “Registration Expenses” shall include, without limitation, (i) all registration and filing fees
(including fees and expenses (A) with respect to filings required to be made with the Trading Market and (B) in compliance with
applicable state securities or “blue sky” laws), (ii) printing expenses, (iii) messenger, telephone and delivery expenses, (iv) fees and
disbursements of counsel, auditors and accountants for the Company, (v) fees and expenses of all other Persons retained by the
Company in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and (vi) reasonable and
documented fees and expenses of one additional counsel selected by the Holders that are, as of the date hereof, holders of at least a
majority of the Registrable Securities of such Holders to be included in any registration statement, prospectus or free writing
prospectus contemplated by this Agreement.
4. Indemnification.
(a) The Company shall indemnify and hold harmless the Holder, its Affiliates and each of their respective officers and
directors, members, managers and general and limited partners (and each other Person who controls such Holder (within the meaning
of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act)) and any agent thereof (collectively, “Holder Indemnified
Persons”), to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, from and against any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, joint or
several, costs (including reasonable costs of preparation and reasonable attorneys’ fees) and expenses, judgments, fines, penalties,
interest, settlements or other amounts arising from any Legal Proceeding, in which any Holder Indemnified Person may be involved,
or is threatened to be involved, as a party or otherwise, under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, state securities or “blue sky” laws
or otherwise (collectively, “Losses”), as incurred, (i) arising out of or relating to any untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material
fact contained in the Registration Statement or any other registration statement contemplated by this Agreement (including, in each
case, all documents incorporated therein by reference), in any preliminary Prospectus or any other prospectus contemplated
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by this agreement (including, in each case, all documents incorporated therein by reference), or in any summary or final Prospectus
or other summary or final prospectus contemplated by this Agreement or free writing Prospectus or other free writing prospectus
contemplated by this Agreement (including, in each case, all documents incorporated therein by reference and all amendments and
supplements thereto), or arising out of, based upon or resulting from the omission or alleged omission to state therein a material fact
required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements made therein, in the light of the circumstances in which they were
made, not misleading or (ii) arising out of or based upon any violation by the Company or any of its agents of any rule or regulation
promulgated under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, any other similar federal or state securities laws or “blue sky” laws
applicable to the Company and relating to action or inaction required of the Company in connection with any registration under which
any Registrable Securities were registered (including all documents incorporated therein by reference), in any preliminary prospectus
(including all documents incorporated therein by reference), or in any summary or final prospectus or free writing prospectus or in any
amendment or supplement thereto (including all documents incorporated therein by reference); provided, however, that the Company
shall not be liable to any Holder Indemnified Person to the extent that any such claim arises out of, is based upon or results from an
untrue or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission made in such registration statement, such preliminary, summary
or final prospectus or free writing prospectus or such amendment or supplement, in reliance upon and in conformity with written
information furnished to the Company by or on behalf of such Holder Indemnified Person specifically for use in the preparation
thereof. The Company shall notify the Holder promptly of the institution, threat or assertion of any Legal Proceeding of which the
Company is aware in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. This indemnity shall be in addition to any
liability the Company may otherwise have and shall remain in full force and effect regardless of any investigation made by or on
behalf of such Holder Indemnified Person or any indemnified party and shall survive the transfer of securities by the Holder.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, this Section 4 shall survive any termination or expiration of this Agreement
indefinitely.
(b) In connection with any Registration Statement in which any Holder participates, each such Holder shall, severally
and not jointly, indemnify and hold harmless the Company, its Affiliates and each of their respective officers, directors and any agent
thereof, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, from and against any and all Losses as incurred, arising out of or relating to
any untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in any such Registration Statement (including all documents
incorporated therein by reference), in any preliminary Prospectus (including all documents incorporated therein by reference), or in
any summary or final Prospectus or free writing Prospectus or in any amendment or supplement thereto (including all documents
incorporated therein by reference), or arising out of, based upon or resulting from the omission or alleged omission to state therein a
material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements made therein, in the light of the circumstances in
which they were made, not misleading, but only to the extent that the same are made in reliance and in conformity with information
relating to such Holder furnished in writing to the Company by or on behalf of such Holder for use therein. This indemnity shall be in
addition to any liability the Holder may otherwise have and shall remain in full force and effect regardless of any investigation made by
or on behalf of the Company or any indemnified party. In no event shall the liability of any selling Holder hereunder be greater in
amount than the dollar amount of the net proceeds (after underwriting fees, commissions or discounts) actually received by such
Holder from the sale of the Registrable Securities giving rise to such indemnification obligation.
(c) Any Person entitled to indemnification hereunder shall (i) give prompt written notice to the indemnifying party of any
claim with respect to which it seeks indemnification and (ii) unless in such indemnified party’s reasonable judgment a conflict of
interest between such indemnified and
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indemnifying parties may exist with respect to such claim or there may be reasonable defenses available to the indemnified party that
are different from or additional to those available to the indemnifying party, permit such indemnifying party to assume the defense of
such claim with counsel reasonably satisfactory to the indemnified party. If such defense is assumed, the indemnifying party shall not
be subject to any liability for any settlement made by the indemnified party without its consent (but such consent will not be
unreasonably withheld). An indemnifying party who is not entitled to, or elects not to, assume the defense of a claim shall not be
obligated to pay the fees and expenses of more than one counsel (in addition to any local counsel) for all parties indemnified by such
indemnifying party with respect to such claim, unless in the reasonable judgment of any indemnified party there may be one or more
legal or equitable defenses available to such indemnified party that are in addition to or may conflict with those available to another
indemnified party with respect to such claim. Failure to give prompt written notice shall not release the indemnifying party from its
obligations hereunder, except to the extent such indemnifying party is prejudiced thereby.
(d) If the indemnification provided for in this Section 4 is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unavailable to
an indemnified party with respect to any Losses referred to herein, the indemnifying party, in lieu of indemnifying such indemnified
party thereunder, shall to the extent permitted by applicable law contribute to the amount paid or payable by such indemnified party as
a result of such Losses in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of the indemnifying party, on the one hand, and
of the indemnified party, on the other, in connection with the untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or the omission to
state a material fact that resulted in such Losses, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. The relative fault of the
indemnifying party and of the indemnified party shall be determined by a court of law by reference to, among other things, whether the
untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or the omission to state a material fact relates to information supplied by the
indemnifying party or by the indemnified party and the parties’ relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to
correct or prevent such statement or omission; provided, that in no event shall any contribution by the Holder hereunder exceed the
net proceeds (after underwriting fees, commissions or discounts) actually received by such Holder from the sale of the Registrable
Securities giving rise to such contribution obligation.
5. Facilitation of Sales Pursuant to Rule 144. The Company shall timely file the reports required to be filed by it under the
Exchange Act or the Securities Act (including the reports under Sections 13 and 15(d) of the Exchange Act referred to in
subparagraph (c)(1) of Rule 144), and shall take such further action as any Holder may reasonably request, all to the extent required
from time to time to enable the Holders to sell Registrable Securities without registration under the Securities Act within the limitations
of the exemption provided by Rule 144. Upon the request of any Holder in connection with that Holder’s sale pursuant to Rule 144,
the Company shall deliver to such Holder a written statement as to whether it has complied with such requirements.
6. Exceptions to the Company’s Obligations.
(a) Notwithstanding anything in Section 2(c) to the contrary:
(i) if, at any time after giving a Piggyback Offering Notice, the Company shall determine for any reason not to proceed
with the proposed registration of the securities to be sold in connection therewith, the Company may, at its election, give written notice
of such determination to the Holders and, thereupon, shall be relieved of its obligation to register any Registrable Securities in
connection with such registration (but not from its obligation to pay the Registration Expenses in connection therewith); and
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( i i ) if a registration pursuant to Section 2(c) involves an underwritten offering, then the Company shall so advise the
Holders. In such event, the right of any such Holder’s Registrable Securities to be included in a registration pursuant to Section 2(c)
shall be conditioned upon such Holder’s participation in such underwriting and the inclusion of such Holder’s Registrable Securities in
the underwriting to the extent provided herein. All the Holders proposing to distribute their Registrable Securities through such
underwriting shall enter into an underwriting agreement in customary form with the managing underwriter or underwriters selected for
such underwriting by the Company. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, if the managing underwriter(s)
determine(s) in good faith that marketing factors require a limitation of the number of securities to be underwritten, or if counsel to the
Company or the underwriter(s) advise in writing that the rules or regulations of the Securities Act require such a limitation of the
number of securities to be underwritten, then the managing underwriter(s) may exclude securities from the registration and the
underwriting, and the number of securities that may be included in the registration and the underwriting shall be allocated, first to the
Company, and second, to each of the Holders requesting inclusion of their Registrable Securities pro rata based on the ratio that the
number of Registrable Securities that each such Holder requesting registration requested to be included in such underwritten offer
bears to the total number of Registrable Securities that all other Holders requested to be included in such underwritten offering;
provided, that if, as a result of such pro-ration, any Holder shall not be entitled to include in a registration all Registrable Securities of
the class that such Holder had requested be included, such Holder may elect to withdraw its request to include such Registrable
Securities in such registration or may reduce the number requested to be included, whereupon only the Registrable Securities, if any,
it desires to have included will be so included and the Holders not so reducing shall be entitled to have a corresponding increase in
the amount of Registrable Securities to be included in such underwritten offering; provided, however, that such withdrawal or
reduction (x) must be made in writing by the Holder desiring to effect such withdrawal or reduction prior to the earlier of the execution
of the underwriting agreement and the execution of the custody agreement with respect to such registration and (y) shall be
irrevocable; provided, however, that the right of the underwriter(s) to exclude securities (including Registrable Securities) from the
registration and underwriting as described above shall be restricted so that all securities that are not Registrable Securities and are
held by any other Person other than the Holder, excluding the Company but including, without limitation, any Person who is an
employee, officer or director of the Company (or any subsidiary of the Company) shall first be excluded from such registration and
underwriting before any Registrable Securities are so excluded. If the Holder disapproves of the terms of any such underwriting, such
Holder may elect to withdraw therefrom by written notice to the Company and the underwriter(s), delivered at least ten (10) Business
Days prior to the effective date of the registration statement. Any Registrable Securities excluded or withdrawn from such underwriting
shall be excluded and withdrawn from the registration.

(b) It shall be a condition precedent to the obligations of the Company to take any action pursuant to Section 2 that the
selling Holder or Holders shall furnish to the Company such information regarding themselves, the Registrable Securities held by
them, other Company securities held by them, and the intended method of disposition of such Registrable Securities as shall be
required to timely effect the registration of their Registrable Securities.
7. Miscellaneous.
(a)
Amendments and Waivers. No provision of this Agreement may be waived or amended except in a written
instrument signed by the Company and the Holder. The Company shall provide prior notice to the Holder of any proposed waiver or
amendment. No waiver of any default with respect to any provision, condition or requirement of this Agreement shall be deemed to be
a continuing waiver in the future or a waiver of any subsequent default or a waiver of any other provision,
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condition or requirement hereof, nor shall any delay or omission of any Party to exercise any right hereunder in any manner impair
the exercise of any such right.
(b) Notices. Any and all notices or other communications or deliveries required or permitted to be provided hereunder
shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given (a) when delivered by hand (with written confirmation of receipt); (b) when
received by the addressee if sent by a nationally recognized overnight courier (receipt requested); or (c) on the fifth (5th ) Business Day
after the date mailed, by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, first class postage prepaid. The address for such
notices and communications shall be addressed to the attention of the receiving Party at the address set forth on its signature page
hereto.
(c) Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and
their respective heirs, executors, administrators, successors, legal representatives and permitted assigns. Except as provided in this
Section 7(c), this Agreement, and any rights or obligations hereunder, may not be assigned without the prior written consent of the
Company and the Purchaser, and any purported assignment in violation of this Section 7(c) shall be null and void. Notwithstanding
anything in the foregoing to the contrary, the rights of the Holder pursuant to this Agreement with respect to all or any portion of its
Registrable Securities may be assigned without such consent with respect to such Registrable Securities (and any Registrable
Securities issued as a dividend or other distribution with respect to, in exchange for or in replacement of such Registrable Securities)
by such Holder to a transferee of such Registrable Securities; provided the Company is, within a reasonable time after such transfer,
furnished with written notice of the name and address of such transferee or assignee and the Registrable Securities with respect to
which such registration rights are being assigned. The Company may not assign its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior
written consent of the Purchaser.
(d) No Third Party Beneficiaries. Except as expressly set forth in Section 4, nothing in this Agreement, whether express
or implied, shall be construed to give any Person, other than the Parties hereto or their respective successors and permitted assigns,
any legal or equitable right, remedy, claim or benefit under or in respect of this Agreement.
(e) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed and delivered (including by facsimile transmission or portable
document format (“.pdf”)) in one or more counterparts, and by the different parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which
when executed shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement.
(f) Governing Law; Consent to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed
and enforced in accordance with, the internal laws of the State of New York without giving effect to rules or principles of conflicts of
law that would require the application of the laws of any other jurisdiction. Each of the Parties irrevocably submits to the exclusive
jurisdiction of the courts of the State of New York located in in the City and County of New York and the Federal Courts of the United
States sitting in the State, County and City of New York for the purpose of any Legal Proceeding or judgment relating to or arising out
of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby. Service of process in connection with any Legal Proceeding may be
served on each Party anywhere in the world by the same methods as are specified for the giving of notices under this Agreement.
Each of the Parties irrevocably waives any objection to the laying of venue of any Legal Proceeding brought in such courts and
irrevocably waives any claim, objection or defense that any Legal Proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an
inconvenient forum.
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(g)

Cumulative Remedies. The remedies provided herein are cumulative and not exclusive of any remedies provided

by law.
(h)
Severability. If any term, provision, covenant or restriction of this Agreement is held by a court of competent
jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal, void or unenforceable, the remainder of the terms, provisions, covenants and restrictions set forth
herein shall remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated, and the Parties shall use their
reasonable efforts to find and employ an alternative means to achieve the same or substantially the same result as that contemplated
by such term, provision, covenant or restriction.
(i)
matter hereof.

Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement among the Parties with respect to the subject

(j) Termination. Except for Section 4, this Agreement shall terminate as to the Holder, when all Registrable Securities
held by such Holder no longer constitute Registrable Securities.
(k) Recapitalizations, Exchanges, Etc. The provisions of this Agreement shall apply, to the full extent set forth herein
with respect to the Registrable Securities, to any and all securities (including shares of capital stock) of the Company or any successor
or assign of the Company (whether by merger, consolidation, sale of assets or otherwise) which may be issued in respect of, in
exchange for or in substitution of, the Registrable Securities and shall be appropriately adjusted for any stock dividends, splits,
reverse stock splits, combinations, recapitalizations, exchanges and the like occurring after the date hereof
(l) Injunctive Relief. It is hereby agreed and acknowledged that it will be impossible to measure in money the damages
that would be suffered if the Parties fail to comply with any of the obligations imposed on them by this Agreement and that in the
event of any such failure, a non-breaching party hereto will be irreparably damaged and will not have an adequate remedy at law. Any
such Person shall, therefore, be entitled to injunctive relief, including specific performance, to enforce such obligations, and if any
action should be brought in equity to enforce any of the provisions of this Agreement, none of the Parties shall raise the defense that
there is an adequate remedy at law and any requirement to post bond or other security in connection with actions instituted for
injunctive relief, specific performance or other equitable remedies. The Parties hereby waive, and shall cause their respective
representatives to waive, any requirement for the securing or posting of any bond in connection with any action brought for injunctive
relief hereunder.
(m) Aggregation of Registrable Securities. All Registrable Securities held or acquired by Persons who are Affiliates of
one another shall be aggregated together for the purpose of determining the availability of any rights under this Agreement.
(n) Other Registration Rights. As of the date hereof, except for the July Registration Rights Agreement, the Company
represents and warrants that it is not a party to, or otherwise subject to, any other agreement granting registration rights to any other
Person with respect to any securities of the Company, including securities convertible, exercisable or exchangeable into or for shares
of any equity securities of the Company. The Company shall not grant any registration rights to third parties that are more favorable
than or inconsistent with the rights granted hereunder or enter into any agreement, take any actions or permit any change to occur,
with respect to its securities that violates or subordinates the rights expressly granted to the Holders of Registrable Securities in this
Agreement.
[THIS SPACE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.

COMPANY:
EMERGENT CAPITAL, INC.

By:

/s/ Antony Mitchell

Name:

Antony Mitchell
Chief Executive Officer

Title:
Address:

5355 Town Center Road, Suite 701
Boca Raton, Florida 33486

Signature Page to Registration Rights Agreement

PURCHASER:
BRENNAN OPPORTUNITIES FUND I LP

By:
Name:

/s/ Patrick T. Brennan

Title:
Address:

GP
1 Sea Breeze Ct Napa, CA 94559

Patrick T. Brennan

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Antony Mitchell, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Emergent Capital, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiary companies, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.
/s/ Antony Mitchell
Antony Mitchell
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)
August 14, 2017

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Miriam Martinez, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Emergent Capital, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiary companies, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

/s/ Miriam Martinez
Miriam Martinez
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
August 14, 2017

Exhibit 32.1
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Emergent Capital, Inc. (the Registrant) on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2017 as filed with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the Report), I, Antony Mitchell, Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant, certify to the best of my
knowledge, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.
/s/ Antony Mitchell
Antony Mitchell
Chief Executive Officer and Director
August 14, 2017

Exhibit 32.2
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Emergent Capital, Inc. (the Registrant) on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2017 as filed with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the Report), I, Miriam Martinez, Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant, certify to the best of my
knowledge, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.
/s/ Miriam Martinez
Miriam Martinez
Chief Financial Officer
August 14, 2017

